University of Lethbridge Research Repository

0	D	
J	– 1	

Theses

http://opus.uleth.ca

provided by OPUS: Open Uleth Scholarship - University of Lethbridge Rese

Arts and Science, Faculty of

2010

The role of epigenetics in the rat mammary gland

Kutanzi, Kristy

Lethbridge, Alta. : University of Lethbridge, Dept. of Biological Sciences, c2010

http://hdl.handle.net/10133/2492 Downloaded from University of Lethbridge Research Repository, OPUS

THE ROLE OF EPIGENETICS IN THE RAT MAMMARY GLAND

KRISTY KUTANZI

B.Sc, University of Lethbridge, 2007

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

of the University of Lethbridge

in Partial Fulfilment of the

Requirements for the Degree

Ph.D, Biomolecular Sciences

Department of Biological Sciences

University of Lethbridge

LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Kristy Kutanzi, 2010

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my family: my loving husband, Igor Koturbash; my eversupportive parents, Wendy and Joseph Kutanzi; and my siblings, Heather, Cheryl, and Curtis Kutanzi.

ABSTRACT

Epigenetics plays an important role in carcinogenesis with heritable changes in DNA methylation and histone modifications intricately linked to the initiation, promotion, and progression of cancer. Evidence shows that a number of chemical and physical agents can induce epigenetic changes during carcinogenesis. Two such agents, estrogen and ionizing radiation, are generally recognized as being carcinogenic. Yet the epigenetic repercussions of these carcinogens remain relatively unknown. More importantly, the combined effect of these carcinogens has never been addressed *in vivo* from an epigenetic standpoint. Therefore, we focused on the effect of estrogen and ionizing radiation applied separately or in conjunction. We have found that the exposure to estrogen, either alone or in combination with radiation, induced pronounced morphological alterations, which was paralleled by modifications to the epigenomic landscape in the mammary gland. The results obtained from these rodent models can potentially be extrapolated to humans.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first and foremost thank my supervisor, Dr. Olga Kovalchuk, for the opportunity to work in such an exciting field of research in her laboratory. I appreciate all of the time and support she has provided me with throughout my degree. I would also like to extend a thank you to my supervisory committee Dr. Hans-Joachim Wieden, Dr. Theresa Burg, and Dr. Bryan Kolb for their constructive criticism. And to my external examiner, Dr. Ivan Rusyn, for the time and travel commitment to visit the University of Lethbridge for my defence. Also, thank you to our collaborator, Dr. Igor Pogribny from the National Center for Toxicological Research (NCTR) for his support, ideas, and time. Many thanks to my colleagues: Rocio Rodriguez, Matt Merrifield, James Meservy, Yaroslav Ilnytskyy, Lidia Luzhna, Jonathan Loree, and Laura Robertson for their technical assistance and advice. I would also like to acknowledge the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Council (NSERC), the Alberta Cancer Board (ACB) Southwest Prairies Chapter, the Chinook Institute of Health Research (CIHR), the University of Lethbridge, the province of Alberta, and Canada for their financial support. Finally, my special thanks to those who have made the journey more pleasurable, my friends Dave Dean, Alex Zagoumenov, Uliana Udodich, and Dima and Angela Kogosov.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	. iii
ABSTRACT	. iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	. vi
LIST OF TABLES	. ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. RISK FACTORS FOR BREAST CANCER	1
1.1.1. Role of Genetic Changes in Breast Cancer	4
1.1.2. Role of Epigenetics in Breast Cancer	7
1.1.2.1. DNA Methylation	10
1.1.2.2. Histone Modifications	14
1.1.2.2.1. HISTONE METHYLATION	15
1.1.2.2.2. HISTONE ACETYLATION	16
1.1.2.2.3. HISTONE PHOSPHORYLATION	18
1.1.2.3. Clinical Application of Epigenetics	18
1.1.3. Estrogen	21
1.1.3.1. Estrogen Linked to Cancer	22
1.1.3.2. Estrogen and Treatment Modalities	31
1.1.4. Radiation	32
1.1.4.1. Radiation Linked to Cancer	32
1.1.4.2. Radiation and Treatment Modalities	37
1.1.5. Exposure to Multiple Carcinogenic Agents	38
1.1.5.1. Interactions Between Carcinogens	40
1.6. USE OF RODENT MODELS IN STUDIES OF CARCINOGENESIS	43
1.6.1. Genetic Determinants of Mammary Cancer Susceptibility in Rat Models	45
1.6.2. Epigenetic Determinants of Mammary Cancer Susceptibility in Rat Models	46
1.6.3. The ACI Rat as a Model of Human Breast Cancer	47
1.6.3.1. Inducing Mammary Cancer in the Female ACI Rat	48
1.7. PRELIMINARY EVIDENCE OF EPIGENETIC DYSREGULATION IN THE	
RAT MAMMARY GLAND	51
1.7.1. Estrogen-induced Rat Breast Carcinogenesis is Characterized by Alterations	3
in DNA Methylation, Histone Modifications and Aberrant MicroRNA Expression	
	51
1.7.2. Radiation-induced Molecular Changes in Rat Mammary Tissue: Possible	
Implications for Radiation-induced Carcinogenesis	54
1.8. SUMMARY	57
1.9. HYPOTHESES	58
2. REVERSIBILITY OF PRE-MALIGNANT ESTROGEN-INDUCED	
EPIGENETIC CHANGES	60
2.1. ABSTRACT	61
2.2. INTRODUCTION	63
2.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	67

2.3.1. Early Effects of Estrogen Exposure	67
2.3.1.1. Animal Treatment	67
2.3.2. Persistence of Estrogen-induced Changes	68
2.3.2.1. Animal Treatment	68
2.3.3. Histopathological Evaluation	68
2.3.4. Global DNA Methylation Analysis	68
2.3.5. Western Blot Analysis of Protein Expression	69
2.3.6. Immunohistochemical Analysis	70
2.3.7. Statistical Analysis	71
2.4. RESULTS	72
2.4.1. Influence of Short-term Exposure on Mammary Gland Histopathology	72
2.4.2. Effects of Elevated Levels of Estrogen on DNA Methylation	72
2.4.3. Effects of Elevated Levels of Estrogen on Histone H4 Lysine 12 Acetyla	ation
	/4
2.5. DISCUSSION	/ 3
2.0. FIGURED AND TABLED	ðu
5. IMPAIRED P55-DEPENDENT APOPTOSIS AND CELL PROLIFERATION DURING FARLY STAGES OF MAMMARY GLAND CARCINOGENESIS I	JN N
ACI RATS	
3.1. ABSTRACT	
3.2. INTRODUCTION	90
3.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	93
3.3.1. Animals, Treatment and Tissue Preparation	93
3.3.2. Immunohistochemistry	94
3.3.2.1. Cell Proliferation	94
3.3.2.2. Apoptosis	95
3.3.2.3. p53 and Mdm2 Expression	95
3.3.3. Western Blot Analysis	96
3.3.4. Statistical Analysis	96
3.4. RESULTS	97
3.4.1. Effect of 17β -estradiol (E ₂), X-ray Radiation (IR), or E ₂ Plus IR Exposu	re on
Cell Proliferation in the Mammary Glands of ACI Rats	97
3.4.2. Effect of E_2 , IR, or E_2 Plus IR Exposure on Apoptotic Cell Death in the	
Mammary Glands of ACI Rats	98
3.4.3. Expression of p53, Mdm2, and c-Myc Proteins in the Mammary Glands	of
ACI Rats Exposed to E ₂ , IR, or E ₂ and IR	98
3.5. DISCUSSION	100
3.6. FIGURES AND TABLES	103
4. EXPOSURE TO ESTROGEN AND IONIZING RADIATION CAUSES	
EPIGENETIC DYSREGULATION AND ACTIVATION OF MITOGEN-	
ACTIVATED PROTEIN KINASE PATHWAYS IN THE MAMMARY GLAN	IDS
OF ACI RATS	109
4.1. ABSTRACT	110
4.2. INTRODUCTION	112
4.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	115
4.3.1. Animals, Treatment, and Tissue Preparations	115

	4.2.2. Historythelegy	114
	4.5.2. Histopathology	110
	4.5.5. Global DNA Methylation Analysis	110
	4.3.4. Western Blot Analysis of Protein Expression	11/
	4.3.5. Immunonistochemical Analysis	11/
	4.3.6. Statistical Analysis	118
	4.4 KESULIS	119
	4.4.1. Estrogen- and Radiation-induced Morphological Changes in Rat Mamma	iry
		119
	4.4.2. Level of Global DNA Methylation in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed I	
	Mammary Glands	119
	4.4.3. Expression of DNA Methyltransferases in Estrogen- and Radiation-Expo	sed
	Kat Mammary Glands	120
	4.4.4. Expression of DNA Repair Proteins in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed	Rat
	Mammary Glands	121
	4.4.5. Phosphorylation of Historie H3 Serine 10 in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exp	josed
	Kat Mammary Glands	122
	4.4.6. Alterations in the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathways in Estroge	n-
	and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands	124
	4.5. DISCUSSION	125
_	4.0. FIGURES	129
э.	FINAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	130
	5.1. EPIGENETIC CHANGES IN THE KAT MAMMAKY GLAND	138
	5.1.1. Limitations and Future Considerations	140
	5.2. SIGNIFICANCE AND KELEVANCE TO HUMAN HEALTH	143
	5.3. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	144
	5.3.1. Modeling Epigenetics	144
	5.3.2. Identifying High Kisk Individuals	145
	5.3.3. Epigenetic Profiling of Cancer	14/
	5.3.4. Exposure to Multiple Carcinogens	149
	5.5.5. Epigenetic Drugs	150
,	5.4. CUNCLUSIUN	153
0.	KEFEKENUED	154

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. The progression of morphological changes in the mammary gland of female	•
ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen	80

Table 2.2. Progressive morphological changes in the mammary gland after continuousexposure to estrogen (E_2) treatment, followed by the regression of these changes afterremoval of the estrogen pellet84

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. The progression of morphological changes in the mammary gland of female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen
Figure 2.2. Effect of constitutively elevated levels of estrogen on DNA methylation machinery 82
Figure 2.3. Immunohistochemical analysis of acetylated histone levels induced in response to elevated levels of estrogen
Figure 2.4. Morphological changes in the mammary gland of female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen
Figure 2.5. Effect of constitutively elevated levels of estrogen on DNA methylation machinery
Figure 2.6. Immunohistochemical analysis of acetylated histone levels induced in response to elevated levels of estrogen
Figure 3.1. Cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR
Figure 3.2. Apoptotic cell death in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR
Figure 3.3. Ratio Ki-67/apoptosis in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR
Figure 3.4. Effect of E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR exposure on the number of p53- and Mdm2- positive cells in the mammary glands of ACI rats
Figure 3.5. Western blot analysis of c-myc in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR
Figure 4.1. The progression of morphological changes in the mammary gland of female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen
Figure 4.3. Dysregulation of DNA methylation machinery in the mammary gland of estrogen-exposed, radiation-exposed, and combined estrogen- plus radiation-exposed ACI rats
Figure 4.4. Levels of DNA repair proteins in the mammary gland of female ACI rats exposed to estrogen, radiation, and estrogen plus radiation

Figure 4.6. Immunohistochemical staining for phosphorylated H3S10 (pH3S10) in the	
mammary gland of estrogen-exposed, radiation-exposed, and combined estrogen- plus	
radiation-exposed ACI rats 1	34
mammary gland of estrogen-exposed, radiation-exposed, and combined estrogen- plus radiation-exposed ACI rats	34

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

^{[3}H]-dCTP – tritiated cytidine triphosphate α – alpha β – beta 4+8 – group receiving E₂ for 4 weeks, followed by 8 weeks without 8-oxo-dG – 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'deoxyguanosine ACB - Alberta Cancer Board ACI – August Copenhagen Irish AHFMR - Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research APE1 – apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease 1 BER - base excision repair CA – California COMT - catechol-O-methyltransferase CpG - cytosine-phosphate-guanine CT – control DCIS – ductal carcinoma in situ DNA - deoxyribonucleic acid DNMT - DNA methyltransferase DPM – disintegrations per minute DSB – double stranded DNA break dUTP – 2'-deoxyuridine 5'-triphosphate E_2 – estrogen; 17 β -estradiol ECL - enhanced chemiluminescence EMCA - estrogen-induced mammary cancer allele ER – estrogen receptor ERE – estrogen response element ERK - extracellular signal-regulated kinase EZH2 – enhancer of zeste homologue 2 GST – glutathione S-transferase Gy-gray h – homologue H&E - hematoxylin and eosin H3 – histone 3 H4 – histone 4 HAT - histone acetyltransferase HDAC – histone deacetylase HpaII – restriction enzyme HR - homologous recombination HRP - horseradish peroxidase i – inhibitor IHC – immunohistochemistry IN – Indiana IR – ionizing radiation JNK – c-jun N-terminal kinase K – lysine kV-kilovolt

LET – linear energy transfer LINE – long interspersed nuclear element MA – Massachusetts mA – miliamper MAPK – mitogen-activated protein kinase MBD – methyl-CpG binding domain MCS – mammary cancer susceptibility alleles MD – Maryland Mdm2 – mouse double minute 2 Me3 – trimethylation µl – microliter MO-Missouri MeCP – methyl-CpG binding proteins miRNA – microRNA NHEJ - Non-homologous end joining NIEHS - National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences NSERC - Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada ON - Ontario p – phosphorylated p42-44 – extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 PA - Pennsylvania PBS – phosphate buffered saline PCNA – proliferating cell nuclear antigen PCR – polymerase chain reaction PFA – paraformaldehyde PI3K - phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase Pol. β – DNA polymerase β PRMT1 - protein arginine N-methyltransferase PVDF – polyvinylidene fluoride RNA - ribonucleic acid ROS – reactive oxygen species S – serine SAM - S-adenosyl-methionine SAPK - stress-activated protein kinase SDS – sodium dodecyl sulfate SEM - standard error of the mean SERM - selective estrogen receptor modulator Src - sarcoma SSB – single stranded DNA break ST – sulfotransferase Suv – suppressor of variegation SWI/SNF – switch/sucrose non-fermentable remodeling complex TdT - Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase TEB - terminal end bud TMA – tissue microarray TUNEL - terminal uridine deoxynucleotidyl transferase TX – Texas

UHRF1 – ubiquitin-like, containing PHD and RING finger domains 1 UK – United Kingdom USA – United States of America VA – Virginia WI – Wisconsin X-ray – Rontgen ray

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. RISK FACTORS FOR BREAST CANCER

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed malignancy in women and the leading cause of death among women between the ages of 35 to 55 years (Schairer et al., 2004). Currently, over one million cases occur worldwide each year, with a predicted 50% increase in cancer rates by the year 2020 (World Health Organization, 2003). Although breast cancer mortality rates have started to decline in developed countries, due to improvements in early detection and treatment (World Health Organization, 2003), there remain serious gaps in understanding the underlying epidemiological factors. It is estimated that only 5% of new breast cancer cases are attributed to susceptibility genes (Ronckers et al., 2005), while the etiology for the remaining 95% of cases are rather obscure.

Breast cancer arises through a multi-step process that involves the de-regulation of growth regulatory pathways, resulting in uncontrolled proliferation and impaired apoptosis (Simpson, 2005; Feinberg, 2004). Carcinogenesis begins with a single cell which obtains a mutation in a critical gene (Simpson, 2005; Feinberg, 2004). When this happens the cell is said to be "initiated" – an event which is largely considered to be irreversible (Lo and Sukumar, 2008; Russo and Russo, 2006). Clonal expansion of the initiated cell is stimulated by promoting agents, including growth factors and hormones, and can be observed as focal proliferation (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Asch and Barcellos-Hoff, 2001). This is referred to as the promotional stage of carcinogenesis. Importantly, the clonal expansion of initiated cells observed at this stage was found to be, to some extent, reversible upon removal of the stimulating agent (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Farber, 1984; Tatematsu et al., 1983). These cells tend to exhibit genome instability and acquire further mutations over time that permit the malignant transformation to carcinoma cells (Lo and Sukumar, 2008; Chen et al., 2007; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Unregulated growth of cancerous cells is regarded as the progression of cancer. These malignant cells may possess the capacity to invade surrounding tissue and metastasize to other parts of the body (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). It is important to note that there may be considerable time – several years or even decades – between the initiation of a single cell and the detection of cancer (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Ronckers et al., 2005).

It has been suggested that initiating events must occur relatively early in life because exposure to genotoxic agents later in life has been shown to not significantly increase subsequent breast cancer risk (Willett et al., 2000). This is supported by numerous studies that show the most susceptible targets in the mammary gland for transformation is the hormonally-responsive subpopulations of epithelial cells within the undifferentiated terminal end buds (TEBs) (Hilakivi-Clarke, 2007; Warri et al., 2007; Russo et al., 2005; Russo et al., 1982). These terminal end buds are highly proliferative by nature and have a reduced capacity to repair DNA damage (Russo and Russo, 1982). This damage may then be passed on as TEBs proliferate and differentiate into ductules and alveolar buds during mammary gland development (Russo and Russo, 1996A; Russo and Russo, 1982), giving rise to ductal and lobular carcinomas.

A number of intrinsic and extrinsic factors have been identified to play a causative role in breast carcinogenesis (Park et al., 2000; Ishibe et al., 1998; Helzlsouer et al., 1995). Different physical and chemical carcinogens acting at various stages of breast

cancer development affect a wide spectrum of cellular processes, including proliferation, apoptosis, DNA repair, and cell signaling (Kovalchuk et al., 2007; Loree et al., 2006; Shan et al., 2005; Fritz et al., 2003). The exposed cells are often subject to increased levels of DNA damage that, if left unrepaired, give rise to permanent mutations (Hasty, 2005). The accumulation of mutations over time contributes to genome instability and the formation of tumor cells (Simpson et al, 2005; Feinberg, 2004). Interestingly, growing evidence indicates many of these changes already occur in histologically normal breast epithelial cells from healthy women, which renders them more susceptible to malignant transformation (Ding et al., 2006; Crawford, et al., 2004; Li et al., 2004A).

Clearly, the importance of identifying breast cancer risk factors is many fold. Firstly, the assessment of susceptibility genotypes could be used to identify women at higher risk for breast cancer, which can be used to implement diagnostic and early treatment strategies. Secondly, studies of identical twins have demonstrated the importance of lifestyle factors, of which only 20% concordance was observed for breast cancer (Hamilton and Mack, 2003; Lichtenstein et al., 2000). This suggests that cancer is, at least in part, a preventable disease that may require lifestyle changes, including healthier food choices and physical activity (Anand et al., 2008). Several lines of evidence also suggest that lifestyle and other environmental agents modulate changes in the epigenome, thereby influencing gene expression patterns without altering the underlying DNA sequence (Anand et al., 2008; Pogribny et al., 2008; Nardone and Compare, 2008; Pogribny et al., 2007). The identification of epigenetic markers which regulate gene expression may be a promising field of research to identify new targets for therapy. Furthermore, genetic and epigenetic profiling has been used to identify cancer

and their subtypes, providing an important diagnostic tool that can be used to tailor treatment and predict response (Figueroa et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2007; Nigro et al., 2005; van Delft et al., 2005; Bucca et al., 2004; Downing, 2003; Yeoh et al., 2002). Future studies are needed to address the complex interplay between genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors.

1.1.1. Role of Genetic Changes in Breast Cancer

An individual's genome, which influences phenotypic outcomes, is determined by the maternal and paternal contributions during fertilization. Inheriting a mutation in a single gene, for example, can increase the probability of developing diseases (Klein and Schlossmacher, 2006; Schilsky and Fink, 2006; Peto and Houlston, 2001; Russo et al., 2000; Gatti, 1993). Genetic testing is an important tool for identifying individuals who are genetically predisposed to certain health problems, providing an opportunity to intervene with preventative treatments and for early detection.

In the past, identification of genetic factors linked to increased risk largely came from familial studies in which specific diseases were found to occur at high frequencies (Lichtenstein et al., 2000; Peto and Mack, 2000). For example, the observation that some families exhibit high frequencies of breast cancer has led to the identification of two major breast cancer genes, BRCA1 and BRCA2 (Tavtigian et al., 1996; Wooster et al., 1995; Futreal et al., 1994; Miki et al., 1994). It was found that mutations in the germline gave rise to these high penetrance mutant alleles, in which 60-85% of carriers develop the disease over their lifetime (van der Kolk et al, 2010; Brose et al., 2002; Easton et al., 1995). This represents a major predisposing genetic risk factor in 10-25% of familial breast cancer cases (Bradbury and Olopade, 2007; King et al., 2003). Similarly, a number of low-penetrance susceptibility genes have also been identified, including FGFR2, TOX3, MAP3K1 which control cell proliferation and are associated with chromatin structure, however they account for only a small portion of familial breast cancer genes (Paglia et al., 2010; Easton et al., 2007; Tchatchou et al., 2007; Dumitrescu et al., 2005; Iau et al., 2001).

Studies of mutations in rare syndromes have also been associated with a wide variety of cancers, including increased risk of breast cancer in female carriers, suggesting a common theme of instability (Birch et al., 2001; Nichols et al., 2001). For example, in the Li-Fraumeni syndrome, mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene impairs the cell's ability to respond to stress signals, including radiation and some DNA-damaging drugs (Malkin et al., 1993). As the guardian of the genome, p53 functions in a number of anticancer mechanisms, including the activation of DNA repair proteins, cell cycle arrest, and induction of programmed cell death (Efeyan and Serrano, 2007; Chumakov, 2000). All of these processes are impaired by mutations in p53 (Nichols et al., 2001; Greenblatt et al., 1999; Selvanayagam et al., 1995). Interestingly, a variant of Li-Fraumeni syndrome was attributed to mutations in CHEK2, a kinase which activates p53 activity (Lee et al., 2001). Similarly, particular alterations in the ATM gene are associated with compromised p53 function and increased in vitro chromosomal sensitivity to radiation (Broeks et al., 2007; Gutierrez-Enriquez et al., 2004; Broeks et al., 2000). Since then, numerous associations have been reported between breast cancer and genes involved in pathways critical for genomic stability (Paglia et al., 2010; Walsh and King, 2007; Tchatchou et al., 2007).

One pivotal biological process implicated in maintaining genomic integrity is DNA repair. The number of spontaneous errors arising due to intrinsic causes alone, including the misincorporation of nucleotides by DNA polymerase during replication and in response to damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS), can result in up to 1.9 x 10⁵ DNA modification events per cell per day (Shapiro, 1981). Moreover, the majority of etiological factors implicated in breast cancer, such as ionizing radiation (IR), estrogen, and diet, are capable of generating reactive oxygen radicals, which may cause the formation of oxidized DNA bases, bulky DNA adducts and DNA strand breaks (Loree et al., 2007; Mobely and Brueggemeier, 2004; Kang, 2002; Chen et al., 1998; Oakley et al., 1996). If the rate of DNA damage exceeds the capacity of the cell to repair it, damage sentinels, such as p53, may initiate events leading to cell cycle arrest, early senescence and apoptosis (Chen et al., 2007; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). If these sentinels are inactivated and the damaged cells are allowed to divide, these mutations become permanent (Chen et al., 2007; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). If the mutation occurs within a critical gene responsible for maintaining genome integrity, a snowball effect is observed, with subsequent generations acquiring additional mutations leading to the development of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Therefore, it would appear that women who carry defective DNA repair genes are at higher risk for developing breast cancer (Andrieu et al., 2006; Bell et al., 1999; Fan et al., 1999; Roberts, 1999; Shen et al, 1998). Although the majority of DNA repair genes have low-penetrance (Smith et al., 2008; Chang-Claude et al., 2005), their resulting phenotypes follow a common theme of genome instability and may serve as markers of breast cancer susceptibility.

The clinical benefit of the identification of such susceptibility genes is in assessing the risk of developing breast cancer in carriers. Ultimately, it is hoped that knowledge of an individual's genetic profile in relation to these genes may be used in targeted preventative and treatment modalities for maximal efficacy. Understanding the effects of these genetic factors is crucial in choosing an appropriate form of treatment. For example, studies have shown that germline mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2, ATM or CHEK2 may double the risk of radiation-induced secondary malignancies in the contralateral breast following radiotherapy to treat the first breast cancer (Broeks et al., 2007). In the future, clinical approaches should take into consideration the underlying genetic factors, tailoring treatment modalities to a patient's genetic background to improve long-term health.

1.1.2. Role of Epigenetics in Breast Cancer

Classic genetics alone cannot account for the differences in disease susceptibility. Indeed, a number of studies have found discordance in the incidence of neurological and neoplastic diseases between monozygotic twins, despite their identical DNA sequences, that raise questions regarding the importance of the epigenome and the influence of environmental factors in the development of diseases, including cancer (Ballestar, 2009; Haque et al., 2009; Singh and O'Reilly, 2009; Wilson, 2008; Poulsen, 2007; Fraga et al., 2005A).

The term "epigenetics" is used to describe the study of meiotically and mitotically stable regulation of gene expression patterns that is not encoded in the DNA sequence itself. The epigenome, which encompasses the overall epigenetic state of a cell, is

primarily comprised of two interconnected markers by which mammalian cells modify the expression of their genomes without altering the DNA sequence – DNA methylation and covalent histone modifications (Fraga et al., 2005B; Jaenisch and Bird, 2003; Ehrlich, 2002; Robertson et al., 2002). More importantly, unlike DNA, epigenetic changes are reversible, allowing genes to be turned "on" or "off" as need be (Reik, 2007; Jaenisch and Bird, 2003).

The epigenetic state of the genome is largely established early during development (Reik, 2007). Epigenetic changes are responsive to a number of endogenous and environmental cues, that regulate differentiation of cells – transforming a single fertilized egg into an organism with very distinct cell types, such as neurons, muscle and epithelial cells, blood vessels, and so on - each exhibiting very different gene expression patterns (Reik, 2007). Transcription of these genes are regulated by methylation and histone patterns in the developing embryo giving rise to functionally and morphologically very diverse cells and tissues (Reik, 2007).

Over the years, the role of epigenetics in the etiology of diseases, including breast cancer, has become increasingly recognized (Feinberg and Tycko; 2004, Feinberg, 2004; Jones and Baylin, 2002; Widschwendter and Jones, 2002; Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983). The identification of DNA hypomethylation in diseased tissue compared to adjacent, histologically normal tissue in cancer patients was one of the first epigenetic markers linked to human disease (Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983A). Since then, a number of other epigenetic alterations have been found to mediate inappropriate gene expression linked to increased genome instability (Salisbury, 2001). Furthermore, errors in establishing "normal" epigenomic patterns during preneonatal development have been correlated with increased cancer predisposition (Sparago et al., 2007; DeBaun et al., 2002; Debaun and Tucker, 1998).

Inappropriate silencing of critical regulatory genes, such as the p16, MGMT and hMLH1 tumor suppressors, has been shown to lead to cancer (Starland-Davenport et al., 2010; Esteller, 2005; Brown and Strathdee, 2002; Esteller and Herman, 2002; Harris, 1996). In adopting Knudson's two-hit hypothesis (Knudson, 1996; Knudson, 1971) in the field of epigenetics, the concept that tumor suppressor genes must be inactivated on both alleles can be interpreted not only in the sense of genetic mutations, but also due to epigenetic modifications. For example, DNA hypermethylation of both alleles, or in combination with genetic mutations, was shown to effectively prevent genes from being expressed, thereby providing certain pro-survival and growth advantages during carcinogenesis (Esteller et al., 2001; Grady et al., 2000). Silencing of genes, such as those involved in DNA repair and cell cycle regulation, appears to escalate during the progression towards malignancy (Schultz et al., 2009). Furthermore, the silencing of genes regulating cell adhesion and motility enables tumor cells to break away from the primary tumor and metastasize (Schultz et al., 2009). Interestingly, however, the loss of such gene products is not always advantageous, and may in fact interfere with the tumor's ability to survive in a new location (Domann and Futscher, 2004). Exploiting the reversible nature of the epigenome can provide a selective advantage to tumor cells, allowing re-expression of genes previously silenced by epigenetic mechanisms (Domann and Futscher, 2004). For example, following colonization of cancer cells at distant sites, the malignant tumor may reactivate genes whose products suppress motility and invasion

to create an environment to sustain the growth of a secondary tumor (Welch, 2006; Yates et al., 2005; Domann and Futscher, 2004; Jawhari et al., 1999).

Importantly, epigenetic alterations can also be observed prior to tumor development (Pogribny and Beland, 2009; Pogribny et al., 2008; Kovalchuk et al., 2007). According to the epigenetic hypothesis of cancer initiation, it is the interaction between genetic and epigenetic components that determine the effect of initial genetic insults (Feinberg and Tycko, 2004). It is believed that these alterations can predispose cells to genomic instability in which the initiated cells acquire a growing number of genetic changes during carcinogenesis (Baylin and Ohm, 2006; Gould et al., 1996). It is also now generally accepted that epigenetic instability is a hallmark of cells progressing towards malignancy (Jaenisch and Bird, 2003; Jones and Baylin, 2002).

1.1.2.1. DNA Methylation

Cytosine DNA methylation was the first epigenetic mark to be identified, and is one of the best studied epigenetic mechanisms for regulating expression of the genome (Feinberg and Tycko 2004; Jones and Baylin 2002; Jones and Laird 1999; Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983A). DNA methylation regulates important cellular processes, such as differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis during normal development (Baylin and Ohm, 2006; Jaenisch and Bird, 2003; Feil et al., 1994; Holliday and Pugh, 1975), giving rise to cell- and tissue-specific gene expression patterns (Illingworth et al., 2008; Domann and Fuscher, 2004; Raiche et al., 2004; Futscher et al., 2002). DNA methylation has also been implicated in regulating X chomosome inactivation, genomic imprinting, and silencing of foreign DNA, acting as a repressor of gene expression to maintain genome stability (Raiche et al., 2004; Bird, 1993; Li et al., 1993; Singer-Sam and Riggs, 1993; Zhang et al., 1993).

Cytosine DNA methylation is a chemical modification that results from the transfer of a methyl group from the cofactor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to the 5 carbon position of cytosine residues by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) (Chen and Li, 2006; Chiang et al., 1996). In mammalian cells, DNA methylation patterns are primarily established by DNMT3a and DNMT3b during embryogenesis, with DNMT1 largely being responsible for ensuring that these set patterns are faithfully maintained (Chen and Li, 2006; Goll and Bestor, 2005; Robertson, 2002; Okano et al., 1999; Turker and Bestor, 1997). The presence of methyl groups on cytosine residues can recruit proteins, known as methyl-CpG-binding proteins (MBDs), to the genomic region in which it is localized to assist in transcriptional repression (Kimura and Shiota, 2003; Jones et al., 1998; Nan et al., 1998). In this way, with the help of such proteins as the methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2), DNMT1 is able to bind to hemimethylated DNA immediately after replication, adding methyl groups to unmethylated cytosine residues on the nascent strand opposite to the template (Jones et al. 1998; Nan et al. 1998). However, since many genes should only be expressed during certain developmental stages or in response to changes in the cellular environment, unnecessary genes can be inactivated by the addition of methyl groups to previously unmethylated CpG sites by the *de novo* methyltransferases, DNMT3a and DNMT3b (Okano et al., 1998; Robertson et al., 1999).

Typically methylation occurs at CpG islands, which are regions of the genome possessing greater than 60% CG content (Takai and Jones, 2002; Gardiner-Garden and Frommer, 1987). These regions occur most frequently within promoter regions of genes,

and provide an opportunity to regulate transcriptional activity by methylation (Bird, 2002; Takai and Jones, 2002; Gardiner-Garden and Frommer, 1987). About 60% of human genes are transcribed from CpG-rich promoter sequences, with the majority of genes being unmethylated (Clouaire et al., 2010; Weber et al., 2007; Bird, 1993). The presence of methyl groups on DNA may physically impede the binding of transcriptional activation factors and RNA polymerase, thereby effectively preventing gene expression (Weber et al., 2007; Weber and Schuebeler, 2007; Schuebeler et al., 2000). Methylated DNA may also indirectly hinder transcription when bound by MBDs, which recruit chromatin remodelling complexes to modify the packaging of the DNA, resulting in a more compact and inaccessible chromatin structure termed heterochromatin (Fuks et al., 2003; Schuebeler et al., 2000; Jones et al., 1998; Nan et al., 1998). This link between DNA methylation and chromatin structure is very important for the regulation of gene expression.

Abnormal DNA methylation patterns have been associated with a number of developmental defects and human diseases, including cancer (Jaenisch and Bird, 2003; Ehrlich, 2002; Robertson, 2002; Baylin et al., 2001). Indeed, global hypomethylation, as well as regional hyper and hypo-methylation of specific genes has been shown to be very important in breast cancer etiology and pathogenesis (Ronckers et al. 2005; Szyf et al., 2004; Yang et al. 2001; Bernardino et al., 1997).

The loss of genomic DNA methylation was the first epigenetic abnormality detected in cancer cells, and is linked with the activation of oncogenes and transposable elements, leading to increased genome instability, including chromosome breakage and aneuploidy (Pogribny et al., 2007; Weber and Schuebeler, 2007; Kovalchuk et al., 2004; Pogribny et al., 2004; Raiche et al., 2004; Robertson and Wolffe, 2000; Feinberg and

Vogelstein, 1983B; Gama-Sosa et al., 1983). The overall loss of DNA methylation has been attributed to a number of factors, including decreased DNA methyltransferase activity (Dudley et al., 2008; Dodge, 2005). Low levels of DNMT1, by virtue of the nature of replication which produces daughter strands that are unmethylated, would, over time, lead to passive demethylation (Dudley et al., 2008). Recent data suggest the inactivation of *de novo* methyltransferases also contributes to hypomethylation of DNA and chromosome instability (Dodge, 2005). Alternatively, active removal of DNA methyl groups by demethylating enzymes, such as RNA-dependent 5-methylcytosine glycosylase, can considerably influence global genomic methylation with an inverse relationship observed in cancer cells (Szyf, 2000). DNA methylation patterns can also be altered by chemical and physical agents (Pogribny et al., 2009; Koturbash et al., 2005; Christman, 1993; Szyf, 2003). DNA damage, such as that induced by carcinogens, can interfere with the methylating ability of DNA methyltransferases by stalling them at the site of the lesions (Panayiotidis et al., 2004; Smith, 1998; Turk et al., 1995). Furthermore, during repair, DNA polymerases incorporate cytidine but not methylcytidine, thus the presence of DNA lesions and activation of DNA repair mechanisms may also contribute to DNA hypomethylation (Pogribny et al., 2005). Regardless of the mechanism involved, loss of genomic DNA methylation can be observed early in tumor development (Kovalchuk et al., 2007; Pogribny and Beland, 2009) and may be a cause, not merely a consequence, of malignant transformation (Gaudet et al., 2003).

Similarly, genome instability can also arise from the hypermethylation of critical genes, such as tumor suppressors, by *de novo* methyltransferases. The transfer of methyl groups to previously unmethylated CpG islands, such as with the hypermethylation of

promoter regions of tumor suppressor genes, affect a number of growth regulatory molecular networks and leads to increased risk of mammary cancer (Fernandez et al., 2010; Berg and Steigen, 2008; Esteller, 2002; Yang et al., 2001).

1.1.2.2. Histone Modifications

Tightly coordinated interactions between DNA and histone proteins determine the level of DNA packaging and thus transcriptional regulation (Cedar and Bergman, 2009; Esteller, 2006). The positive charge of histone proteins interact with negatively charged DNA (Hong et al., 1993). An octamer of histones – two molecules each of H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 – wrap around 146 base pairs of DNA (Luger et al., 1997; Fletcher and Hansen, 1995). Histone H1 locks the DNA into place, linking the nucleosomes together, ultimately leading to the formation of a higher-order chromatin structure (Sato et al., 2001). Modifications to histone proteins affect the degree to which they can bind to DNA to regulate chromatin packaging (Grant, 2001).

Histone modifications, including acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination, are important in the regulation of transcription and overall genome stability (Moss and Wallrath, 2007; Weidman et al. 2007; Pogribny et al., 2006; Tryndyak et al., 2006; Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). It has been proposed that patterns of histone modifications form a "histone code" that is read by post-translational complexes to regulate gene expression (de la Cruz et al., 2005; Turner, 2002; Jenuwein and Allis, 2001; Strahl and Allis, 2001). These modifications are thought to occur in a hierarchical fashion, with present markers at the same or nearby sites influencing further posttranslational modifications (Stewart et al., 2005; Strahl and Allis, 2000; Jenuwein and

Allis, 2001). Some studies have shown, for example, that acetylation of histone H3 lysine 9 or lysine 14, which is associated with a more relaxed chromatin structure, is able to restrict histone 3 lysine 9 methylation, a repressive modification (Carbone et al., 2006; Nakayama et al., 2001; Rice and Allis, 2001). In this way, histone modifications can lead to either transcriptional activation or repression depending on the pattern of methylation, acetylation, or phosphorylation of amino acid residues on histone tails.

1.1.2.2.1. HISTONE METHYLATION

Histone methylation is the modification of certain amino acids in a histone protein by the addition of one to three methyl groups (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2004; Schotta et al., 2004; Rice and Allis, 2001). Several protein residues can be methylated, most notably the positive groups of lysine and arginine (Rice and Allis, 2001). Methylation at these sites is used to regulate the binding of proteins to nucleic acids, without altering the positive charge of histone tails (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2004; Rice and Allis, 2001).

Histone methylation is associated with both transcriptional activation and repression, depending upon the residues methylated and to which extent. For example, trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9me3), histone H3 lysine 27 (H3K27me3), and histone H4 lysine 20 (H4K20me3) are associated with transcriptional repression, whereas methylation of arginine residues on H3 and H4 is associated with transcriptional activation (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2004; Schotta et al., 2004; Rice and Allis, 2001).

Post-translational modifications to these histone tails serve as recognition motifs for the binding of chromatin-associated proteins, which can influence other epigeneticmediated mechanisms of gene regulation (Zeng et al., 2009; Schlesinger et al., 2007; Vire

et al., 2006; Freitag and Selker, 2005). For example, two well-studied histone methyltransferases (HMT), enhancer of zeste drosophila homologue 2 (EZH2) and the suppressor of variegation 3-9 homologue 1 (Suv39h1), has been shown to mark genes for DNMT1-mediated DNA hypermethylation by trimethylating H3K27 and H3K9, respectively (Schlesinger et al., 2007; Vire et al., 2006; Lehnertz et al., 2003), thereby reinforcing long-term gene silencing (Cedar et al., 2009; Esteller, 2008; Vire et al., 2006).

In a normal cell, the recruitment of chromatin-modifying complexes plays an important role in maintaining heterochromatic regions, suppressing repetitive elements, and actively partaking in the correct assembly of telomeric chromatin (Benetti et al., 2007). However, in cancer cells, the inappropriate recruitment of these complexes can lead to an altered chromatin state (Esteller and Herman, 2002; Baylin, 1997). In general, cancer formation is characterized by two different types of alterations in histone lysine methylation patterns: loss of global histone H3K9, H3K27, and H4K20 trimethylation and an increase of these marks at gene promoter regions (Van Den Broeck et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2008; Fraga et al., 2005B; Kondo et al., 2004). Furthermore, it was recently demonstrated that the loss of trimethylation of H3K9 and H4K20, paralleled by the diminished expression of the HMT Suv4-20h2, is associated with the formation of a more aggressive phenotype in human breast cancer cell lines (Tryndyak et al., 2006).

1.1.2.2.2. HISTONE ACETYLATION

Histone residues can also be acetylated and deacetylated on lysine residues in the ε-N-terminal tail as part of gene regulation. Typically, these reactions are catalyzed by

enzymes with histone acetyltransferase (HAT) or histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity, respectively (Esteller, 2008).

The addition of an acetyl group to histone tails neutralizes the positive charge on the lysine residue, thereby reducing the electrostatic attraction for the negatively charged nucleic acids (Hong et al., 1993). This results in a more relaxed chromatin state, thereby increasing accessibility for the transcription machinery to bind DNA. Conversely, histone deacetylation strengthens the associations between histone proteins and DNA to induce a repressive heterochromatic state (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001).

Imbalances between histone acetylation and deacetylation have been detected in various tumors, including human breast cancer (Blanca et al., 2008; Maass et al., 2002; Archer and Hodin, 1999). While hypoacetylation has been associated with silencing of tumor suppressors (Fukushige et al., 2009; Kondo et al., 2005; Mielnicki et al., 1999), hyperacetylation has been linked to a more active transcriptional state that may be associated with uncontrolled proliferation and the activation of oncogenes (Yasuda et al., 2007; Verdone et al., 2006). It is widely believed that the abnormal state of histone acetylation is associated with the downregulation of HATs and overexpression of HDACs reported in breast cancer (Kawai et al., 2003). Furthermore, it was shown that the overexpression of HDAC1 contributed to the progression of breast carcinogenesis by down-regulating estrogen receptor alpha (ER α), a critical growth regulatory gene (Kawai et al., 2003; Macaluso et al., 2003).

1.1.2.2.3. HISTONE PHOSPHORYLATION

Phosphorylation is perhaps the most important chemical modification of proteins, inducing structural changes that affect molecular interactions. A phosphate group can be attached to serine, threonine and tyrosine residues by kinases, thereby adding a negative charge at that site (Wei et al., 1999; Wei et al., 1998). The addition of a phosphate group to serine 10 on the histone protein H3 (H3S10) has gained a lot of attention for its role in the maintenance of chromosome condensation in actively dividing cells during mitosis (Wei et al., 1999; Wei et al., 1998). The precise mechanism by which increased levels of pH3S10 affects genome stability is still under debate (Johansen et al., 2006; Dyson et al., 2005; Zhong, 2000; Wei et al., 1999; Wei et al., 1998) and may depend on the status of histone modifications on nearby residues. Moreover, phosphorylation of H3S10 can activate immediate-early genes during interphase which may be linked with the induction of proto-oncogenes (Thomson et al., 1999; Mahadevan et al., 1991).

1.1.2.3. Clinical Application of Epigenetics

Unlike genetic alterations, epigenetic changes need not be permanent in tumor cells (Jaenisch and Bird, 2003). Thus when the cellular epigenome is altered, giving rise to a new gene expression pattern, the cell and its progeny possess the capability to revert back to previous gene expression patterns (Jaenisch and Bird, 2003). The ability to reverse these cancer-related changes makes epigenetic machinery an ideal target for therapeutic intervention by inducing transcriptional reprogramming. This plasticity would provide an important mechanism for re-regulating genes, such as cell-adhesion, that have been silenced during the course of selective processes in cancer progression,

which provides the tumor with the necessary phenotypic characteristics to metastasize (Futscher and Domann, 2006; Conacci-Sorrell et al., 2002; Jawhari et al., 1999).

An important point to consider is that genes with tumor suppressor function, rarely, if ever, are mutated – rather they are often silenced by aberrant DNA methylation (Domann and Futscher, 2004; Hamai et al., 2003; Futscher et al., 2002; Cairns et al., 2001; Esteller et al., 1999). Therefore the use of pharmacological inhibitors of DNA methylation, such as 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine, has great potential to reactivate genes that have been inappropriately silenced (Egger et al., 2004; Christman, 2002). Like the nucleotide cytosine, they pair with guanine during DNA synthesis. After they are incorporated, they block DNMT enzymes from acting, thereby inhibiting DNA methylation (Egger et al., 2004; Christman, 2002).

However, considering that DNA methylation changes are often paralleled by histone modifications associated with inappropriate gene expression during carcinogenesis (Taipale et al., 2005; Bannister and Kouzarides, 2004; Geiman and Robertson, 2002), it is likely that treatment strategies need to target multiple types of epigenetic modifications. Many studies have indicated that deacetylation of histone residues can also lead to silencing of tumor suppressor genes (Kondo et al., 2005; Hamai et al., 2003; Schubeler et al., 2000). To reactivate genes that have been inappropriately silenced, histone deacetylase inhibitors are used (Nebbioso et al., 2005; Peart et al., 2005; Shetty et al., 2005; Michaelis et al., 2004). For example, two HDAC inhibitors (HDACi), Zolinza (Vorinostat) and Istodax (Romidepsin), which can induce differentiation, cellcycle arrest, and apoptosis have recently been approved by the USA Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of cutaneous T cell lymphoma (Wang and Dymock, 2009). Clinical trials are underway to determine if HDAC inhibitors can also be used in the treatment of human breast cancer. Indeed the results of numerous studies have provided positive support for targeting epigenetic reprogramming during breast carcinogenesis, indicating that epigenetic therapy may be a promising new approach to treating cancer (Stearns et al., 2007; Arce et al., 2006).

Furthermore, since these epigenetic changes can be detected prior to tumor development they may serve as biomarkers for early detection of disease, prognosis, and response to treatment (Kristensen and Hansen, 2009; Esteller, 2008; Van Den Broeck et al., 20081 Ting et al., 2006; Dunn et al., 2003; Cairns et al., 2001). Investigations regarding the potential value of epigenomic profiling is currently underway using samples collected from tissue biopsies or from less intrusive methods, such as blood and urine samples, to evaluate the DNA-methylome and to map histone modifications (Esteller, 2008; Ting, 2006; Cairns et al., 2001). The information collected can then be used to predict which treatment would be most effective and then, after treatment, followup tests can be performed to see if the epigenetic modifications were successfully reversed to allow re-expression of tumor suppressors.

The importance of epigenetics, especially in our understanding of susceptibility to disease, is reflected in the huge undertaking to establish an international human epigenome (Jones et al., 2008). This can be used to identify individuals at higher risk for developing diseases, so that preventative strategies can be implemented to reduce the number of incidences and improve patient survival and quality of life (Mack, 2006). Clearly, future studies are needed to further address the potential for epigenetic profiling as a diagnostic and therapeutic tool.

1.1.3. Estrogen

Estrogen is the primary female sex hormone, which is naturally produced by developing follicles in the ovaries, corpus luteum, and placenta and plays an important role in the development of the human breast during sexual maturation (Russo and Russo, 2004; Russo and Russo, 1982). There are three major naturally occurring estrogens, with estradiol (E₂) being the most predominant circulating ovarian steroid (Russo and Russo, 2006; Miettinen et al., 2000). By circulating in the bloodstream, this hormone targets receptors located on the cell surface, cytosol or within the cell nucleus to promote proliferation (Shang, 2007; Acconcia and Kumar, 2006). The binding of estrogen to its receptor induces a conformational change that activates subsequent receptor dimerization and interaction with coactivator molecules (Shang, 2006; Osborne et al., 2003).

There are two types of estrogen receptors (ER): ER-alpha (ER α), encoded by the ESR1 gene and ER-beta (ER β), encoded by ESR2. Both have similar binding affinities for 17 β -estradiol, however they are thought to act through different mechanisms, which may, in part, explain the controversy regarding estrogen action in the mammary tissue (Kass et al., 2004; Routledge et al., 2000; Paech et al., 1997).

In the classical model, ERα plays an important role in regulating mammary gland growth and differentiation, acting as either a positive or a negative gene regulator (Bourdeau et al., 2008; Carling et al., 2004; Hilakivi-Clarke et al., 1997; Panda and Runer, 1966). The binding of estrogen to its receptor can act directly or indirectly to activate gene expression, either by relocating to the nucleus to associate with estrogen response elements (EREs) or by initiating a signaling cascade (Shang, 2006; Acconcia and Kumar, 2006; Edwards, 2005; Filardo, 2002; Simoncini et al., 2000). Cross-talk

between these genomic and nongenomic pathways is what makes estrogen and its receptor a potent regulator of cellular activity.

1.1.3.1. Role of Estrogen in Breast Carcinogenesis

A common thread linking the main risks for developing breast cancer in women is cumulative, excessive exposure to estrogen. Numerous studies have identified a strong correlation between the dose and length of estrogen exposure and increased breast cancer risk (Murray et al., 2007; Li et al., 2002; Clemons and Gross, 2001; Kabuto et al., 2000; Cauley et al., 1999; Toniolo et al., 1995; Blankenstein et al., 1977). Longer life-time exposures to endogenous ovarian estrogens, as well as chronic exposure to synthetic and environmental estrogens are factors contributing to breast carcinogenesis (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Ibarluzea et al., 2004; Clemons and Goss, 2001).

Early menarche and late menopause, for example, are associated with greater breast cancer risk, largely due to prolonged exposure of the mammary tissues to estrogens produced by the ovaries throughout the extended period of reproductive viability (Singletary, 2003; Bernstein and Ross, 1993; Kelsey et al.; 1993). Supporting this assertion are data indicating that an ovariectomy prior to menopause markedly reduces breast cancer risk (Kramer et al., 2005; Haber, 2002). Further evidence comes from rodent models, which also exhibit estrogen-dependent tumor formation that regresses upon removal of the ovaries (Russo, 1990). Interestingly, estrogen treatment was shown to restore tumor development in these ovariectomized animals to approximately that observed in ovary-intact animals (Russo, 1990). Similarly, studies have demonstrated that, in premenopausal women with advanced breast cancer, tumor size increases and
decreases in correlation with estrogen levels during the menstrual cycle (Ramakrishnan et al., 2002; Saad et al., 1994; Cooper, 1836).

Elevated circulating levels of endogenous estrogen are associated with an increased breast cancer risk in a dose-dependent fashion among pre-menopausal women (Eliassen et al., 2006). This has been linked to increased levels of androgens, which are precursors for estrogen biosynthesis (Eliassen et al., 2006; Onland-Moret et al., 2003). Increased activity of aromatase, the enzyme responsible for catalyzing this process, has also been shown to increase serum E_2 levels (Subramanian et al., 2008; Probst-Hensch et al., 1999). This effect is augmented by other factors, such as alcohol (Sarkola et al., 1999) and obesity (Key et al., 2003; Wu, 1999; Adami et al., 1995). Importantly, high local levels of estrogen have been shown to increase telomerase production and activity that is sufficient to transform human cells into immortalized cell lines (Vera et al., 2008; Friedman, 2007; Ouellette et al., 2000). Moreover, estrogen has been shown to promote breast cancer progression by stimulating proliferation of cells possessing genotoxic instability (Platet et al., 2004).

With the classification of steroidal estrogen as a known human carcinogen by the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS) in 2002 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002), this brings to light a serious health concern for the increasing prevalence of estrogen exposure in the environment. Moreover, it is estimated that 70% of breast cancers are ER-alpha-positive and estrogen-dependent, in which two thirds of advanced ER-positive breast cancers respond to therapy with antiestrogens (Ding et al., 2004; Katzenellenbogen and Frasor, 2004; Clarke et al., 2004; Clarke et al., 2003; Khan et al., 1998).

Although it is well-acknowledged that estrogen is involved in the etiology of breast cancer, there remains ambiguity in the precise role of estrogen in the biology of breast cancer induction. The effects of estrogen on the target cells in breast tissue are believed to be mediated through a number of mechanisms. The most generally accepted mechanism is through receptor-mediated interactions leading to the transactivation of specific genes regulating a wide variety of cellular processes in favor of cellular proliferation (Jensen et al., 2008; Bjornstrom and Sjoberg, 2005; Hall et al., 2001; Parker et al., 1997). In addition, estrogen decreases the time spent in the cell cycle, such that a spontaneous mutation that may arise during DNA synthesis could be passed on to daughter cells without being repaired, and could ultimately lead to a malignant phenotype (Luo et al., 2008; Yager and Davidson, 2006; Castoria et al., 2001; Epifanova, 1966).

As a strong promoting agent, estrogen-driven proliferation not only increases the number of estrogen-responsive cells, but also potentially stimulates clonal expansion of pre-cancerous cells. This increase in proliferation is termed hyperplasia and is one of the first morphological changes identified during carcinogenesis (Starland-Davenport et al., 2010; Allred et al., 2001). It appears that excessive signaling through the estrogen receptor may be one of the primary mechanisms for breast carcinogenesis, in which modest increases in ER-alpha were shown to lead to mammary hyperplasia (Frech et al., 2005). Promotion of initiated cells leads to selection of those cells with survival advantages, which acquire additional mutations, leading to progressively more malignant epithelial growth (Simpson et al, 2005; Clarke et al., 1994; Platlet et al., 2004; Adami et al., 1995).

Interestingly, the promotion of these initiated cells requires continuous exposure to estrogen to progress preneoplastic lesions to a state of transformation (Yager and Davidson, 2006). Removal of the promoting agent has been shown to reverse the changes, both at the level of gene expression and at the cellular level (Clarke et al., 1994; Pitot and Dragan, 1991). The regression of preneoplastic lesions upon withdrawal of the promoting agents has been linked to the "redifferentiation" or remodeling of the tissue (Hikita et al., 1999; Tatematsu et al., 1983). Knowing that operational reversibility during the promotion stage of carcinogenesis provides a window for intervention, the potential to reverse the effects of elevated levels of estrogen prior to tumor development may prove to be a promising avenue to explore. The development of strategies to reverse these pre-malignant changes depends on our ability to detect the early molecular and cellular events.

The estrogen receptor can also influence cellular proliferation indirectly by interacting with other signaling pathways, such as the phosphatidyl-inositol-3-kinase (PI3K) pathway (Acconcia and Kumar, 2006; Simoncini et al., 2000; Castoria et al., 2001). Activation of this pathway may be one of the steps leading to imbalances in proliferation and apoptosis, as PI3K was shown to inhibit the ATR pathway controlling cell cycle checkpoints (Pedram, 2009), as well as abrogate apoptosis through inactivation of the pro-apoptotic protein, BAD (Fernando and Wimalasena, 2004). Moreover, estrogen has been shown to upregulate BCL6 (Kovalchuk et al, 2007), a known proto-oncogene, which reportedly prevents mammary epithelial apoptosis and differentiation (Alenzi, 2008; Logarajah et al., 2003). Estrogen also stimulates Src which increases

aromatase activity, resulting in an autocrine feedback loop which may reinforce the initial response to estrogen during breast tumorigenesis (Catalano et al., 2009).

The estrogen receptor, itself, can be subject to modifications that influence cellular kinase signaling. For example, ER-alpha is methylated in the majority of epithelial cells in the healthy breast and is hypermethylated in a subset of breast cancers (Le Romancer et al., 2010). After E₂ treatment, an arginine methyltransferase, PRMT1, transiently methylates arginine 250 of ER-alpha's DNA-binding domain, promoting the activation of Akt signaling cascades and proliferation (Le Romancer et al., 2010). Hyperactivation of this pathway gives selective survival advantage for primary tumor cells even in the presence of anti-estrogens (Le Romancer et al., 2010).

Clearly a number of cellular signal transduction pathways can potentially be involved in response to E_2 , thereby influencing the responsiveness to ER signaling. The complex network and interactions of genomic and nongenomic ER pathways makes it difficult to unravel the mechanisms of estrogen-induced breast cancer and to define treatment modalities.

Of course, it is important to note that in order for DNA binding proteins, such as ER, to be able to access their recognition elements, they may be required to first recruit chromatin remodeling complexes to decrease the level of chromatin packaging. Studies have shown that ER recruits the SWI/SNF complex to estrogen-responsive promoters in a cooperative manner with HATS in order to affect transcriptional activation and stimulate proliferation (Belandia et al., 2002; DiRenzo et al., 2000).

ER-alpha can also interact with other epigenetic components, such as HDAC6, to promote the rapid deacetylation of tubulin which potentially contributes to cell migration

and to the aggressiveness of ER-alpha-positive breast cancer cells (Azuma et al., 2009). Moreover, exposure to estrogen is known to change DNA methylation patterns which may contribute to inappropriate gene expression (Cheng et al., 2008).

In the past, estrogen was primarily studied for its role as a promoting agent, stimulating the clonal expansion of initiated cells. More recently, estrogen has also been acknowledged as an initiating agent, with the formation of genotoxic metabolites that can directly damage DNA, thereby disrupting normal cell processes such as apoptosis, proliferation, and DNA repair (Cavalieri et al., 2006; Mailander et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Huhr, et al., 2004; Mobley et al., 1999; Fishman et al., 1995).

Experimental studies of estrogen metabolism, which occurs actively in breast tissue as well as in liver (Jeffcoate et al., 2000; Williams and Phillips, 2000), have found evidence of the formation of DNA adducts and cell transformation by estrogen metabolites (Fernandez et al., 2005; Russo et al., 2003; Newbold and Liehr, 2000; Cavalieri et al., 1997). These studies suggest that phase I metabolism of estrogen into catecholestrogens and their derivatives by cytochrome P450 possess complete carcinogenic potential (Santen et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2007; Cavalieri et al., 2006). Of these estrogen metabolites, 2-hydroxycatechol estrogen and 4-hydroxycatechol estrogen, are considered the most potent carcinogenic agents capable of damaging DNA (Cavalieri et al., 2006; Yagi et al., 2001; Cavalieri et al., 1999). One of the best studied is the production of 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG), which is mutagenic, causing G-T transversion, which after a round of replication become fixed mutations in daughter DNA molecules (Mobley et al., 1999). These metabolites also affect

chromosomal stability, including gains and losses of DNA segments, as well as the loss of heterozygosity (Santen et al., 2009).

More importantly, the effects of these metabolites were not abrogated by simultaneous treatment of anti-estrogens (Russo et al., 2003). Furthermore, studies have shown that estrogen metabolites are capable of inducing transformation in an ER-alphanegative human breast epithelial cell line, suggesting that they act via ER-independent pathways to stimulate cell proliferation and exert their invasive capabilities (Fernandez et al. 2006; Fernandez et al., 2005; Russo et al., 2003). However, it was noted that transgenic mice harboring a knock-out of ESR1 delayed tumor onset and reduced the number of tumors formed (Santen et al., 2009; Yue et al., 2003). It appears that these metabolites can act through both ER-independent and ER-dependent mechanisms, as several estrogen metabolites have been shown to possess similar or higher binding affinities to the human ER as does estradiol, inducing ER-dependent gene expression (Zhu et al., 2006; Kuiper et al., 1997; Fishman and Martucci, 1980).

In human studies, women with breast cancer were frequently observed to have an imbalance in estrogen metabolism compared to women without breast cancer (Rogan et al., 2007; Rogan et al., 2003; Liehr and Ricci, 1996). This has been associated with increased biosynthesis of estrogens and their biotransformation into tumorigenic metabolites in the breast (Rogan et al. 2003; Simpson 2003; Jefcoate et al., 2000; Miller and O'Neill, 1987).

Catechol estrogens can be further oxidized to form electrophilic catechol estrogen quinones that can react with DNA to form depurinating adducts, which generate mutations, such as abasic sites, to initiate breast cancer (Cavalieri et al. 2006; Li et al.,

2004; Yue et al., 2003; Cavalieri et al., 1997). Analysis of depurinating estrogen-DNA adducts in urine demonstrates that women at high risk of, or diagnosedwith, breast cancer have high levels of these adducts, indicating a critical role for adduct formation in breast cancer initiation (Gaikwad et al., 2008; Cavalieri et al., 2006; Tagesson et al., 1995).

Reduction of these estrogen quinones back to hydroquinones and catechols provides an opportunity for redox cycling to produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative damage to macromolecules, including lipids and DNA (Sanchez et al., 2003; Jefcoate et al., 2000; Mobley et al., 1999; Seacat et al, 1997). ROS induces strandbreaking lesions and smaller amounts of base oxidation and abasic sites in DNA. If this depurination occurs on a single-stranded DNA molecule undergoing replication, DNA polymerase β (Pol. β) in the base excision pathway (BER) can add an incorrect base at the apurinic site in the absence of information from the complementary strand, thereby inducing mutations (Cavaleiri et al., 2006; Cabelof et al., 2004; Posnick and Samson, 1999; Miller and O'Neill, 1987). These mutations, if left unrepaired, are passed along to subsequent cell generations, and may account for the mutation of several important cell regulatory genes, including p53, in breast cancer patients (Amir et al., 2010; Schmutte et al, 1995; Greenblatt et al., 1994).

Increased oxidative DNA damage, along with the corresponding upregulation of repair-related genes, has been detected in target tissues after estrogen treatment in animal model systems (Miyamoto et al., 2006). One of the best-studied markers of oxidative damage, 8-oxo-dG, which is predominately repaired by the short-patch BER, has also been found to be elevated in tumor tissue of patients with breast cancer (Musarrat et al., 1996). More generally, higher levels of oxidative stress have been detected in human

breast cancer relative to women with histologically normal tissue, suggesting a direct association between DNA repair deficiencies and cell transformation (Ming-Shiean et al., 2010; Nowsheen et al., 2009; Yager, 2000).

Detoxification of estrogen and its metabolites are mediated by subsequent conjugation reactions involving methylation, glutathione or sulfation, via catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT), glutathione S-transferase (GST), or sulfotransferases (ST), respectively (Raftogianis et al., 2000). Among these, studies revealed an important role for COMT in protecting the cell from genotoxic damage by transferring a methyl group to 2-hydroxy estradiol to form 2-methoxyestradiol, which is known to be protective against tumor formation (Schumacher and Neuhaus, 2001; Zhu and Conney, 1998). This anti-tumorigenic metabolite was shown to possess anti-angiogenic activity through a direct apoptotic effect in rapidly dividing tumor cells (Schumacher and Neuhaus, 2001; Zhu and Conney, 1998). The presence of estrogen at pharmacological doses has been shown to alter the expression of these detoxifying enzymes, suggesting that E₂ induces compensatory mechanisms to protect against oxidative stress via elevation of these antioxidant enzymes (Sanchez et al., 2003; Hudson et al., 1998).

It must also be noted that studies have shown differentiation of the mammary gland reduces the number of target cells, with full-term pregnancies and lactation at an early age decreasing the risk of breast cancer incidence by nearly half (Macmahon et al., 1970; Rosner et al., 1994). Moreover, studies in rodents have shown that estrogen and progesterone, at levels sufficient to mimic the effect of pregnancy, reduce the incidence of carcinogen-induced mammary tumors in rats (Cabanes et al., 2004; Sivaraman et al., 1998; Grubbs et al., 1985). These studies contrast the aforementioned findings as well as

several other studies which indicate that concentrations of 17β -estradiol within the low picogram range in blood serum and breast tissue increased the risk of sporadic breast cancer (Chetrite et al., 2000; Thijssen et al., 1986; Vermeulen et al., 1986). Therefore, it is essential to gain a better understanding of how E₂, at physiologically relevant concentrations, elicit their effects in susceptible target tissues.

1.1.3.2. Estrogen and Treatment Modalities

Perhaps one of the strongest links between E_2 and breast cancer can be demonstrated using estrogen antagonists in breast tissue for the treatment and prevention of breast cancer. Studies have clearly shown that tamoxifen, a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), reduces the risk of recurrence of breast cancer for women, as well as the risk of developing new breast cancer in the contralateral breast (Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group, 2005). Tamoxifen also reduces the risk of breast cancer in healthy women who are considered to be at high risk for developing breast cancer by over a third, although the protective effects of tamoxifen are largely limited to ERpositive cells (Cuzick et al., 2003).

Taking into consideration that E_2 has been shown to exert its carcinogenic effects through both ER-dependent and ER-independent mechanisms, treatment modalities for breast cancer with a strong link to estrogen should address both pathways. Aromatase inhibitors, for example, decrease the conversion of androgens to estrogen which can then be biotransformed into genotoxic metabolites, with promising results (Brodie and Njar, 1998; Perez and Borja, 1992). Women treated with aromatase inhibitors had superior outcomes and a lower incidence of breast cancer in the contralateral breast than women who received tamoxifen (Goss et al., 2005; Howell et al., 2005).

1.1.4. Radiation

Radiation is a term used to describe energy transmitted as rays or waves through space, and is largely divided into two general categories based on the amount of energy it possesses. Radiation with sufficient energy to ionize particles, known as ionizing radiation (IR), due to its nature, possesses more severe biological effects than lower energy forms, which are capable only of excitation (Elgazaar and Kazem, 2006). Humans are constantly exposed to background radiation, which is emitted from a variety of natural sources, including solar radiation, cosmic rays, and radioactive elements in the earth's crust (Elgazaar and Kazem, 2006; Charles, 2001; Schultz, 1985). Advances in technology have also enabled humans to utilize radiation for medicinal and industrial purposes.

Radiation has been used in the medical field for over 100 years for its ability to produce accurate imaging of internal organs and structures. These procedures provide a relatively non-invasive and quick assessment of trauma or physiological impairments. Similarly, radiation exposures given at higher doses have been used in the treatment of diseases, such as cancer.

1.1.4.1. Radiation Carcinogenesis and its Importance as a Treatment Modality

The discovery of x-rays in 1895 by Wilhelm Rontgen (Rontgen, 1896) was closely followed by the experimental application of x-rays to shrink tumors (Grubbe, 1933; Freund, 1904). However, radiation proved to be a double-edged sword, with the appearance of secondary treatment-related malignancies within years of radiation exposure (Verhoeff and Bell, 1914). The carcinogenic properties of ionizing radiation have since been documented in a number of other tissues and organisms (Bernstein et al., 2010; Inskip et al., 1994; Russ, 1925; Warren and Whipple, 1922; Bovie, 1918). Notably, the female breast is one of the tissues with the highest sensitivity to radiation-induced carcinogenesis (Preston et al., 2007; Ronckers et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 1994).

Although the mechanisms of radiation-induced carcinogenesis are rather complex, the underlying principle is based on the ability of radiation to penetrate and deposit energy in body tissue, which can cause cell damage or death (Elgazaar and Kazem, 2006). The extent of the damage depends on a number of factors, including the total amount of energy absorbed and the exposure regime – dose rate, acute versus fractionated, and the time period of the exposure (Elgazaar and Kazem, 2006; Charles, 2001).

Chronic exposure is typically described as continuous or intermittent exposure to low doses of radiation, usually from background radiation, over long periods of time. Acute exposure, on the other hand, refers to a single relatively large dose of radiation, typically resulting from accidental exposure, such as the nuclear powerplant disaster at Chernobyl, or specific medical procedures (Prysyazhnyuk et al., 2007; Preston et al., 2007; Ronckers et al., 2005; Thompson et al, 1994). Therapy exploits the fact that higher doses of radiation can be used to destroy harmful cells (Elgazaar and Kazem, 2006; Charles, 2001). These findings led to the widespread practice of medical radiology, in

which radiation is currently used as a treatment modality in nearly half of cancer cases, either alone or in combination with surgery and chemotherapy (Choi et al., 2006; Van Lanschot et al., 1999; De Lena et al., 1981). The most common forms of external radiation therapy use gamma and x-rays in combination with radiosensitizing drugs like Cisplatin, Nimorazole, and Cetuximab to maximize damage to tumor cells (Choi et al., 2006; Van Lanschot et al., 1999; De Lena et al., 1981).

Despite the obvious benefits of radiotherapy, the risk of secondary radiation treatment-related malignancies is a clinical problem (Leone et al., 1999; Storm et al., 1992; Boice et al., 1992). For example, radiation treatment for Hodgkin's disease increased the development of breast cancer and a number of other secondary neoplasms (Crump and Hodgson, 2009; Bhatia et al., 1996). The exact mechanisms of radiationinduced secondary cancers, particularly the contributions of epigenetic mechanisms, remain unknown. Over the years, it has become generally accepted that tumors arise from stem-like cells, however the specific identity and location of the cells is poorly understood (Charles, 2001). An acute high dose of radiation is thought to kill most mammary stem cells, but those that remain exhibit mutations that continue to be passed along to daughter cells, whereby mutations accumulate over the life leading to malignancy (Charles, 2001; Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996).

In general, the degree to which radiation affects a tissue is considered to be proportional to the rate of proliferation and inversely proportional to the degree of cell differentiation (Hilakivi-Clarke, 2007; Warri et al., 2007; Russo et al., 2005; Ulrich et al., 1996; Russo et al., 1982). Breast tissue, for example, is thought to be particularly sensitive to ionizing radiation prior to sexual maturity, when the gland is largely

comprised of rapidly dividing undifferentiated terminal end buds (Hilakivi-Clarke, 2007; Russo and Russo, 2006; Russo et al., 1982). The risk of developing radiation-induced breast cancer is highest among women exposed in childhood and adolescence and is among the highest known radiation-related risks for any cancer type (Charles, 2001). Radiation exposure doses linked to breast cancer development range widely between 0.2 and 20 Gy (Ronckers et al., 2005) with a linear dose-effect relationship observed with doses greater than 0.2 Gy (Broerse et al., 1986; Bond et al, 1960). Sublethal doses of different types of radiation, including x-rays and neutrons, were shown to induce mammary tumor development within a year (Broerse et al., 1986; Bond et al, 1960).

At doses of low linear energy transfer (LET) radiation, including x-ray and gamma-rays, each cell nucleus is likely to be traversed by more than one sparselyionizing track (Charles, 2001). In mammalian cells, low-LET radiation generates both single- and double-stranded DNA breaks, reactive oxygen species, base damage, and DNA-protein cross-links (Little, 2000; Pouget et al., 1999; Ward, 1988). Radiation affects a variety of processes in the exposed cell, including proliferation and apoptosis. Damage sentinels, such as p53 are activated in response to radiation to give the cell time to repair the DNA damage (Hartwell et al., 1994; Lowe et al., 1993). If the cell fails to restore even a single DNA double-strand break, the cytotoxic effects can be lethal (Clarke et al., 1993; Lowe et al., 1993). Moreover, incorrect repair of DNA damage leads to mutations and chromosome aberrations that are passed on to subsequent generations and, along with other acquired mutations, can lead to carcinogenesis (Hasty, 2005; Simpson et al, 2005; Feinberg, 2004). There appears, however, to be some sort of damage threshold for the enhancement of DNA repair (Amundson et al., 1999), which reduces the number of cells undergoing an alternate pathway of apoptosis to deal with the damage (Feinendegen, 2005). Very low radiation doses were shown to be insufficient to stimulate cellular repair processes, resulting in high cell lethality, whereas doses above this threshold trigger repair processes, leading to increased radioresistance and cell survival (Singh et al., 1994; Wouters and Skarsgards, 1994).

Likewise, there is also a risk of overwhelming DNA repair systems, especially if DNA repair proteins become mutated (Russell et al., 1995; Arlett et al., 1980). This is an important point to consider in women receiving radiotherapy with mutations in DNA repair genes, such as BRCA1 and BRCA2, as they tend to have a very high risk of developing a second breast tumour (Frank et al., 2002; Haffty et al., 2002). Incorrect repair of DNA damage leads to genomic instability, one of the first events identified in radiation-induced cancer (Selvanayagam et al., 1995). This initial instability puts all genes at risk for mutation, but its major impact on carcinogenesis occurs when critical genes, such as the tumor suppressor p53 and DNA repair proteins, are mutated as a secondary consequence of the radiation exposure. The GENE-RAD-RISK project, a large European study, is currently underway to evaluate whether carriers of pathogenic alleles in DNA repair and damage recognition genes may confer an increased risk of breast cancer following medical irradiation (http://generadrisk.iarc.fr/index.php).

The role of epigenetic changes in the etiology or radiation-induced breast cancer has not been addressed until recently. One of the best-studied short-term epigenetic responses to radiation exposure is the phosphorylation of H2AX, which binds to the ends

of double-strand breaks and initiates DNA repair processes (Sedelnikova et al., 2003). The initial damage was shown to be repaired within 96 hours after IR exposure, however long-term repercussions were observed up to 7 months later in a rodent model (Koturbash et al., 2008). The activation of DNA repair processes was shown to be linked, at least in part, to a global loss of methylcytosine in exposed mammary tissue (Loree et al., 2006), which may contribute to increased genome instability. Furthermore, the loss of DNA methylation was associated with significant decreases in DNA methyltransferases responsible for both the maintenance and creation of methylation sites.

These epigenetic changes were observed in parallel with alterations in apoptosis and proliferation (Loree et al., 2006), suggesting IR alters cell cycle control mechanisms and signaling pathways in mammary tissue. These epigenetic and molecular parameters were predicted to early markers of radiation-induced oncotransformation (Loree et al., 2006).

1.1.4.2. Clinical Intervention to Minimize Radiation-Induced Carcinogenesis

The primary focus of radiotherapy is to maximize damage in tumor cells, while minimizing disruption to nearby healthy tissue. Although reactive oxygen species produced during radiotherapy treatment are effective in killing tumor cells, they do cause painful side effects that require palliative treatment (Cheng and Lee, 2010; Borek, 2004; Kennedy et al., 2001). To offset the damage caused by free radicals, anti-oxidants have been used to reduce both short- and long-term tissue injury after radiation exposure, promoting the recovery of healthy cells (Wan et al., 2006; Borek, 2004). For example, taking green tea polyphenols which is known for its anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, and immune modulating activity was found to reduce secondary treatment-related malignancies (Mantena et al., 2005). Under a similar principle, class III histone deacetylases, known as sirtuins, are currently being explored in animal models as a defense against radiation. This special class of HDACs was shown to be required for the maintenance of genomic integrity by directly aiding the repair of DNA damage and by reducing ROS-induced cellular changes following exposure to genotoxic stressors (Hasegawa et al., 2008; Blander and Guarente, 2004). However, much controversy has been raised with the finding that sirtuins and antioxidants increase radio- and chemoresistance in both normal and malignant cells (Prasad et al, 2002; Conklin, 2000), which raises the question as to whether or not the mitigating effect of these forms of palliative care negatively influence the overall outcome of treatment for the primary tumor.

1.1.5. Exposure to Multiple Carcinogenic Agents

Living organisms are exposed to numerous natural and man-made agents that interact with molecules, cells, and tissue causing deviations from homeostatic equilibrium and irreversible damage. Many aspects of age-related diseases are thought to stem from accumulated effects of exogenous and endogenous deleterious agents acting on key components of cells within the body (Madia et al., 2007; Hasty et al., 2005). Therefore, clinical studies are, in fact, a study of combined exposures and must take into consideration a wide variety of factors – from dietary and lifestyle choices to environmental and occupational exposures. This is an important consideration to make, especially because risk assessment is largely performed with the simplifying assumption that the agent under study acts largely independently of other substances. Studies are needed to look at the effects of combined exposures to make sure that contributing factors are recognized and taken into account in risk assessment.

The use of model organisms and cell culture has identified a number of factors that play a causative role in the induction of cancer. To determine the mechanism underlying the mode of action of these agents, studies have largely focused on the effect of one carcinogen at a time to make the cause-effect linkage easier. Although these studies have been instrumental in uncovering the contributions of a single agent to carcinogenesis, they are unable to demonstrate real-life scenarios whereby people encounter exposure to multiple carcinogenic agents (Charles, 2001).

More recently, cancer has become recognized as a complex, multi-step process that often arises as a result of exposure to many classes of agents, both endogenous and environmental (Mauderly, 1993; Streffer and Muller, 1987; Steel and Peckham, 1979; Warren and Brown, 1978; Loewe, 1953). Ionizing radiation, for example, which is generally accepted as a genotoxic agent, is thought to predominantly act as an initiator of carcinogenesis (Ronckers et al., 2005; Land et al., 2003; Shellabarger, 1971; Bond et al., 1960), while hormones, such as estrogen, which stimulates the proliferation of these initiated cells, are largely considered to be promoting agents (Russo et al., 2006; Ronckers et al, 2005; Clemons and Goss, 2001; Inano et al., 1993).

Of course, it must be recognized that some physical and chemical carcinogens are capable of inducing tumor formation alone (Cavalieri et al., 2006; Russo et al., 2003; Todorovic et al., 2001; Liehr, 2000; Cavalieri et al., 1997; Little and Vetrovs, 1988), with different carcinogens inducing different types of morphological changes. For example, in the breast tissue, chemical carcinogens tend to induce adenocarcinomas (Russo, 1990), whereas physical carcinogens, such as IR tend to induce benign mammary tumors, known as fibroadenomas (Shellabarger et al., 1960). However, in some cases, IR has been shown to induce adenocarcinomas, and these malignancies share the same pathologic features as those induced by chemical carcinogens (Russo, 1990).

Interestingly, gene expression profiling of different chemical carcinogens and radiation, as well as spontaneous arising mammary cancers, were found to share a number of similarities in gene expression patterns between cancers of different etiological origins (Imaoka et al., 2009; Imaoka et al., 2008). It appears that although genetic alterations may be different between radiation and chemical carcinogenesis models, the resulting alterations in gene expression may be similar. This evidence points to epigenetics as a promising area of research, with the prediction that these expression patterns might share a common epigenetic origin.

1.1.5.1. Interactions Between Carcinogens

Agents that are deleterious on their own often combine to produce an effect not directly predictable from the exposure of each carcinogen applied separately. The nature or severity of a single agent may be modified by another agent, producing an effect that may be smaller than anticipated, as with negative synergism, or with greater effect, as in the case of supra-additivity or synergism. Deviations from an expected outcome of additivity need to be considered to help elucidate the mechanism of interactions.

A plethora of studies have been initiated to address the combined potential of chemical and physical carcinogens (Kantorowitz et al., 1995; Kantorowitz et al., 1993; Watanabe et al., 1993; Borek et al., 1986; Kennedy and Weicheselbaum, 1981).

Specifically, combined exposure to radiation and elevated levels of hormones has indicated that the carcinogens were reported to exert either an additive (Broerse et al., 1987) or a synergistic effect (Shellabarger et al., 1983; Holtzman et al., 1981; Holtzman et al., 1979) in breast tissue. In these studies, hormone administration considerably reduced the latency period of tumor formation and increased the number of malignant tumors per rat during IR-induced mammary tumorigenesis. This effect was similar for hormone administration one week prior to or over 28 weeks after IR exposure (Broerse et al., 1987). Age was shown to be a factor, with the administration of estrogen increasing the radiation sensitivity of the mammary gland in young animals considerably (Bartstra et al., 1998). There is, however, a limit to the detection of these supra-additive effects, especially when one carcinogen is given at levels that may be too high to properly assess the effect of the other.

From a clinical perspective, these interactions must be taken into consideration, particularly as radiotherapy may be combined with hormone therapy, as well as chemotherapeutic agents, which are, by nature, often carcinogenic. Secondary cancers, which are typically unrelated to the first cancer that was treated, may occur months or even years after the initial treatment (Bertelsen et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2007; Boice et al., 1992). These cancers are more frequent in patients who receive both radio- and chemotherapy compared to either treatment alone (Wong et al, 2003; Araujo et al., 1991). Clearly, further studies need to be conducted to elucidate the interacting mechanisms of combined modality treatments leading to secondary complications and malignancies.

Understanding how endogenous and exogenous agents interact is important for making medical decisions regarding diagnostic and treatment strategies. For example,

women with elevated estrogen levels are considered to be at higher risk for breast cancer development (Subramanian et al., 2008; Yager and Davidson, 2006) and would likely be exposed to diagnostic IR procedures on a more frequent basis. Similarly, many women with estrogen-induced breast cancer that undergo the IR treatment are exposed to relatively high X-ray doses to the healthy breast (Bernstein et al, 2010; Boice et al., 1992). Moreover, estrogen influences the response to acute and fractionated exposure, increasing the carcinogenic potential of an acute dose or radiation by up to 15 times greater than the fractionated exposures (Bartstra et al., 2000). Treatment with an ER antagonist reduces the incidence of IR-induced cancer (Welsch et al., 1981). Knowing that these factors interact to influence the risk of breast cancer, alternative strategies may need to be considered.

Interestingly, pre-menopausal women were considered to be the most susceptible to secondary treatment-related malignancies (Bertelsen et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2007). This increased sensitivity was also observed in nulliparous rodent models in response to a number of carcinogenic agents. Furthermore, early full-term pregnancy is thought to be protective (Lynch et al., 1984s; Russo and Russo, 1980) and that IR exposure at ages younger than 19 (McGregor et al., 1977), but not after pregnancy and lactation (Russo and Russo, 1987), strongly suggests that in the human female, the period between menarche and first-full term pregnancy might be critical for the initiation of breast cancer.

1.6. USE OF RODENT MODELS IN STUDIES OF CARCINOGENESIS

Due to the limitations of human studies, animal models have been extensively utilized to provide information when epidemiologic evidence is lacking or complicated by confounding factors.

In particular, these studies are invaluable for exploring the effects of carcinogens and therapeutic agents, since experimental studies in humans are often impractical and, in most cases, unethical (Ye et al., 2004). These studies are necessary to obtain information required to estimate cancer risks and establish exposure limits, using dose-response modeling and risk characterizations (Russo and Russo, 1996A). By simplifying the variables, studies can look for cause and effect relationships that will allow for a more conclusive link to be drawn between the carcinogen and the mechanism of action. Since cancer is a complex, multi-step process, this approach provides an important opportunity to determine the effects of a carcinogen at different stages of tumorigenesis. The identification of windows of opportunity for clinical intervention will allow therapeutic strategies to target specific molecular pathways to slow down, reverse, or potentially prevent the development of cancer.

The use of animal models exploits the conservation of genetic material, as well as metabolic and developmental pathways over the course of evolution to extrapolate these results to humans (Szpirer and Szpirer, 2007; Russell, 2003; Storer et al., 1988; Tomatis, 1979). Some species and strains more closely resemble their human counterpart in specific features than others, making them a choice model organism for a particular developmental process or disease. Rats, for example, are considered to be a more appropriate model to study diseases related to human physiology and metabolism than

mice (Russell, 2003). In fact, mammary gland carcinogenesis in the rat was found to share remarkably similar etiology as human breast cancer with respect to histopathology, responsiveness to ovarian hormones, and the apparent protective effect of a full-term pregnancy (Shepel and Gould, 1999; Isaacs, 1986; Russo and Russo, 1980; Thompson and Singh, 2000).

Clearly, studies utilizing rodent models can be informative, but care must be taken when generalizing from one organism to another. Further complexities arise from the very nature of breast cancer, which is a multifactorial disease that is heterogeneous at the morphological, genetic, and molecular levels. Any given animal model could not mimic the spectrum of human breast cancers - at best they could only model major subsets and pathways. Moreover, these studies can not account for the numerous confounding factors, such as the wide spectrum of environmental and lifestyle factors that exist in human populations.

The results of numerous studies have clearly shown that the observed differences in susceptibility to mammary cancer among rat strains cannot be accounted for by differences in the number of target cells or by systemic or cellular influences on progression alone (Shull, 2007; Ullrich and Pnnaiya, 1998; Broerse et al., 1987; Isaacs, 1986; Shellabarger et al., 1978; Ullrich et al., 1996; Bittner, 1952). Rather, mammary epithelial cells from strains with low tumor incidence appear to be inherently more resistant to the transforming effects of a carcinogen, such as ionizing radiation, when compared with mammary cells from susceptible strains (Ulrich and Pnnaiya, 1998; Ulrich et al., 1996). It has been suggested that genetic and epigenetic backgrounds may play an important role in determining susceptibility (Shull, 2007; Milsted et al., 1998).

1.6.1. Genetic Determinants of Mammary Cancer Susceptibility in Rat Models

Evidence of genetic differences has been increasingly explored with the sequencing of the rat genome, shedding much light on the genetic determinants of mammary cancer susceptibility. Mammary cancer susceptibility (Mcs) is a polygenic trait, but not all strains control mammary carcinogenesis by the same genetic loci, suggesting that the mechanism determining susceptibility is different (Lella et al., 2007; Samuelson et al., 2005; Laes et al, 2001; Shepel and Gould, 1998; Hsu et al., 1994). Copenhagen and Wistar-Kyoto rat strains are resistant to the spontaneous development of mammary cancer as well as hormonally and chemically induced mammary cancer (Lella et al., 2007; Korkola and Archer, 1999; Gould et al., 1996). It has been shown that the resistance observed in Copenhagen rats is a dominant phenotype associated with the Mcs gene, which has been shown to inhibit the development of mammary cancer by modulating later events in the carcinogenic process (Korkola and Archer, 1999; Gould et al., 1996). Other strains, such as the Wistar-Kyoto rat, block the carcinogenic process at an early stage, preventing the development of preneoplastic lesions (Lella et al., 2007).

Recent publications have identified a subset of important alleles involved in the genetic susceptibility to estrogen-induced mammary cancer (Emca). The August Copenhagen Irish (ACI) rat, which is commonly used in studies of estrogen-induced mammary cancer, was shown to carry several alleles conferring susceptibility to estrogen-induced mammary cancer (Adamovic et al., 2007; Schaffer et al., 2006; Gould et al., 2004). This may explain the relatively high incidence rate of mammary cancer induced by elevated levels of 17β -estradiol in this model. When the alleles were traced back to the parental strains, it appeared that the Copenhagen rat possessed alleles

conferring resistance, whereas the August rat carried alleles which increased susceptibility (Adamovic et al., 2007; Gould et al., 2004; Shull et al., 2001). Furthermore, the Emca loci were found to control both latency and tumor incidence (Schaffer et al., 2006; Gould et al., 2004; Shull et al., 2001). These sensitivity genes, however, are not necessary for the development of mammary tumors, nor are they, by themselves, sufficient for cancer formation.

1.6.2. Epigenetic Determinants of Mammary Cancer Susceptibility in Rat Models

Interestingly, several investigated strains expressed the Emca loci in a different manner (Shull, 2007; Schaffer et al., 2006; Gould et al., 2004; Shull et al., 2001). Furthermore, candidate genes on the Emca loci include DNA methyltransferases, suggesting a role of epigenetics in determining mammary cancer susceptibility (Schaffer et al., 2006). As the evidence linking epigenetic alterations with the genesis of cancer grows, the focus has shifted towards elucidating the underlying epigenetic phenotype that predisposes individuals to this pathological state.

The inheritance of specific epigenetic patterns, which is associated with establishing gene expression patterns that modify the contributions of maternal and paternal alleles during embryogenesis (Reilly et al., 2004; Hawes et al., 2001; Latham, 1999; Latham, 1994; Surani, 1990), is believed to control not only normal growth and development but also disease susceptibility (Reilly et al., 2004). Maternal imprinting, for example, was found to reduce DNA methylation at specific genes, resulting in increased expression (Allen et al., 1990; Surani, 1990). Evidence that "inappropriate" DNA methylation patterns can be passed on to subsequent generations suggests an epigenetic-

mediated mechanism for inherited genome instability (Chan et al., 2006; Suter et al., 2004; Buiting et al., 2003), a feature associated with carcinogenesis (Coleman and Tsongalis, 1999).

Epigenetic-mediated genome instability also occurs postnatally in response to numerous lifestyle and environmental factors. Importantly, several studies have demonstrated that interstrain differences in the sensitivity to carcinogens are inversely related to the capacity to maintain normal patterns of DNA methylation (Bachman, 2006; Counts et al., 1997; Counts and Goodman, 1995). Furthermore, higher levels of trimethylation of specific histone residues, as well as a greater degree of DNA methylation in repetitive elements, was correlated with increased resistance to carcinogenesis (Pogribny and Beland, 2009; Pogribny et al., 2009; Bagnyukova et al., 2008), suggesting a more tightly regulated genome may be important in reducing cancer incidence.

These findings open up a whole new perspective for cancer predisposition that needs to be explored in other tissues and diseases. Further studies to address the role of epigenetic-mediated predisposition in the etiology of estrogen-induced breast cancer will be important for identifying women with increased risk.

1.6.3. The ACI Rat as a Model of Human Breast Cancer

The ACI rat provides a unique opportunity for studying human breast carcinogenesis, as estrogen-induced mammary carcinogenesis in the female ACI rat exhibits remarkably similar histopathological features and hormone-responsiveness as observed in human breast cancer (Ruhlen et al., 2009; Li et al., 2002; Harvell et al., 2000;

Shull et al., 1997; Tomatis, 1979). Other common features include acquired genomic imbalances and the bioactivation of mutagenic estrogen metabolites (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Li et al., 2004; Russell, 2003; Li et al., 2002; Harvell et al., 2000). These events occur at physiological serum E₂ concentrations (Li et al., 2004).

The ACI rat is unique in that females exhibit high sensitivity to elevated levels of estrogen with a remarkably reduced latency of tumor development (Shull, 2007; Shull, et al., 2001; Harvell et al., 2000). Considering that few other rat strains exhibit this propensity to develop mammary cancer in response to continuous E_2 treatment, it has been suggested that the ACI rat possesses a particular genetic and epigenetic background that underlies its susceptibility to elevated estrogen levels (Schaffer et al., 2006; Gould et al., 2004; Shull et al., 2001; Harvell et al., 2000). Moreover, ACI rats have a low incidence of spontaneous mammary cancer, which allows studies utilizing this model to more clearly delineate the role of elevated levels of E_2 in carcinogenesis (Shull, 2007; Dunning et al., 1948).

1.6.3.1. Inducing Mammary Cancer in the Female ACI Rat

The general protocol for the induction of estrogen-induced mammary tumors is the use of slow-release mini-pellets implanted subcutaneously into the shoulder region to maintain continuously elevated levels of circulating estrogen (Shull, 2007). Serum levels modulated by mini-pellets containing doses as low as 1 mg and as high as 27.5 mg of 17β -estradiol between 6 and 9 weeks of age were found to induce mammary tumors within a relatively short latency period (Li et al., 2004; Turan et al, 2004; Shull et al., 1997), with the majority of studies focusing on maintaining circulating E2 at levels observed during pregnancy, a period when breast cancer risk is elevated in humans (Shull, 2007).

Estrogen was shown to induce morphological changes that progressed from increased proliferation in mammary gland lobules and alveoli, which was followed by focal atypical epithelial hyperplasia preceding the development of multiple independently arising mammary tumors in female ACI rats (Kovalchuk et al., 2007; Weroha et al., 2006; Harvell et al., 2000). These mammary cancers possessed similar characteristics of ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) and primary invasive ductal breast cancers, including overexpression of c-myc and Aurora A kinase during the early stages, chromosome instability, and aneuploidy (Weroha et al., 2006; Li et al., 2004; Li et al., 2003; Li et al., 2002; Arnerlov et al., 2001; Liao and Dickson, 2000; Leal et al., 1995).

Most remarkably, the nonrandom loss of rat chromosome 5 during estrogeninduced mammary cancer in the ACI rat is similar to the loss of human chromosomes 1p and 9p in human breast cancer (Adamovic et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2003; Kleivi et al., 2002; Hoggard et al., 1995). Several known tumor suppressor genes reside within RNO5, including several cyclin dependent kinases (Schaffer et al., 2006). Furthermore, estrogen-mediated amplification of RNO7 and RNO10 in the ACI rat, which encodes the proto-oncogenes c-myc and ErbB2, respectively, is also frequently amplified and overexpressed in human breast cancers (Adamovic et al., 2007; Yu and Hung, 2000; Munzel et al., 1991).

These changes have been associated with the bioactivation of estrogen into genotoxic metabolites. Phase I metabolism of estradiol is mediated by cytochrome P450, of which 2-hydroxyestradiol (2-OHE₂) and 4-hydroxyestradiol (4-OHE₂) are the primary

metabolites formed in both the ACI rat and in humans (Singh et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2007; Rogan et al. 2003). These compounds undergo metabolic redox cycling which generates reactive oxygen species and chemically-reactive quinones, leading to an increased number of gene mutations and ultimately mammary cancer (Park et al., 2009; Singh et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2007; Cavalieri et al., 2006; Fernandez et al., 2006; Cavalieri et al., 1997). Production of these mutagenic metabolites by localized metabolism in breast tissue was also shown to induce the malignant transformation of breast epithelial cells (Rogan et al., 2003; Russo et al., 2003).

Based on the extensive literary evidence, the ACI rat model of estrogen-induced mammary carcinogenesis should be regarded as a highly relevant research tool for defining the molecular mechanisms underlying subsets of breast cancer development, predominantly hormonally-responsive DCIS and some invasive adenocarcinomas.

1.7. PRELIMINARY EVIDENCE OF EPIGENETIC DYSREGULATION IN THE RAT MAMMARY GLAND

In the course of my undergraduate and graduate degree, I was involved in the analysis of the molecular and epigenetic repercussions of exposure to elevated levels of estrogen in the mammary gland of female ACI rats. This study was conducted by Dr. Olga Kovalchuk's laboratory in collaboration with Dr. Igor Pogribny's laboratory (Kovalchuk et al., 2007). We also investigated the epigenetic mechanisms underlying the response to ionizing radiation (Loree et al., 2006). The two papers arising from this work is summarized below to provide additional insight as to the epigenetic nature of these two carcinogens of choice in my Ph.D thesis.

1.7.1. Estrogen-induced Rat Breast Carcinogenesis is Characterized by Alterations in DNA Methylation, Histone Modifications and Aberrant MicroRNA Expression

To study the effect of elevated levels of 17β -estradiol on the epigenome, eight week old ACI rats received a single pellet containing 25 mg of 90-day release minipellets (E₂) which was surgically implanted in the shoulder region. Epigenetic parameters were correlated with morphological alterations and markers of genome instability in the mammary gland after 6, 12, and 18 weeks of treatment.

Constant exposure to elevated level of E_2 produced significant temporal histopathological changes in the mammary gland. Normal appearing alveolar and ductal hyperplasia was observed at 6 weeks and progressed to focal atypical hyperplastic changes by 12 weeks. Atypical hyperplasia, which represents a putative precursor lesion to mammary carcinoma in this model (Li et al, 2004; Shull et al., 1997), suggests clonal

expansion of epithelial cells with aberrant growth which progressed in severity by 18 weeks. Lobular involution was also evident in all mammary glands examined at 18 weeks, which may be attributed to the depletion of estrogen in the 90-day release minipellet. Interestingly, E_2 -treated rats retained alveolar atypical hyperplastic foci in the mammary gland at 18 weeks, suggesting two possibilities: (1) that the regression of atypical hyperplastic lesions, after discontinuation of E_2 treatment, lagged behind involution of typical lobular hyperplasia of the mammary gland; or (2) some atypical foci no longer required E_2 stimulation for maintenance and/or support of further growth. Additional studies will be needed to examine these possibilities.

These morphological alterations were paralleled by significant increases in the incorporation of $[^{3}H]dCTP$ into HpaII-digested DNA isolated from the mammary tissue of E₂-treated rats, which indicated an increase in global DNA hypomethylation. In view of studies suggesting that the genome-wide loss of DNA methylation in cancer cells is associated mainly with large repetitive elements (Rollins et al., 2006), methylation analysis of the long interspersed nucleotide elements (LINE1), which constitutes 23% of the rat genome, was found to decrease at 18 weeks.

A sustained decrease in DNMT1/PCNA ratio, beginning after 6 and 12 weeks of E_2 -exposure, may be one of the contributing factors to the observed loss of DNA methylation. Although the DNMT1/PCNA ratio in mammary glands of E_2 -treated rats at 18 weeks increased compared to 6 and 12 week values in the estrogen-treated groups, the levels still remained lower than the control values.

Recent studies have indicated that the global loss of DNA methylation may also be associated with alterations in the methylation of histones, specifically with a decreased

trimethylation of H4 lysine 20, and that these changes may be indicative of the tumorigenic process (Fraga et al., 2005B). To determine if the interrelationship between changes of DNA methylation and histone H3 and H4 trimethylation during mammary gland carcinogenesis may be mediated by elevated levels of estrogen, we targeted antibodies against these epigenetic modifications using western blotting techniques. Our findings demonstrate that exposure to E_2 leads to a rapid and sustained loss of H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 in breast tissue. Interestingly, these changes were paralleled by a prominent increase in the histone methyltransferase Suv39h1, while the expression of Suv4-20h2 did not change significantly.

Several possible mechanisms can be proposed for the loss of DNA and histone methylation, such as estrogen-induced DNA damage, increased cell proliferation, altered expression of DNA methyltransferases, and interference or influence of preexisting modifications in the amino-terminal tails of histones H3 and H4. Any or all of these mechanisms can severely impact heterochromatin organization, thereby predisposing the cells to genomic instability and neoplastic cell transformation.

Recent studies have indicated that overexpression of Aurora-A kinase is a crucial event during early mammary gland development, leading to chromosomal instability and centrosome amplification (Marumoto et al., 2005; Li et al., 2004). In order to determine whether the observed epigenetic changes are mechanistically related to genome destabilization and malignant transformation, we measured the level of Aurora-A kinase in the rat mammary gland. Our data demonstrated that increased levels of Aurora-A can be detected after 18 weeks of E_2 -treatment, just 6 weeks after the first appearance of atypical hyperplasia, a precursor lesion to mammary gland tumors. A comparison of the

dynamic changes in Aurora-A expression with morphological changes in the mammary gland clearly demonstrates that over-expression of Aurora-A is associated with the progression of the neoplastic process rather than the initiation of malignancy.

The results of this study show that deregulation of cellular epigenetic processes plays a crucial role in the mechanism of E_2 -induced mammary carcinogenesis in ACI rats, especially in the tumor initiation process. As mentioned above, there is a major gap in our understanding of the role of epigenetic dysregulation in carcinogenesis, particularly a lack of knowledge about specific epigenetic changes that may be mechanistically related to neoplastic transformation, and the precise timeline of epigenetic alterations occurring in the transition of a normal cell to a tumor cell. By comparing the emergence of epigenetic alterations with the observed morphological changes in mammary tissue, we were able to provide evidence that epigenetic changes precede formation of preneoplastic lesions. The observed changes in DNA and histone methylation, may lead to the emergence of epigenetically reprogrammed cells with a tumor-specific phenotype leading to subsequent malignant transformation.

1.7.2. Radiation-induced Molecular Changes in Rat Mammary Tissue: Possible Implications for Radiation-induced Carcinogenesis

The aim of this study was to analyze the epigenetic changes induced by a high dose of IR in the rat mammary gland. A well-established rat model (Russo and Russo 1996B; Ronckers et al., 2005) was utilized to analyse the molecular and epigenetic changes induced in mammary gland tissue upon exposure to ionizing radiation. Six month old, sexually mature female Long Evans rats were exposed to 5 Gy of X-rays (90 kV, 5 mA) and epigenetic changes were analysed 6 and 96 hours after exposure.

Using a methylation-sensitive cytosine extension assay we observed a significant and persistent loss of genomic cytosine methylation in the exposed mammary tissue. This study is the first to report on the loss of DNA methylation in radiation-exposed rat mammary tissue.

A number of mechanisms may be responsible for the loss of methyl-groups, including altered activity of DNA methyltransferases and methyl-binding proteins in the rat mammary gland. In this study, global DNA hypomethylation was paralleled by a reduction in the levels of maintenance (DNMT1) and *de novo* (DNMT3a and 3b) DNA methyltransferases and methyl-binding protein, MeCP2 . Importantly, the changes became even more pronounced 96 hours after exposure.

The observed DNA hypomethylation was also linked, at least in part, to the DNA repair processes activated in response to the radiation-induced DNA strand breaks. Radiation exposure led to the significant upregulation of Rad51, Ku70 and DNA Pol. β protein levels 6 and 96 h after exposure, indicative of the profound activation of DNA repair by homologous recombination (HR), non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), and base excision repair (BER) pathways, respectively. Of particular importance is the persistent up-regulation of the Rad51 protein, which has been shown to mediate recombination between misaligned sequences, resulting in loss of heterozygosity, a known feature of cancer cells (Richardson et al., 2004).

To address if the observed changes were reflected on the cellular level, we analysed cellular proliferation and cell death in the control and exposed mammary tissue.

We have noted that exposure to 5 Gy of X-rays has led to a statistically significant elevation of apoptosis after 6 hours followed by a slight elevation in the number of (PCNA)-positive cells 96 hours after irradiation. Concurrently, we observed a delayed increase in the levels of phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (p-ERK1/2) and phosphorylated AKT kinase (p-AKT), as well as elevated levels of cyclin D1 and cyclin D3, suggesting IR alters pro-survival signaling pathways and cell cycle control mechanisms in mammary tissue.

In conclusion, the results of this study have demonstrated that a single exposure to 5 Gy of X rays leads to noticeable epigenetic changes in the rat mammary gland that occurred in the context of activation of DNA damage and repair and alterations in the pro-survival growth-stimulatory cellular signaling pathways. Of special importance was the fact that all the aforementioned changes occurred in a delayed fashion and manifested 96 h after exposure, when the initial damage was repaired, while significant epigenetic changes still persisted. The roles that global DNA hypomethylation, elevated recombination, and altered signaling play in radiation-induced breast carcinogenesis must be further elucidated as these changes might appear to be early markers of radiation-induced oncotransformation.

1.8. SUMMARY

In summary, from the literature and our preliminary data, we have learned that epigenetic mechanisms are induced in response to carcinogenic agents. However, relatively few studies have evaluated the response to a combined insult of carcinogens. Furthermore, the role of epigenetic changes in the early stages of carcinogenesis have never been addressed *in vivo*. More importantly, the persistence and long-term repercussions of these epigenetic modifications upon removal of the carcinogen need to be discerned.

1.9. HYPOTHESES

Rationale:

The epigenome responds to a dynamic environment to establish flexible control over gene expression. In this way, epigenetics regulate a wide spectrum of cellular processes, ranging from normal development and differentiation to the malignant transformation of breast epithelial cells. The epigenetic response to chemical and physical carcinogens in the breast tissue has yet to be discerned. This phenomenon has only recently been identified in the epigenetic domain. The mechanisms of epigeneticmediated susceptibility have yet to be explored.

We hypothesized that:

- 1. Epigenetic changes occur early, prior to tumor development. We predicted that these changes could be detected very early after the exposure to elevated levels of estrogen. Furthermore, we hypothesized that these epigenetically-mediated changes may be reversible upon removal of the estrogen mini-pellet.
- 2. Exposure to two known human breast carcinogens, estrogen and ionizing radiation, would induce morphological changes that would be greater than expected from the exposure to either carcinogen alone. We hypothesized that these changes would be mediated by imbalances in proliferation and apoptosis.
- 3. Exposure to elevated levels of estrogen and radiation would induce alterations in DNA methylation patterns and histone markers in the rat mammary gland. We expect these changes would be correlated with alterations in morphology, DNA repair, and cellular signaling. Furthermore, we predict that the combined
exposure to both carcinogens would produce an epigenetic response that is more pronounced than their separate application.

Several experiments were designed to test the proposed hypotheses. These experiments will be further described as chapters of this thesis.

2. REVERSIBILITY OF PREMALIGNANT ESTROGEN-INDUCED

EPIGENETIC CHANGES

¹Chapter 2 accepted for publication in its entirety: Kutanzi K, Koturbash I, Kovalchuk O. Reversibility of pre-malignant estrogen-induced epigenetic changes. Cell Cycle, in press. (Submission number 2010CC2639)

2.1. ABSTRACT

The development of early detection and prevention strategies of breast cancer relies on defining molecular and cellular events that characterize progressive alterations underlying preneoplastic changes in the mammary epithelium. Studies have shown that estrogen exerts its carcinogenic effects through both genetic and epigenetic pathways to promote imbalances in proliferation and apoptosis, genomic instability and cancer.

The purpose of this study was to identify the earliest epigenetic changes that could be detected in response to estrogen treatment. More importantly, having detected these early pre-malignant epigenetic changes, a follow-up study was designed to address the potential to reverse these estrogen-induced alterations. Using a well-established ACI rat model, morphological and epigenetic changes were identified in the mammary gland tissue as early as 2 days after exposure to constitutively elevated estrogen levels produced by continuous release estrogen mini-pellets.

Progressive hyperplastic changes were paralleled by epigenetic disturbances, including the upregulation of DNA methyltransferases and hyperacetylation of histone residues. These changes could be detected early, and they continued to persist if estrogen was maintained within a high physiological range. Epigenetic features of short-term estrogen exposure were strikingly similar to hallmarks of cancer promotion and progression. Yet, importantly, these changes exhibited a degree of reversibility if a source of elevated levels of estrogen was removed.

Knowing that operational reversibility during the promotion stage of carcinogenesis provides a window for intervention, the potential to reverse the effects of

elevated levels of estrogen prior to tumor development may prove to be a promising avenue to explore.

2.2. INTRODUCTION

The development of early detection and prevention strategies of breast cancer relies on defining the molecular and cellular events that characterize progressive alterations underlying preneoplastic changes in the mammary epithelium. The identification of factors that increase the incidence of breast cancer is an important step forward in identifying high risk individuals. For a number of years, epidemiological and experimental evidence has collectively implicated the natural occurring hormone, estrogen, in breast cancer development (Russo and Russo, 2006). These studies have found evidence that elevated levels of estrogen exposure, as well as the duration, is intricately linked to breast cancer risk (Sante et al., 2009; Russo and Russo, 2006). With the classification of steroidal estrogen as a known human carcinogen by NIEHS in 2002 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002), this brings to light a serious health concern for the increasing prevalence of estrogen exposure. Not only is there increased evidence of negative health effects due to environmental exposure, but millions of women turning to hormonal therapy as a method of regulating fertility and controlling menopausal symptoms.

Although it is well-accepted that estrogen is involved in the etiology of breast cancer, there remains ambiguity in the precise role of estrogen in the biology of breast cancer induction. The effects of estrogen on the target cells in breast tissue are believed to be mediated through a number of mechanisms (Jensen et al., 2009). The most generally mechanism uses receptor-mediated interactions leading to transactivation of specific genes regulating a wide variety of cellular processes in favor of cellular proliferation (Terasaka et al., 2004). In addition, estrogen shortens the cell cycle (Prall et

al., 1998; Clarke et al., 1994: Brunner et al., 1989), such that a spontaneous mutation that may arise during DNA synthesis could be passed on to daughter cells without being repaired. Furthermore, estrogen metabolism produces genotoxic by-products that can directly damage DNA (Zhang et a., 2001), thereby disrupting normal cellular processes such as apoptosis, proliferation, and DNA repair (Pedra et al., 2009; Mense et al., 2008; Okobia and Bunker, 2006; Russo and Russo, 2006). As a strong promoting agent, estrogen-driven proliferation not only increases the number of estrogen-responsive cells, but also potentially stimulates clonal expansion of pre-cancerous cells (Cheng et al., 2008; Yager and Davidson, 2006; Yoshidome et al., 2000).

Interestingly, the promotion of these initiated cells requires continuous exposure to estrogen to progress pre-neoplastic lesions to a state of transformation. Removal of the promoting agent has been shown to reverse the changes, both at the level of gene expression and at the cellular level (Clarke et al., 1994; Pitot and Dragan, 1991). The regression of preneoplastic lesions upon withdrawal of promoting agents has been linked to the "redifferentiation" or remodeling of the mammary gland (Meidna et al., 2003; Hikita et al., 1999; Tatematus et al., 1983). Knowing that operational reversibility during the promotion stage of carcinogenesis provides a window for intervention, the potential to reverse the effects of elevated levels of estrogen prior to tumor development may prove to be a promising avenue to explore. For example, tamoxifen, an anti-estrogen chemopreventive agent was shown to effectively inhibit or reduce breast carcinogenesis in BRAC1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers (Kinget al., 2001; Narod et al., 2000). Clearly the use of biomarkers to identify high-risk women who would benefit from similar chemopreventive measures constitutes an important step forward in cancer prevention.

The development of strategies to reverse these premalignant changes, however, depends on our ability to detect early molecular and cellular events.

Although many studies have addressed the contributions of genetic factors in the early stages of breast carcinogenesis, the role of epigenetic mechanisms remains unclear. Recent studies have demonstrated that epigenetic dysregulation leads to changes in gene expression, including the activation of oncogenes, and suppression of tumor suppressors that can produce similar effects as genetic mutations (Moss and Wallrath, 2007; Ehlrich, 2002). Considering the important role of epigenetic regulation of gene expression, it is becoming increasingly clear that understanding the effect of carcinogens on the epigenome is key to unraveling the complex multistage process of carcinogenesis.

This importance is further underlined by the fact that the global loss of DNA methylation, which is one of the best studied epigenetic markers, is a known hallmark of cancer (Feinberg and Tycko, 2004; Baylin et al., 2001; Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983A). Evidence also suggests that this epigenetic mechanism is altered prior to tumor development, and may serve as an early marker for increased predisposition of cancer development (Kristensen and Hansen, 2009; Pogribny and Beland, 2009). Combined with the knowledge that estrogen can change methylation patterns (Cheng et al, 2008), this suggests that elevated levels of estrogen may induce carcinogenesis through epigenetic mechanisms.

Previously, we have shown that estrogen-induced epigenetic dysregulation occurs prior to tumor development (Kovalchuk et al., 2007), yet the earliest point at which these epigenetic changes can be detected in response to elevated levels of estrogen remains

unknown. More importantly, the potential reversibility of these epigenetic changes upon removal of the stimulating agent has yet to be explored.

In the present study we have used the well-established ACI rat model of estrogeninduced breast carcinogenesis to address these questions. The ACI rat shares remarkably similar etiology as human breast cancer, with the developing mammary gland of a young adult being the most susceptible for chemical and physical agents to exert their carcinogenic potential (Ariazi et al., 2005; Russo and Russo, 1982). By examining the influence of estrogen exposure on epigenetic mechanisms that parallel the histological progression of premalignant changes in mammary gland, we hope to characterize the sequence of early epigenetic markers that can be detected prior to tumor development. Furthermore, we hypothesize that the removal of the promoting agent will lead to the regression of pre-malignant alterations that may be related to "redifferentiation" and remodeling of the epignomic landscape. Understanding the epigenetic mechanisms that underlie this window of operational reversibility may allow cheompreventive strategies to be implemented to revert or halt these early estrogen-induced changes prior to the development of cancer.

2.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.3.1. Early Effects of Estrogen Exposure:

2.3.1.1. Animal Treatment

To evaluate the specific epigenetic characteristics that mark the early stages of carcinogenesis, intact, female ACI rats were purchased from Harlan Spraque-Dawley, Inc. (Indianapolis, IN). The animals were housed 2 per cage in a temperature-controlled (24°C) room with a 12 hour light-dark cycle, and given *ad libitum* access to water and NIH-31 pelleted diet. Handling and care of animals was in strict accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council for Animal Care and Use. The procedures have been approved by the University of Lethbridge Animal Welfare Committee.

At 6 weeks of age, the rats were anaesthesized with ketamine and xylazine. Estrogen mini-pellets containing 7.5 mg 17β -estradiol released over a 90 day period were implanted subcutaneously, while control groups received a placebo pellet (Innovative Research of America Inc., Sarasota, FL.). Five rats per group were humanely euthanized at 2 days, 1 week, 2 weeks, and 4 weeks.

The paired caudal inguinal mammary glands were excised. One gland was frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for subsequent analyses. The contralateral gland was fixed in 4% PFA for 48 h, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 microns, and mounted on glass slides.

2.3.2. Persistence of Estrogen-induced Changes

2.3.2.1. Animal Treatment

Continuous estrogen treatment was induced in young adult female ACI rats of 7-8 weeks in age using the same dose of estrogen as described above for either a 4 or 12 week time period. To determine the persistence of estrogen-induced changes, after 4 weeks of exposure, the estrogen pellet was replaced with a placebo pellet for an additional 8 weeks (4+8 group). Ten animals per group were humanely euthanized at each of the 4 and 12 week time points, including control groups implanted with a placebo pellet. The mammary gland was then processed as detailed above.

2.3.3. Histopathological Evaluation

The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin to evaluate the estrogeninduced morphological alterations. The mammary gland tissue was graded as follows: simple epithelium (1); mild hyperplasia (2); moderate hyperplasia (3); moderate-severe hyperplasia (4); severe hyperplasia (5). Each tissue was graded according to the most disrupted morphological pattern observed within it. The histological assessment was independently confirmed by two trained pathologist blinded to the treatments.

2.3.4. Global DNA Methylation Analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from rat mammary tissue by using Qiagen DneasyTM Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. The extent of the global DNA methylation was evaluated with a well-established radiolabeled [³H]-dCTP extension assay (Pogribny et al., 1999). In brief, 1 μg of genomic DNA was digested with 20 U of methylation-sensitive HpaII restriction endonuclease (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) for 16-18 h at 37°C. A second DNA aliquot (1 µg) of undigested DNA served as background control. The single nucleotide extension reaction was performed in a 25 µl reaction mixture containing 1.0 µg DNA, 1X PCR buffer II, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 U AmpliTaq DNA polymerase, and 0.1 µl of [³H]dCTP (57.4 Ci/mmol), and incubated at 56°C for 1 h. Samples were applied to DE-81 ion-exchange filters and washed three times with 0.5 M Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) at room temperature. The filters were dried and processed for scintillation counting. The [³H]dCTP incorporation into DNA was expressed as mean disintegrations per minute (dpm) per µg of DNA after subtraction of the dpm incorporation in undigested samples (background). Two technical repeats of each experiment were conducted to ensure consistency of the data.

2.3.5. Western Blot Analysis of Protein Expression

Mammary tissue was sonicated in 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), followed by centrifugation at 10,000 x g at 4°C for 10 min. The supernatant was collected and boiled for 10 min. Equal amounts of proteins (20 μg) were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis (PAGE) on 8% polyacrylamide gels and transferred to PVDF membranes (Amersham, Baie d'Urfé, Quebéc). Membranes were probed with primary antibodies against DNMT1 (1:1000 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), MeCP2 and β-Actin (1:1000 Abcam, Cambridge, MA). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) and the ECL Plus immunoblotting detection system (Amersham, Baie d'Urfé, Quebéc) were used to reveal antibody binding. Chemiluminescence was detected by Biomax MR films (Eastman

Kodak, New Haven, CT). All membranes were stained with Coomassie Blue (BioRad, Hercules, CA) to confirm equal protein loading. Signals were quantified using NIH ImageJ 1.63 Software and normalized to loading controls. Images are representative of two independent immunoblots.

2.3.6. Immunohistochemical Analysis

Tissue microarrays comprised of 2.5 mm representative cores from each treatment were mounted on positively charged slides, for immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis. The tissue was fixed to the slides by baking at 60°C for 1 hour, deparaffinized, rehydrated, steamed in antigen retrieval citrate buffer (pH 6.0) (DAKO, Carpinteria, CA), endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched in 3% H₂O₂ and blocked in 3% goat serum (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). Tissues were probed with primary antibodies against DNMT3a (1:400, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) and AcH4K12 (1:300; Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA). Binding was detected by avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase and visualized with DAB (ABC Staining System, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). Tissues were counterstained with hematoxylin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA).

Staining for histone modifications were scored semi-quantitatively in at least 5 high power fields per animal in each group. The sections were evaluated by the percentage of positive cells in each field of view.

2.3.7. Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical analyses were conducted using the students *t*-test. P-values <0.05 were considered significant.

2.4. RESULTS

2.4.1. Influence of Short-term Exposure on Mammary Gland Histopathology

Morphological alterations were one of the first changes that could be detected after short term exposure to elevated levels of exogenous estrogen (Table 2.1; Figure 2.1). Mild hyperplastic changes were detected in 4/5 animals in the estrogen-treated group at 2 days, which progressed in severity upon continuous exposure to estrogen. By 4 weeks, all but one animal exposed to constitutively elevated estrogen exhibited severe hyperplasia, giving an average score of 4.6 ± 0.5 . Importantly, the removal of the estrogen pellet at 4 weeks, followed by 8 weeks without, led to the regression of hyperplastic changes. Only a mild grade of hyperplasia was observed in 3/8 animals in the 4+8 group, averaging a score of 1.4 ± 0.5 (Table 2.2; Figure 2.4).

2.4.2. Effects of Elevated Levels of Estrogen on DNA Methylation

Estrogen is known to influence DNA methylation (Cheng et al., 2008), which coordinates both gene expression profiles of epithelial cells and the architecture of the mammary gland (Plachot and Lelievre, 2004). To determine if the observed alterations in mammary gland morphology was correlated with changes in methylation, we used the global HpaII-based cytosine extension assay to measure the levels of global DNA methylation. Interestingly, we did not detect any significant changes in global DNA methylation levels within 4 weeks of exposure to elevated levels of estrogen (Figure 2.2). However, by 12 weeks of continuous exposure to 17β -estradiol, we observed a 1.3-fold loss of global methylation (p<0.01) (Figure 2.5). Regardless of global methylation levels, past research has shown that the dysregulation of DNA methylation machinery is an early event that precedes tumor development (Belinsky et al., 1996), and is paralleled by the dysregulation of DNA methylation machinery during hyperplasia (Kovalchuk et al., 2007). In this study, we found evidence for the induction of both DNMT1, and DNMT3a, which are typically designated as maintenance and *de novo* methyltransferase, respectively (Figure 2.5). The percentage of DNMT3a-positive cells increased by 1.3-fold as early as 2 days, and remained greater than control levels by up to 3.3-fold during the 12 weeks of estrogen exposure (p<0.05). Interestingly, DNMT3a levels remained significantly elevated even after the estrogen pellet was removed (1.2 fold, p<0.05), although these changes were significantly less than in the rats exposed to continuously elevated levels of estrogen. In contrast, the 20% increase in DNMT1 observed between week 1 and 4 of estrogen-treatment was diminished upon the removal of the estrogen pellet in the 4+8 week group.

Research indicating a positive correlation between DNMT1 function and the progression of hyperplastic changes towards malignancy suggests an important role for MeCP2 in its capacity to maintain DNMT1's methyltransferase activity (Tryndyak et al., 2006; Kimura and Shiota, 2003; Saito et al., 2003). We noted that the induction of DNMT1 at 1 week of estrogen treatment was paralleled by a 20% increase in MeCP2 (p<0.05), which continued to be upregulated 12 weeks after exposure (Figure 2.2; Figure 2.5). However, removal of the estrogen pellet at 4 weeks, followed by 8 weeks without an exogenous estrogen source, resulted in the return of MeCP2 levels to that of age-matched controls.

2.4.3. Effects of Elevated Levels of Estrogen on Histone H4 Lysine 12 Acetylation

Several reports have been published showing that estrogen hormones recruit mechanisms regulating histone acetylation to bring about their proliferative effects (Gunin et al., 2005; Margueron et al., 2004, Sun et al., 2001). The acetylation of histone H4 lysine 12 (H4K12), in particular, is required for the proper formation of the newly synthesized chromatin during proliferation (Gunin et al., 2005). To determine if the estrogen-induced hyperplastic changes were paralleled by altered levels of H4K12 acetylation in the virgin mammary gland, we used immunohistochemical methods to detect acetylated H4K12 (Figure 2.3). A slight, but significant increase in the number of AcH4K12-positive cells was observed after 2 weeks of exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen relative to age-matched control (10% increase; p<0.05). By 4 weeks, the levels of acetylation were more pronounced and remained higher than control levels for up to 12 weeks of exposure (Figure 2.6). Although the level of histone acetylation remained higher in the 4+8 group than in age-matched controls, it was less than both the 4 and 12 week groups exposed to continuously elevated levels of estrogen (Figure 2.6).

2.5. DISCUSSION

The role of estrogen in the mammary gland remains a topic of much debate. Short-term exposure to pregnancy levels of estrogen was shown to have protective effects (Russo et al., 2005; Rajkumar et al., 2001), whereas long-term exposure resulted in promotion of initiated cells and ultimately the development of cancer (Clemons and Goss, 2001; Henderson et al., 1982).

The mammary gland is a dynamic tissue that is very sensitive to the hormonal milieu, with transient proliferation of epithelial cells occurring in parallel with the estrous cycle (Schedin et al., 2000). Therefore, in discussing mammary gland morphology, one must take into consideration the natural developmental processes. The fact that, during the first few weeks of the experiment, several cases of slight hyperplasia were found in the control groups likely represents the effect of natural hormones in stimulating the maturation of the mammary gland in young adult female rats. Although this may also, in part, explain the observation of mild hyperplasia in 4/5 animals in the estrogen-treated group at 2 days, the observed progression to moderate hyperplasia 5 days later, implies involvement of the exogenous source of estrogen. This positive correlation between estrogen exposure and morphological alterations provides further evidence of the carcinogenic potential of estrogen, which has been proposed to be capable of stimulating the clonal expansion of initiated cells (Yager and Davidson, 2006; Yoshidome et al., 2000). Alternatively estrogen has been shown to reduce the amount of time spent in the cell cycle (Prall et al., 1998; Clarke et al., 1994; Brunner et al. 1989), thereby increasing the probability of unrepaired errors.

Importantly, we have shown that the removal of the estrogen pellet at 4 weeks, followed by 8 week period without, was necessary for the regression of hyperplastic changes in the mammary gland. The observation of mild proliferation in the 4+8 group may be attributed to the process of restructuring in the mammary gland. Interestingly, studies have also shown that excess estrogen may be stored in adipocytes and released over time, providing weak proliferative effects in nearby tissue (Feher et al., 1982).

Exposure to estrogen is known to change DNA methylation patterns (Cheng et al., 2008), allowing for increased proliferation (Prall et al., 1998). Estrogen-driven proliferation increases DNA synthesis by recruiting cells into the cell cycle (Prall et al., 1998), thereby increasing the proportion of cells with nascent, unmethylated DNA strands. Although this would likely lead to the activation of methylation machinery to maintain the faithful replication of methylation patterns, several studies have shown that these hyperplastic changes are paralleled by the global loss of methylation (Pogribny and Beland, 2009; Kovalchuk et al., 2007; Arens et al., 2005; Bernardino et al., 1997).

The fact that we did not detect significant changes in global methylation during short-term exposure to estrogen, suggests that the changes induced by estrogen-driven hyperplasia and DNA methyltransferase activity are balanced in such a way that no apparent differences in global DNA methylation levels are detected. It is possible that this observation is attributed to the maintenance of normal methylation, which is thought to prevent the malignant transformation of mammary epithelial cells (Pogribny and Beland, 2009). Alternatively, the induction of DNA methyltransferases may establish *de novo* regional hyper- and hypomethylation, resulting in the silencing of tumor suppressors and activation of oncogenes (Cheng et al., 2008). In this study, we have

found evidence for the induction of both maintenance and *de novo* DNA methyltransferases within a week of exposure to elevated estrogen levels. Furthermore, DNMT1, which is predominately classified as a maintenance methyltransferase, was also shown to have *de novo* activity (Yoder et al. 1997), and increases of DNMTase activity has been associated with neoplastic development (Belinsky et al., 1996). The positive correlation between estrogen-induced hyperplastic changes and DNMT1 was further supported by the early and long-term induction of MeCP2 in the present study, which has been shown to stabilize DNMT1 function in methylation-mediated gene silencing (Kimura and Shiota, 2003).

Alternatively, at some point the maintenance methyltransferase activity may become overwhelmed resulting in global hypomethylation, a well-characterized marker of carcinogenesis, that tips the scale in favor of the malignant transformation. The observed loss of global methylation at 12 weeks may be indicative of an overload of the methyltransferase machinery. Indeed, the fact that DNMT1 levels have returned to control levels, despite the increased levels of proliferation in the estrogen-treated group, seems to support this hypothesis. Improper maintenance of methylation patterns, especially in an estrogen-driven environment, would likely lead to genomic instability and ultimately cancer.

The removal of the exogenous source of estrogen, prior to this point, is thought to involve the reversible enhancement or repression of gene expression (Medina et al., 2003). In support of this notion of reversibility, the induction of DNMT1 and MeCP2 observed after 4 weeks of continuous estrogen exposure was diminished to control levels. Only the levels of DNMT3a remained significantly elevated even after the estrogen pellet

was removed. Research showing that DNA methylation regulates tissue organization and epithelial differentiation in the mammary gland (Plachot et al., 2004) may indicate that regression of preneoplastic changes requires DNMT-mediated epigenetic remodeling or "redifferentiation". We therefore hypothesize that DNMT3a may play a role in returning methylation patterns to a more tightly regulated epigenetic profile.

A second epigenetic mechanism involved in regulating gene expression and cellular differentiation in the mammary epithelium is the acetylation of lysine residues on histone tails (Wang et al., 2001; Loidl, 1988). The addition of acetyl groups decreases the interaction between core histone proteins and DNA, thereby allowing greater access to transcription factors, which underlies the positive correlation documented between histone acetylation and mitotic index (Kininis et al., 2007; Gunin et al., 2005). Several studies have shown that by recruiting mechanisms controlling histone acetylation, estrogen is effectively able to stimulate proliferation (Kininis et al., 2007; Gunin et al., 2005). In support of the literary evidence, we have shown that hyperacetylation of H4K12, which is required for loading newly synthesized histone proteins onto replicated DNA (Groth, 2009; Sobel et al., 1995), parallels increases in estrogen-induced proliferation. Moreover, the reduction in H4K12 hyperacetylation upon removal of the estrogen pellet, relative to the groups receiving continuous estrogen treatment, correlates with the reduced proliferation observed in the 4+8 week group.

In summary, our findings show that short-term estrogen exposure induces hyperplastic changes in the mammary gland that are paralleled by changes in epigenetic mechanisms. Exposure to elevated levels of estrogen alters components of the DNA methylation machinery that can be detected even at the very early stages. Although these

changes did not result in significant difference in global levels of methylation, the persistent upregulation of DNMT3a and hyperacetylation of H4K12 indicate that further studies are required to determine if changes are induced in specific genes and, if so, their role in signaling pathways linked to breast carcinogenesis.

Importantly, we have shown that the majority of epigenetic parameters that were measured returned to similar levels as in the age-matched controls upon removal of the estrogen pellet. Although there was a persistent upregulation of DNMT3a and hyperacetylation of H4K12, these changes were significantly lower after 8 weeks without exposure to the exogenous source of elevated estrogen compared to 4 and 12 week groups receiving constitutively elevated levels of estrogen. We hypothesize that the regression of preneoplastic changes upon withdrawal of the promoting agent may, in part, be due to epigenetic redifferentiation. Further understanding of the epigenetic mechanisms that underlie this window of operational reversibility is required to implement strategies targeted to halt these changes prior to the development of cancer. Moreover, the observed epigenetic changes should be explored as potential biomarkers for breast cancer predisposition, by which high risk individuals who would benefit most from chemopreventive treatments could be identified.

2.6. FIGURES AND TABLES

Table 2.1. The progression of morphological changes in the mammary gland of

female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen.

Morphological changes in the mammary gland after exposure to sham or estrogen (E_2) treatment at 2 days, 1 week, 2 weeks, and 4 weeks. Data presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=5). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. Scoring: 1 – histologically normal; 2 – mild hyperplasia; 3 – moderate hyperplasia; 4 – moderate/severe hyperplasia; 5 – severe hyperplasia.

Group		Histopathology score
2 days	Control	1.2 ± 0.4
	E_2	1.8 ± 0.4
1 week	Control	1.4 ± 0.5
	E_2	$2.6 \pm 0.8*$
2 weeks	Control	1.2 ± 0.4
	E_2	4.0 ± 0.0 *
4 weeks	Control	1.0 ± 0.0
	E ₂	$4.6 \pm 0.5*$



Figure 2.1. The progression of morphological changes in the mammary gland of

female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen.

Representative images of the rat mammary gland after 2 days, 1 week, 2 weeks, and 4 weeks of sham-treatment (A-D respectively) and after estrogen-treatment (E-H respectively) (Original magnification x10).





(A) Global levels of DNA methylation in response to short-term estrogen exposure.

(B) Western blot analysis of DNMT1 and MeCP2 protein levels. (C) Percentage of DNMT3a-positive cells. *Significantly different from the age-matched control. Grey bars – control-treatment; black bars – estrogen-treatment. The right panel shows representative images from two independent technical repeats.



Figure 2.3. Immunohistochemical analysis of acetylated histone levels induced in response to elevated levels of estrogen.

Percentage of cells stained positive for the acetylated histone H4 lysine 12 residue (AcH4K12). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. Grey bars – controltreatment (Ct); black bars – estrogen-treatment (E₂). The right panel shows representative immunohistochemical images from two independent technical repeats (Original magnification x100)

Table 2.2. Progressive morphological changes in the mammary gland after

continuous exposure to estrogen (E₂) treatment, followed by the regression of these

changes after removal of the estrogen pellet.

Data presented as means \pm S.E.M.; n=10. *Significantly different from the age-matched

control. Scoring: 1 – histologically normal; 2 – mild hyperplasia; 3 – moderate

hyperplasia; 4 – moderate/severe hyperplasia; 5 – severe hyperplasia.

Group		Histopathology score
4 weeks	Control	1.0 ± 0.0
	E_2	$3.1 \pm 0.6*$
12 weeks	Control	1.0 ± 0.0
	E ₂	$2.6 \pm 0.5*$
	4+8	1.4 ± 0.5



Figure 2.4. Morphological changes in the mammary gland of female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen.

Representative images of the rat mammary gland after 4 weeks and 12 weeks of shamtreatment (A, B respectively) and after continuous estrogen-treatment (C-E respectively). The estrogen-induced morphological changes regressed 8 weeks after the 4 week estrogen treatment (D) (Original magnification x10).





(A) Global levels of DNA methylation in response to estrogen exposure.

(B) Western blot analysis of DNMT1 and MeCP2 protein levels. (C) Percentage of DNMT3a-positive cells. *Significantly different from the age-matched control.
[#]Significantly different from the rats exposed to continuously elevated levels of estrogen. Grey bars – control-treatment (Ct); black bars – estrogen-treatment (E₂), striped bars – 8 weeks after the removal of the estrogen pellet following 4 weeks of continuous estrogen treatment (4+8). The right panel shows representative images from two independent technical repeats.



Figure 2.6. Immunohistochemical analysis of acetylated histone levels induced in response to elevated levels of estrogen.

Percentage of cells stained positive for the acetylated histone H4 lysine 12 residue (AcH4K12). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. [#]Significantly different from the rats exposed to continuously elevated levels of estrogen. Grey bars – control-treatment (Ct); black bars – estrogen-treatment (E₂). The right panel shows representative immunohistochemical images from two independent technical repeats (Original magnification x40).

3. IMPAIRED P53-DEPENDENT APOPTOSIS AND CELL PROLIFERATION DURING EARLY STAGES OF MAMMARY GLAND CARCINOGENESIS IN ACI RATS

¹Chapter 3 submitted in its entirety:

Kutanzi K, Koturbash I, Bronson R, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. Impaired p53-dependent apoptosis and cell proliferation during early stages of mammary gland carcinogenesis in ACI rats. Mutat Res. (Submission MUT-D-10-00052)

3.1. ABSTRACT

Estrogen and ionizing radiation are well-documented human breast carcinogens, yet the exact mechanisms of their deleterious effects on the mammary gland remain to be discerned. Here we analyze the balance between cellular proliferation and apoptosis in the mammary glands of rats exposed to estrogen and X-ray radiation and the combined action of these carcinogenic agents. We show that combined exposure to estrogen and radiation has a synergistic effect on cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats, as evidenced by a substantially greater magnitude of cell proliferation, especially after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment, when compared to mammary glands of rats exposed to estrogen or radiation alone. We also demonstrate that an imbalance between cell proliferation and apoptosis, rather than enhanced cell proliferation or apoptosis suppression alone, may be a driving force for carcinogenesis. Our studies further suggest that compromised functional activity of p53 may be one of the mechanisms responsible for the proliferation/apoptosis imbalance.

In sum, the results of our study indicate that evaluation of the extent of cell proliferation and apoptosis before the onset of preneoplastic lesions may be a potential biomarker of breast cancer risk after exposure to breast carcinogens.

3.2. INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the most common malignancy in women. Despite advances in understanding the molecular biology of breast cancer and improvements in early detection and treatment, the incidence of invasive breast cancer, the most serious form of breast cancer, in the United States was estimated to increase to 192,370 new cases in 2009 compared to 182,460 in 2008 (Jermal et al., 2009). This clearly illustrates the importance of elucidation of underlying molecular mechanisms associated with breast carcinogenesis and the identification of intermediate cellular and molecular biomarkers that precede mammary carcinogenesis and are indicative of an increased risk of breast cancer (Rose-Hellekant et al., 2006).

The results of numerous studies have identified estrogen and radiation exposure as two main causative factors for human breast cancer development (Pedraza-Fariña, 2006; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Until recently, most studies on estrogen- or radiation-induced breast cancers have largely focused on the propagation of transformed cells and progression of breast cancer. Much less attention has been given to molecular changes occurring between the transition of a normal cell to a tumor cell and for defining how these specific molecular changes may be related mechanistically to neoplastic cell transformation. Investigating these molecular mechanisms in humans is often impractical and, in most cases, unethical (Rose-Hellekant et al., 2006; Tamm et al., 2001). In contrast, relevant animal models of mammary gland carcinogenesis provide an opportunity for the study of breast cancer initiation and progression. In this respect, the Augustus Copenhagen Irish (ACI) rat model of estrogen-induced mammary cancer is unique and the most relevant animal model for studying molecular mechanisms of human

sporadic breast cancer (Jagani and Khosravi-Far, 2008; Jager, 2007; Yager and Davidson, 2006; Land et al., 2003). This model and human sporadic breast cancer share many morphological and molecular features, including estrogen-dependence, chromosomal instability, aneuploidy, deregulation of the cell cycle, and epigenetic abnormalities (Jager, 2007; Yager and Davidson, 2006; Ronckers, 2005).

One of the fundamental features in tumorigenesis is deregulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis (Ye et al., 2004). The perturbations in these two processes lead to a disruption in the balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis, which may occur either through excessive sustained proliferation or failure of programmed cell death. This imbalance represents a pro-tumorigenic principle in tumorigenesis (Shull, 1997; Li and Li, 2003) and is considered one of the hallmarks of cancer (Ye et al., 2004). It is well established that suppression of apoptosis or impaired apoptosis is a fundamental event in tumor formation (Mense et al., 2008; Weroha et al., 2006; Ye et al., 2004); however, the role of these processes in the initiation of breast carcinogenesis remain inconclusive and contradictory (Mense et al., 2008; Rose-Hellekant, 2006).

In our previous studies on estrogen induced mammary carcinogenesis in ACI rats, we demonstrated that epigenetic alterations in general (Kovalchuk et al., 2007), and gene-specific epigenetic alterations of tumor suppressor genes, including *Rassf1a*, *Socs1*, and $p16^{INK4a}$, critical regulators of the cell cycle, cell proliferation and apoptosis, in particular Starland-Davenport et al., 2010), preceded formation of putative preneoplastic mammary gland lesions. The transcriptional inhibition of these genes may cause alterations in the functioning of cell proliferation and apoptosis leading to neoplastic transformation. Based on these considerations in the present study, we hypothesize that breast

carcinogenesis in rats induced by estrogen and/or X-ray exposure is associated with deregulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis, and these changes occur during the early stages of the tumorigenic process preceding formation of preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions in mammary tissue.

3.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.3.1. Animal Treatment and Tissue Preparation

Intact, female ACI rats were purchased from Harlan Spraque-Dawley, Inc. (Indianapolis, IN). The animals were housed 2 per cage in a temperature-controlled (24°C) room with a 12 hour light-dark cycle, and given *ad libitum* access to water and NIH-31 pelleted diet. Handling and care of animals was in strict accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council for Animal Care and Use. The procedures have been approved by the University of Lethbridge Animal Welfare Committee.

At 8 weeks of age, the rats were randomly allocated into 4 groups of 18 rats each: i) sham treated controls; ii) E_2 treated; iii) IR treated; or iv) E_2 and IR treated. The estrogen treated groups received a single pellet, containing 7.5 mg of 90-day release 17βestradiol (Innovative Research of America, Sarasota, FL) that was implanted subcutaneously in the shoulder region under ketamine and xylazine-induced anesthesia. Animals from the irradiated groups were exposed to a single dose of 3 Gy of X-rays 1 week later (90 kVp, 5 mA). Six rats per group were humanely euthanized after 6, 12, and 18 weeks of treatment. All animal experimental procedures were carried out in accordance with animal study protocols approved by the University of Lethbridge Animal Care and Use Committee.

The paired caudal inguinal mammary glands (and fat pad) were excised from the overlying skin. One gland was frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for subsequent analyses. The contralateral gland and fat pad were carefully spread onto a 5x8 cm glass slide and excess fat and other tissue were trimmed. The gland was then placed flat in a cassette *in toto*. This provided a histological specimen with frontal plane

orientation, in which the gland profile is comparable to that of a mammary whole mount. This orientation allows visualization of the arbrorizing pattern of the duct system and associated alveoli more clearly and completely than is possible using a transverse section of the gland. The specimens were then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 48 h, processed, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 microns, and mounted on glass slides. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin for histopathological examination.

3.3.2. Immunohistochemistry

The extent of cell proliferation, apoptosis, and expression of p53 and Mdm2 proteins was determined in mammary gland sections after 6, 12, and 18 weeks of experiment. Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded mammary gland sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated.

3.3.2.1. Cell Proliferation

For evaluation of proliferative activity, the mammary gland sections were stained for Ki-67 protein. Endogenous peroxidases were inhibited by incubation with freshly prepared 3% hydrogen peroxide with 0.1% sodium azide for 10 min at room temperature. The tissue sections were then placed in an antigen retrieval solution (10 mM citrate buffer, pH 6.0) for 15 min in a microwave oven at 100°C at 600 W. After incubation with normal rat 10% serum, mouse monoclonal anti-rat Ki-67 (clone MIB-5, DAKO, Carpinteria, CA) antibody was applied to the sections at the dilution of 1:50 (3.8 µg/ml) for 1 h at room temperature. After incubation with primary antibody, tissue sections were incubated with biotinylated rat anti-mouse IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove,
PA) at a dilution of 1:400 for 30 min at room temperature and later with streptavidinconjugated horseradish peroxidase (ExtrAvidin Kit, Sigma, St. Louis, MO) at a dilution of 1:30 for 30 min at room temperature. Staining was developed with 3,3'diaminobenzidine. For a negative control, 3.8 μg/ml mouse IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch, PA) or phosphate-buffered saline replaced the primary antibody.

3.3.2.2. Apoptosis

Apoptotic bodies in mammary gland sections were detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) mediated dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) of DNA fragments using an ApopTag Peroxidase *in situ* Apoptosis Detection Kit obtained from Serologicals Corporation (Norcross, GA). The TUNEL assay was performed according to the manufacturer's suggestions. Briefly, endogenous peroxidase was quenched as described above and mammary gland sections were incubated with proteinase K (20 µg/ml) for 15 min at room temperature. The permeabilized tissue sections were enzymatically labeled with digoxigenin-nucleotide via TdT and subsequently exposed to horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-digoxigenin antibody. Staining was developed with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine.

3.3.2.3. p53 and Mdm2 Expression

Staining mammary gland sections for p53 was conducted by using a polyclonal anti-p53 antibody (CM1, Novocastra Reagents; Leica Microsystems, Bannockburn, IL) as described previously (Koturbash et al., 2008).

The number of cells positively stained for Ki-67, p53, and Mdm2, as well as the number of apoptotic cells, was counted per 100 cells in five randomly chosen areas.

3.3.3. Western Blot Analysis

Protein levels of c-myc and β -Actin were determined by Western immunoblot analysis as described previously (Starland-Davenport et al, 2010).

3.3.4. Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical analyses conducted by one- or two-way ANOVA, as appropriate, with pair-wise comparisons being conducted by Dunnett's test.

3.4.1. Effect of 17β-estradiol (E₂), X-ray Radiation (IR), or E₂ Plus IR Exposure on Cell Proliferation in the Mammary Glands of ACI Rats

Table 3.1 shows that continuous exposure of ACI rats to E_2 or combined exposure to E₂ and IR resulted in a substantial increase in epithelial cell proliferation in mammary glands with a magnitude being greater after 6 weeks of exposure. In contrast, IR alone did not induce changes in the rate of cellular proliferation at the time points analyzed. These changes in cellular proliferation were confirmed by measuring the expression of Ki-67 protein in the mammary gland tissue sections. In the mammary glands of ACI rats continuously exposed to E₂, the level of Ki-67 protein significantly increased after 6 weeks of exposure (Figure 3.1). At that time the number of Ki-67-positive cells in the mammary glands of E₂-exposed rats was 7.7 times greater than in the age-matched control animals. At later times (12 and 18 weeks) the extent of cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats continuously exposed to E_2 decreased slightly compared to the 6 week value, but still remained 3.1-4.1 times greater than the control values. The number of Ki-67-positive cells in the mammary glands of IR-exposed rats did not change significantly over the 18 weeks of the experiment. Interestingly, combined exposure of rats to E₂ and IR caused profound increases in cellular proliferation in the mammary gland after 6 and 12 weeks, and especially after 18 weeks. At that time, the level of Ki-67 expression in the mammary glands of rats exposed to E2 plus IR was, respectively, 17.3 and 4.2 times greater than in the age-matched control animals and rats continuously exposed to E_2 only (Figure 3.1).

3.4.2. Effect of E₂, IR, or E₂ Plus IR Exposure on Apoptotic Cell Death in the Mammary Glands of ACI Rats

Continuous exposure of ACI rats to E_2 resulted in a time-dependent increase in apoptotic cell death, as evidenced by the progressive increase of apoptotic bodies in the mammary glands (Figure 3.2). In contrast, ACI rats exposed to IR or E_2 plus IR exhibited increased levels of apoptosis in the mammary gland after 6 and 12 weeks only (Figure 3.2). Surprisingly, there was no difference in the extent of apoptotic cell death in the mammary glands in these two groups of rats after 18 weeks of experiment.

The observed differences in the level of cell proliferation and apoptosis in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR or E_2 plus IR prompted us to investigate whether or not these exposures impaired the balance between cell proliferation and programmed cell death. Figure 3.3 shows that there are no changes in the ratio between cell proliferation and apoptosis in the mammary glands of rats exposed to E_2 or IR over 18 weeks of the experiment, except in rats continuously exposed to E_2 at 6 weeks. In contrast, the combined exposure to E_2 and IR caused a prominent increase in the Ki-67/apoptosis ratio in the mammary glands.

3.4.3. Expression of p53, Mdm2, and c-Myc Proteins in the Mammary Glands of ACI Rats Exposed to E₂, IR, or E₂ and IR

In order to elucidate mechanisms associated with alterations in apoptosis and cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR or E_2 plus IR, we determined the levels of p53 tumor suppressor protein, mouse double minute 2 (Mdm2), and c-myc oncoproteins in mammary gland of control and experimental rats. Figure 3.4

shows that the level of p53 in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 or IR did not change over an 18 week period. In contrast, in mammary glands of rats exposed to E_2 plus IR, p53 became significantly up-regulated after 12 weeks. At that time, the level of p53 protein in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 plus IR was 7 times greater than in the age-matched control rats. At a later time (18 weeks) the level of p53 continued to increase further (Figure 3.4).

The exposure of ACI rats to E_2 or E_2 plus IR resulted in a progressive increase in expression of Mdm2 protein, with differences being significant starting after 6 weeks (Figure 3.4). At later times (12 and 18 weeks) the level of Mdm2 in the mammary glands of ACI rats continuously exposed to E_2 or E_2 plus IR increased significantly compared to the 6 week values; however, the up-regulation of Mdm2 in ACI rats exposed to E_2 plus IR were more pronounced as compared to rats exposed to E_2 only. In contrast, the level of Mdm2 protein in the mammary glands of IR exposed rats did not change over 18 weeks.

Additionally, exposure of ACI rats to E_2 , IR, or E_2 plus IR resulted in upregulation of c-myc protein with a magnitude being greater in mammary glands of rats exposed to both E_2 and IR (Figure 3.5).

3.5. DISCUSSION

Accumulated evidence during recent years indicates that dysregulation in cell proliferation and apoptosis are indispensable features of the tumorigenic process, including breast carcinogenesis. The results of previous studies on breast carcinogenesis have documented elevated proliferative levels in mammary glands precedes the development of preneoplastic lesions (Imaoka et al., 2006; Rose-Hellekant et al., 2006). Indeed, in the present study we demonstrated similar enhanced epithelial cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to two major human breast carcinogens, estrogen and X-ray radiation (Pedraza-Fanña, 2006; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). More importantly, we demonstrate that combined exposure to E₂ and IR had a synergistic effect on cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats, which was evidenced by a substantially greater magnitude of cell proliferation, especially after 12 and 18 weeks of experiment, than in mammary glands of rats exposed to E₂ or IR separately (Figure 3.1).

It has been suggested that neoplastic transformation of mammary epithelial cells is not associated with an increase in cell proliferation but with a decrease in apoptotic cell death (Shilkaitis et al., 2000), which is also considered a fundamental event in tumorigenesis (Ye et al., 2004; Shull et al., 1997). In the present study, we demonstrate that imbalance between cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death, rather than enhanced cell proliferation or suppression of apoptosis alone, is a driving force leading to neoplastic transformation. This was evidenced by the profound dysbalance between cell proliferation and apoptosis in mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 plus IR, whereas in rats exposed to E_2 or IR alone these processes remained unaffected.

To elucidate the mechanisms responsible for this disassociation between cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death, we investigated whether or not this cell proliferation/apoptosis dysbalance is associated with deregulation of critical genes controlling these processes. The p53 tumor suppressor protein, often referred to as "guardian of the genome" (Meulmeester and Jochemsen, 2008; Efeyan and Serano, 2007), is the most important protein involved in the regulation of the decision of cell proliferation and cell death (Hallstrom and Nevins, 2009; Oren, 2003; Chumakov, 2000). Surprisingly, in the present study we detected a profound up-regulation of the p53 protein in the mammary tissue of ACI rats exposed to E₂ and IR together. Interestingly, this was the only experimental group that exhibited dysregulation between cell proliferation and apoptosis (Figure 3.3). This may suggest compromised functional activity of p53 induced by E_2 and IR exposure. Indeed, this suggestion was supported by data demonstrating the sustained up-regulation of Mdm2 in the mammary glands of ACI rats continuously exposed to E_2 and especially to E_2 and IR (Figure 3.4). It is wellestablished that Mdm2 is one of the primary negative regulators of p53 in vivo (Coutts and La Thangue, 2007; Toledo and Wahl, 2006; Haines, 1997) and is often up-regulated in breast cancer (Murray et al., 2005; Saji et al., 2001; Saji et al., 1999). Recent evidence has indicated that Mdm2 does not have to be grossly over-expressed to contribute to tumor development; even a moderate increase in Mdm2 expression has been linked to accelerated tumorigenesis (Bond and Levine, 2007). Mdm2, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, regulates p53 by controlling both the stability of the p53 protein and the activity of p53 as a transcription factor (Bouska and Eischen, 2009A; Toledo and Wahl, 2006). It has been shown that up-regulation of Mdm2 may lead to uncontrolled cell proliferation through its

ability to physically associate with the p53 tumor suppressor protein and block the growth suppressive, cell cycle arrest, and apoptotic functions of p53 (Haines, 1997). In this respect, our results demonstrating an accelerated cell proliferation accompanied by the eminent up-regulation of the oncogenic c-myc (Prochownik, 2008) in mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 and IR (Figure 3.5) in the presence of elevated levels of p53 protein corresponds to this mechanism. Furthermore, recent evidence has convincingly established that, in addition to Mdm2 p53-dependent effects on genomic stability, Mdm2 may, independently of its p53-function, influence genomic stability and mediate neoplastic cell transformation (Bouska and Eischen, 2009A; Bouska Eischen 2009B).

In conclusion, the results of our study demonstrated that alterations in cell proliferation and apoptosis occur in the early stages of mammary carcinogenesis in ACI rats induced by continuous exposure to E_2 or E_2 plus IR. We also found that combined exposure to E_2 and IR has a synergistic effect on cell proliferation and apoptosis resulting in an imbalance of these processes, a pro-tumorigenic event that may trigger neoplastic cell transformation. These results indicate that the evaluation of the extent of cell proliferation and apoptosis before the onset of preneoplastic lesions may be a potential biomarker of breast cancer risk.

3.6. FIGURES AND TABLES

Table 3.1. Summary of pathomorphological changes in the mammary gland of

control ACI rats and ACI rats exposed to estrogen (E2), radiation (IR), or estrogen

plus radiation (E₂+IR) for 18 weeks (mean ± S.E.M.; n=6).

*Significantly different from the age-matched control. Scoring: 1 – normal; 2 – mild

hyperplasia; 3 - moderate hyperplasia; 4 - moderate/severe hyperplasia; 5 - severe

hyperplasia.

Group	Histopathology score		
	6 weeks	12 weeks	18 weeks
Control	1.0 ± 0.0	1.3 ± 0.5	1.0 ± 0.0
E_2	3.5 ± 1.2*	3.7 ± 1.0*	$2.8 \pm 1.0*$
IR	1.0 ± 0.0	1.0 ± 0.0	1.0 ± 0.0
$E_2 + IR$	4.7 ± 0.5 *	2.8 ± 0.8 *	$2.8 \pm 1.0*$



Figure 3.1. Cell proliferation in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR.

(A) Ki-67 labeling indices in mammary tissue sections of control rats and rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR. Data are presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6) relative to control. *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment. (B) Representative images of Ki-67-stained mammary epithelial cells (brown) counterstained with hematoxylin and eosin after 18 weeks (Original magnification x40).





Figure 3.2. Apoptotic cell death in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E₂,

IR, or E₂+IR.

(A) TUNEL indices in mammary tissue sections of control rats and rats exposed to E_2 ,

IR, or E_2 +IR. Data are presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6) relative to control.

*Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey –

estrogen-treatment, striped - radiation-treatment, and black - estrogen- plus radiation-

treatment. (B) Representative images of TUNEL-stained mammary epithelial cells

(brown) counterstained with hematoxylin and eosin after 18 weeks (Original

magnification x40).

Α



Figure 3.3. Ratio Ki-67/apoptosis in the mammary glands of ACI rats exposed to E_2 , IR, or E_2 +IR.

*Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment.



Figure 3.4. Effect of E₂, IR, or E₂+IR exposure on the number of p53- and Mdm2positive cells in the mammary glands of ACI rats.

Data are presented as percent change of p53- or mdm2-positive cells relative to control \pm S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen-plus radiation-treatment.



Figure 3.5. Western blot analysis of c-myc in the mammary glands of ACI rats

exposed to E₂, IR, or E₂+IR.

Western immunblot analysis of c-myc protein levels normalized against β -actin. (A) Representative western immunoblot images of c-myc and β -actin protein. (B) The quantitative analysis of c-myc protein levels. Data are presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6) relative to the age-matched control ACI rats. Control values at each time point were considered as 100%. *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment. 4. EXPOSURE TO ESTROGEN AND IONIZING RADIATION CAUSES EPIGENETIC DYSREGULATION AND ACTIVATION OF MITOGEN-ACTIVATED PROTEIN KINASE PATHWAYS IN THE MAMMARY GLANDS OF ACI RATS

¹Chapter 4 to be submitted in its entirety to EMM:

Kutanzi K, Koturbash I, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. Exposure to estrogen and ionizing radiation causes epigenetic dysregulation and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in the mammary glands of ACI rats.

4.1. ABSTRACT

The impact of environmental mutagens and carcinogens on the mammary gland has recently received a lot of attention. Among the most generally accepted carcinogenic agents identified as factors that may increase breast cancer incidence are ionizing radiation and elevated estrogen levels. However, the molecular mechanisms of mammary gland aberrations associated with radiation and estrogen exposure still need to be further elucidated, especially, the interplay between elevated hormone levels and radiation. Therefore, in the present study, we investigated molecular changes induced in the rat mammary gland by estrogen exposure, ionizing radiation, and the combined action of these two carcinogens using a well-established ACI rat model. We found that continuous exposure of intact female ACI rats to elevated levels of estrogen or to both estrogen and radiation resulted in significant hyperproliferative alterations in the mammary gland. In contrast, radiation exposure alone did not induce hyperplasia. Interestingly, despite the obvious disparity in the mammary gland morphology, we did not detect significant differences in the levels of genomic methylation among animals exposed to estrogen, radiation, or both agents together. Specifically, we observed a significant global genomic hypomethylation at 6 weeks of exposure. However, by 12 and 18 weeks, the level of global DNA methylation returned to the level of age-matched controls. We also demonstrated that combined exposure to radiation and estrogen significantly altered the levels of histone H3 and H4 methylation and acetylation. Most importantly, we for the first time demonstrated that estrogen and radiation exposure caused a significant induction of MAPK p42-44 and p38 pathways, which was paralleled by changes in H3S10 phosphorylation, a well-established factor of genome and

chromosome instability. The precise role of MAPK pathways and their inter-relationship with H3S10 phosphorylation and genome instability in mammary gland tissue needs to be further delineated.

4.2. INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed malignancy in women and the leading cause of death among women between the ages of 35 to 55 years (Schairer et al., 2004). It is estimated that only 5% of new breast cancer cases are attributed to abnormal function of susceptibility genes (Ronckers et al., 2005), while the etiology of the remaining 95% of cases still remains unclear. The emerging evidence suggests a crucial role of environmental mutagens and carcinogens in breast cancer etiology (Weyandt et al., 2008; Brody et al., 2007; Ronckers et al., 2005).

Among the most generally accepted environmental carcinogenic agents identified as the factors that may increase breast cancer risk are ionizing radiation (IR) and elevated estrogen levels (Cavalieri et al., 2006; MacMahon, 2006; Ronckers et al., 2005; Doisneau-Sixou et al., 2003; Land et al., 2003). Indeed, the results of numerous epidemiological studies have strongly established a link between increased breast cancer incidence and exposure to ionizing radiation in atomic bomb survivors and women exposed to various diagnostic and therapeutic irradiations (Ronckers et al., 2005; Land at al., 2003; Storm et al., 1992; Boice et al., 1991). For instance, elevated incidence of breast cancer has been reported in patients with scoliosis and tuberculosis (Boice et al., 1991), women treated for benign breast disease (Mattsson et al., 1993), and in cancer survivors who received radiation therapy (Ronckers et al., 2005). The average dose of IR-exposure linked to breast carcinogenesis ranges between 0.2 and 20 Gy (Ronckers et al., 2005). Additionally, experimental *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have also established that IR can alter the functioning of normal mammary gland epithelial cells and trigger their neoplastic transformation (Calaf and Hei, 2000; Russo et al., 1996). However, the

exact nature of these radiation effects on the mammary glands need to be further explored.

Additionally, recent epidemiological studies have also convincingly established a causative role of estrogen in human breast cancer development, especially in young premenopausal women (Yager and Davidson, 2006). More importantly, women with elevated estrogen levels are considered to be a high-risk group for breast cancer development (Subramanian et al., 2008; Russo and Russo, 2006) and are likely to be exposed to diagnostic radiation procedures more frequently. Similarly, many patients with estrogen-induced breast cancer undergo radiation treatment and are exposed to relatively high X-ray doses to the healthy breast. *In vitro* application of both IR and estrogen leads to the malignant transformation of normal breast epithelial cells (Calaf and Hei, 2000). However, the underlying mechanisms behind estrogen-induced mammary gland genome instability and carcinogenesis, especially the effects of combined exposure to estrogen and IR on mammary glands, are not fully understood and remain to be elucidated.

Epigenetic changes, including DNA methylation and histone modifications, and variations in gene expression have been associated with changes in the molecular function of breast cells and the development of breast cancer (Dalvai and Bystricky, 2010; Veeck and Esteller, 2010; Hinshelwood and Clark, 2008; Widschwendter and Jones, 2002). Furthermore, it is believed that epigenetic alterations in breast cancer are more prominent than genetic changes (Martens et al., 2009) and that these epigenetic alterations may predispose cells to genomic instability and the acquisition of genetic changes during carcinogenesis (Sawan et al., 2008; Feinberg et al., 2006). Alterations in

genomic methylation patterns is a well-known epigenetic feature of cancer cells (Jones and Baylin, 2007) with regional hyper- and hypo-methylation of specific genes being very important in breast carcinogenesis (Veeck and Esteller, 2010; Hinshelwood and Clark, 2008 Widschwendter and Jones, 2002). Despite recent advances in uncovering breast cancer-related epigenetic abnormalities, the extent and timing of epigenetic dysregulation induced in the mammary gland in response to different carcinogenic agents, remains poorly understood.

In light of these considerations, the goal of the present study was to investigate association between morphological and molecular changes induced in the rat mammary glands by exposure to estrogen, radiation, and the combination of these two carcinogens.

4.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.3.1. Animal Treatment and Tissue Preparations

Female ACI rats were purchased from Harlan Spraque-Dawley, Inc. (Indianapolis, IN). The animals were housed 2 per cage in a temperature-controlled (24°C) room with a 12 hour light-dark cycle and given *ad libitum* access to water and NIH-31 diet. Handling and care of animals was in strict accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council for Animal Care and Use. The procedures have been approved by the University of Lethbridge Animal Welfare Committee.

At 8 weeks of age, the rats were randomly allocated into 4 groups of 18 rats each: i) sham-treated controls; ii) estrogen-treated (E_2) groups; iii) IR-treated (IR) groups; and iv) estrogen- plus IR-treated (E_2 +IR) groups. The estrogen-treated groups were implanted with estrogen constant release mini-pellets (7.5 mg/90 days release, Innovative Research of America Inc., Sarasota, FL.) subcutaneously in the shoulder region under ketamine and xylazine-induced anesthesia (Pogribny et al., 2007; Harvell et al., 2000; Shull et al., 1997). Animals from the irradiated groups were exposed to a single, whole-body dose of 3 Gy of X-rays 1 week later (90 kVp, 5 mA). Six rats per group were humanely euthanized after 6, 12, and 18 weeks of treatment.

The paired caudal inguinal mammary glands (and fat pad) were excised from the overlying skin. One gland was frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for subsequent analyses. The contralateral gland and fat pad were carefully spread onto a 5x8 cm glass slide and excess fat and other tissue were trimmed. The gland was then placed flat in a cassette *in toto*. This provided a histological specimen with frontal plane orientation, in which the gland profile is comparable to that of a mammary whole mount.

This orientation allows visualization of the arbrorizing pattern of the duct system and associated alveoli more clearly and completely than is possible using a transverse section of the gland. The specimens were then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 48 h, processed, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 microns, and mounted on glass slides. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin for histopathological examination.

4.3.2. Histopathology

Tissue sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin using a standard protocol. The morphological changes observed during the development of mammary cancer were independently assessed by two pathologists in a blinded fashion. A semi-quantitative system was used to record the severity of epithelial hyperplasia of the mammary gland.

4.3.3. Global DNA Methylation Analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from rat mammary tissue by using the Qiagen DneasyTM Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The extent of global DNA methylation was evaluated with a well-established radiolabeled [³H]-dCTP extension assay (Pogribny et al., 1999). In brief, 1 µg of genomic DNA was digested with 20 U of methylation-sensitive HpaII restriction endonuclease (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) for 16-18 h at 37°C. A second DNA aliquot (1 µg) of undigested DNA served as a background control. A single nucleotide extension reaction was performed in a 25 µl reaction mixture containing 1.0 µg DNA, 1X PCR buffer II, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 U AmpliTaq DNA polymerase, and 0.1 µl of [³H]dCTP (57.4 Ci/mmol), and the mixture was incubated at 56°C for 1 h. Samples were applied to DE-81 ion-exchange filters and washed three times with 0.5 M Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) at room temperature. The filters were dried and processed for scintillation counting. The [3 H]dCTP incorporation into DNA was expressed as mean disintegrations per minute (dpm) per µg of DNA after subtraction of the dpm incorporation in undigested samples. Two technical repeats of each experiment were conducted to insure consistency of the data.

4.3.4. Western Blot Analysis of Protein Expression

Total protein was extracted from mammary tissue as previously described (Tryndyak et al., 2007), using 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) and sonication to homogenize the tissue. Equal amounts of proteins (20 μg) were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis (PAGE) and transferred to PVDF membranes (Amersham, Baie d'Urfé, Quebéc). The membranes were probed with primary antibodies against p-p42-44, p-p38 (1:500, Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA); APE1, DNA Polymerase β, NBS1, KU70, and β-Actin (1:1000, Abcam, Cambridge, MA). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) and the ECL Plus immunoblotting detection system (Amersham, Baie d'Urfé, Quebéc) were used to reveal antibody binding. Chemiluminescence was detected with Biomax MR films (Eastman Kodak, New Haven, CT). All membranes were stained with Coomassie Blue (BioRad, Hercules, CA) to confirm equal protein loading. Signals were quantified using NIH ImageJ 1.63 Software and normalized to loading controls. Experiments were repeated twice to ensure reproducibility.

4.3.5. Immunohistochemical Analysis

Following pathological examination, the tissues were assembled into tissue microarrays

(TMAs) with 4.5mm cores. TMAs (Pantomics, Inc, Richmond, CA) offer great benefits to perform fast and efficient analysis of large amounts of data using less samples and reagents.

The tissues were fixed to the slides by baking at 60°C for 1 hour, deparaffinized, rehydrated and steamed in antigen retrieval citrate buffer (pH 6.0) (DAKO, Carpinteria, CA). Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched in 3% H₂O₂, and the slides were blocked in 3% goat serum (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). The slides were probed with primary antibodies against DNMT1, DNMT3a, (1:400, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), H3K4me3, H3K9me3, H4K20me3 (1:500, Abcam, Cambridge, MA), AcH4K5, AcH4K8, AcH4K12, and pH3S10 (1:300, Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA). Binding was detected using avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase and visualized with DAB (ABC Staining System, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). The tissues were counterstained with hematoxylin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). Staining for DNA methyltransferases and histone modifications was scored semi-quantitatively in a blinded fashion in at least 5 high power fields in each of 6 animals per group.

4.3.6. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's *t*-test. P-values <0.05 were considered significant.

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1. Estrogen- and Radiation-Induced Morphological Changes in Rat Mammary Glands

Exposure of ACI rats to constitutively elevated levels of E_2 significantly altered mammary gland morphology characterized by extensive cell proliferation (Figure 4.1). The increased levels of cell proliferation were noted as early as 6 weeks of E_2 -exposure and persisted further for 12 and 18 weeks of treatment. Interestingly, the severity of these hyperplastic changes decreased slightly at 18 weeks compared to the 6 and 12 week values, but still remained 2.3 times greater than the control values (Figure 4.1B). In contrast to E_2 - and E_2 - plus IR-treated animals, no hyperplastic changes were found in mammary glands of IRexposed animals (Figure 4.1B). However, it was noted that the mammary glands of IRexposed ACI rats exhibited fibrotic changes, characterized by a general loss of functional units at 12 and 18 weeks. The most pronounced morphological changes were found in animals that were exposed to both radiation and estrogen (Figure 4.1B).

4.4.2. Level of Global DNA Methylation in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands

To dissect the role of epigenetic changes in rat mammary gland tissues in response to estrogen exposure, IR and the combined action of both carcinogens, we first analyzed changes in levels of global DNA methylation in rat mammary gland tissues of control and treated rats using a sensitive HpaII-based cytosine extension assay that measures the proportion of unmethylated CCGG sites in the genome. DNA methylation patterns exhibit a degree of plasticity, which can be reflective of the cellular response to environmental stimuli, including chemical and physical agents (Szyf, 2003; Christman et al., 1993). We observed a significant increase in the [3 H]dCTP incorporation (p<0.05), indicative of global genome hypomethylation at 6 weeks, a stage marked by extensive hyperplastic changes hyperplasia in E₂- and E₂- plus IR-treated groups (Figure 4.2). Interestingly, we also detected a significant 3.3-fold loss of global methylation as compared to controls (p<0.05) in response to IR treatment alone (Figure 4.2). However, by 12 and 18 weeks, the extent of global DNA methylation in all groups was not significantly different from those in age-matched controls.

4.4.3. Expression of DNA Methyltransferases in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands

DNA methyltransferases, DNMT1 and DNMT3a, are the key cellular enzymes responsible for maintaining proper DNA methylation patterns in mammalian cells. Any changes in cellular levels of these enzymes may lead to altered DNA methylation levels. Hence, we assessed whether or not the observed changes in DNA methylation were accompanied by DNMT1 and DNMT3a alterations. Figure 4.3A shows that estrogen exposure resulted in a significant increase in the number of DNMT1 positive cells at 6, 12, and 18 weeks after exposure. This increase was most pronounced after 18 weeks of estrogen treatment. At that time, the number of DNMT1-positive cells was over 4 times greater (p<0.05) than in control rats (Figure 4.3A). Similarly to E_2 exposure, combined E_2 and IR treatment led to significant increase in the levels of DNMT1 positive cells in the groups of animals at 6, 12 and 18 weeks. Contrarily, IR exposure alone did not affect the number of DNMT1 positive cells (Figure 4.3A). E_2 exposure and combined exposure to E_2 and IR also led to a pronounced and statistically significant increase in the number of DNMT3a-positive cells after 6 and 12 weeks of treatment, while irradiation alone did not induce any significant changes in the number of DNMT3a-positive cells over the 18 week period (Figure 4.3B).

4.4.4. Expression of DNA Repair Proteins in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands

Another main factor that may affect the status of DNA methylation is the integrity of the DNA (Valinluck and Sowers, 2007; Weitzman et al., 1994). It is well established that E_2 and IR are strong DNA damaging agents that cause a variety of DNA lesions, including DNA strand breakage, damage to bases, and oxidative DNA damage (Rajapakse et al., 2005; Jenner et al., 2001; Prise et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2001). In light of these considerations, we investigated whether or not altered DNA methylation in the mammary glands of E_2 -, IR- and E_2 - plus IR-exposed ACI rats may be associated with compromised DNA integrity.

Currently, it is widely accepted that altered levels of proteins in the base excision repair (BER) pathway, a key pathway involved in repair of oxidative DNA damage, are sensitive *in vivo* markers of oxidative DNA damage (Powell et al., 2005; Rusyn et al., 2004). Figure 4.4A shows that exposure to E_2 for 6 weeks induced a significant (p<0.05) 1.4- and 1.2-fold increase in the levels of apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease 1 (APE1) and DNA polymerase β (Pol. β), respectively. Combined exposure to estrogen and IR also led to significantly elevated levels of APE1 and Pol. β after 6 weeks of treatment. At later times (after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment), the changes in the levels of APE1 and Pol. β that were seen in the 6 weeks E_2 and

 E_2 - plus IR exposure groups diminished. Similar to the E_2 +IR group, exposure to IR alone resulted in a delayed decrease in the levels of these BER proteins at 18 weeks.

Estrogen and IR exposure may also result in increased levels of DNA strand breakage. The NBS1 protein is part of the nuclear multi-protein complex composed also of MRE11 and RAD50 (the MRN complex), which plays a crucial role in response to DNA double-strand breaks as well as in DNA strand break repair by homologous recombination (HR) and nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ). Importantly, in mammals, most double-strand breaks are repaired by non-homologous end joining (Jackson et al., 2002; Sargent et al., 1997). Ku70 is essential for NHEJ and is induced in mammalian cells exposed to ionizing radiation (Kumaravel et al., 1998; Gu et al., 1997). Therefore, we measured the levels of NBS1 and Ku70 in the mammary gland of control rats and rats exposed to E₂, IR, and both E₂ and IR. Figure 4.4B shows that estrogen exposure and combined exposure to estrogen and IR increased cellular levels of NBS1 and Ku70 after 6 weeks of treatments. At later times (after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment), the levels of NBS1 and Ku70 decreased as compared to the age-matched controls, similar to the observed reduction of APE1 and Pol.β.

4.4.5. Histone Modifications in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands

DNA methylation is closely connected with alterations in the other components of chromatin structure, primarily with histone modifications (Cedar and Begman, 2009; Fuks et al., 2003; Bird and Wolffe, 1999). Histone modifications including acetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation are important in the regulation of gene transcription and overall genome stability (Moss and Wallrath, 2007; Tryndyak et al., 2006; Pogribny et al., 2006; Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). Therefore, we investigated the effects of E_2 -, IR- and E_2 - plus IR-exposure on

the levels of histone H3 and H4 methylation and acetylation (Figure 4.5). We noted that E_2 exposure, either alone or in combination with radiation, led to significant increases in the levels of H3K4me3 (a modification associated with chromatin relaxation and activation of gene expression) after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment as compared to controls. IR exposure alone affected the levels of H3K4me3 only in the 12-week group.

Additionally, we have evaluated the status of histone H4 acetylation at lysines 5, 8 and 12. Exposure to E_2 resulted in significant increases in H4K5, H4K8, and H4K12 acetylation after 6, 12 and 18 weeks of estrogen treatment. Changes of similar magnitude were induced by the influence of combined exposure to E_2 and IR, whereas IR exposure alone had no effects on H4K12 acetylation levels (Figure 4.5).

In addition to these two well-studied histone modifications, histone phosphorylation has also been implicated in gene activation and, most importantly, in controlling genome stability (Grant, 2001; Thomson et al., 1999). Therefore, we studied the effects of E_2 -, IR-, and E_2 plus IR-exposure on the levels of H3S10 phosphorylation in rat mammary glands. Figure 4.6 shows that exposure to E_2 caused a small but statistically significant increase of H3S10 phosphorylation after 6 weeks. At later time (12 and 18 weeks), the levels of H3S10 phosphorylation in rat mammary glands further increased and were 2.9- and 3.0-fold, respectively, greater than in control rats. Contrarily, IR treatment resulted in a significant 4.3- and 1.4-fold decrease in the levels of H3S10 phosphorylation after 6 and 18 weeks of exposure, respectively. Interestingly, at 12 weeks after exposure, IR caused a 1.9-fold increase in the levels of H3S10 phosphorylation. Combined application of E_2 and IR led to a statistically significant 1.9-,

4.1-, and 3.2-fold increase in the levels of H3S10 phosphorylation in rat mammary gland tissues (Figure 4.6).

4.4.6. Alterations in the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathways in Estrogen- and Radiation-Exposed Rat Mammary Glands

The results of recent studies have linked exposure to genotoxic agents with the induction of MAPK pathways (Dyson et al., 2005; Chadee et al., 1999; Barratt et al., 1994). Indeed, Figure 4.7A shows that radiation alone and in combination with estrogen exposure caused a significant induction of p-p42-44 MAPK at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of treatment. Similarly, exposure to IR alone resulted in increased levels of phosphorylated p38 protein at each of the time points, whereas estrogen exposure alone led to increased p-p38 levels only after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment (Figure 4.7B). Likewise, E₂ exposure led to increased p-p38 levels after 12 and 18 weeks of treatment. Contrarily, combined exposure to both carcinogenic agents did not affect p-p38 levels. Interestingly, we did not observe any statistically significant changes in the levels of JNK phosphorylation after treatment of ACI rats with E₂, IR, and E₂ plus IR (data not shown).

4.5. DISCUSSION

Currently, breast cancer is the most common malignancy among North American women (Jermal et al., 2009; Schaierer et al., 2004). Most breast cancer patients undergo radiation diagnostics and are also treated with radiotherapy. In addition to being an important treatment modality, IR is a potent tumor-causing agent that has been linked to breast cancer development. However, the exact changes induced by IR exposure in mammary gland tissue remain largely unknown. In addition, the interplay between elevated estrogen levels and the magnitude of IR responses in the mammary gland has to be defined.

In the present study, we demonstrated that two very different carcinogens, estrogen and radiation, applied either separately, or in conjunction, exert numerous cellular and molecular epigenetic effects on the mammary gland of female ACI rats. This was evidenced by estrogendriven morphological alterations, deregulation of cellular epigenetic processes, and altered cell signaling and DNA repair pathways. Importantly, we have identified several important differences in the extent and timing of these changes in response to two known carcinogens.

The results of the present study demonstrated that, despite the obvious disparity in morphology induced by E_2 and IR, we did not detect significant differences in the levels of genomic methylation among animals exposed to E_2 , IR, and E_2 - plus IR. Specifically, E_2 , IR, and both carcinogens together caused significant global DNA hypomethylation only at 6 weeks after treatment. Interestingly, the extent of DNA methylation returned to normal levels by 12 and 18 weeks after exposure.

Several possible explanations exist for a comparable loss of global DNA methylation at 6 weeks, including DNA damage and/or a DNA repair-based mechanism. It has been demonstrated previously that DNA damage can interfere with the methylating

ability of DNA methyltransferases by stalling DNA methyltransferase at the sites of lesions (Smith, 1998; Turk et al., 1995). Furthermore, during DNA repair synthesis, polymerases incorporate cytidine but not methylcytidine, thus the presence of DNA lesions and activation of DNA repair mechanisms may also contribute to DNA hypomethylation. The results of our study demonstrate a close association between the induction of DNA repair enzymes (Figure 4.4) and the loss of global DNA methylation (Figure 4.2) after 6 weeks of exposure, supporting these suggestions.

Alternatively, DNA hypomethylation may arise as a by-product of estrogendriven cell hyperproliferation. This suggests that DNA methyltransferases may be overwhelmed by the rate of replication synthesis, such that they are unable to maintain methylation patterns on the nascent strands. As one might expect, we observed significant induction of DNMTs, especially DNMT3a, in the estrogen-treated groups, which may serve as a cellular compensatory mechanism. The observation that IR, in conjunction with exposure to elevated E_2 , did not contribute to a more pronounced loss of DNA methylation than exposure to either carcinogen alone, as well as the increase in DNA methylation levels in the mammary glands of exposed rats from a relatively hypomethylated state at 6 weeks to unchanged levels at 12 and 18 weeks, further affirm the potential for overburdened methylation machinery. However, the increased expression of DNMTs may initiate aberrant gene-specific *de novo* methylation events and result in gene silencing. Indeed, persistent up-regulation of DNMTs has been reported to play a significant role in transcriptional silencing of gene expression by hypermethylating promoter CpG islands during breast carcinogenesis (Starlard-Davenport et al., 2010; Roll et al., 2008; Agoston et al., 2005). These findings strongly correlate with our current

observations of the induction DNMT1 and DNMT3a expression in the E_2 - and E_2 - plus IR-treated groups.

In addition to DNA methylation changes, exposure of ACI rats to E₂ and IR, applied either separately, or in conjunction, resulted in noticeable histone modification changes, especially alterations of histone H3S10 phosphorylation levels. Generally, phosphorylation of H3S10 is crucial for proper chromosome condensation and segregation, with nearly all H3 molecules phosphorylated at this residue during entry into mitosis. Overall, phosphorylation of H3S10 is therefore regarded as a marker of mitosis (Fishle, 2008; Hendzel et al., 1997). The presence of a greater percentage of cells expressing this marker, especially in the highly proliferative estrogen group, supports this literary evidence. Therefore, increased levels of pH3S10 are in good agreement with the observed hyperplasia.

Recent data also suggest that H3 histone phosphorylation is a major contributing factor for genome and chromosome instability and thus may play a role in cellular transformation and carcinogenesis (Choi et al., 2005; Ota et al., 2002). Indeed, our results demonstrated a substantial increase in histone H3S10 phosphorylation that correspond to previous findings of over-expression of Aurora-A kinase and chromosomal instability during mammary carcinogenesis in ACI rats (Li et al., 2004).

Furthermore, previous studies have demonstrated that genotoxic DNA-damaging agents can induce phosphorylation of H3S10 through the activation of the MAPK pathway (Dyson et al., 2005). There are four distinct MAPK cascades that include the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (p42-44 ERK)/MAPK 1 and 2 pathway; the p38 pathway; the c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)/stress-activated protein kinase (SAPK)

pathway, and the mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK5 pathway. MAPK pathways transmit signals that partake in control of cell proliferation and cell death. Recent studies have reported that breast cancer frequently exhibits activation of MAPK pathways (Normanno et al., 2006; Torii et al., 2006; Sivaraman et al., 1997). The activation of p38 and p42-44/ ERKs was proven to induce cellular invasion and motility and contribute to the invasive breast cancer phenotype (Choi et al., 2005; Shin et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2003). Furthermore, MAPK pathways have been implicated in genotoxic stress responses. Indeed, exposure to breast carcinogens, such as radiation and estrogen, has been shown to activate MAPK pathways (Chou et al., 2009; Liao and Hung, 2003; Song et al., 2002). The activated MAPK pathways may in turn influence H3S10 phosphorylation. Here, we demonstrate a correlation between H3S10 phosphorylation and activation of p42-44 ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK pathways. This correlation may suggest that estrogen and radiation-induced activation of ERK1/2 and p38 may partake in H3S10 phosphorylation. The precise role of MAPK pathways and their inter-relationship with H3S10 phosphorylation, genome instability and genotoxic stress-induced changes in the mammary gland tissue to be further delineated.

Importantly, these molecular changes were detected in morphologically normal mammary glands suggesting that these early molecular changes may be a critical event that drives tumorigenic process (Ellsworth et al., 2004). Therefore, future studies are needed to dissect the roles of the aforementioned epigenetic and signaling changes in mammary gland carcinogenesis.



B





female ACI rats after exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen.

(A) Representative images of i) normal; ii) mild; iii) moderate; and iv) severe hyperplasia
(Original magnification x10). (B) Average score of morphological changes in the mammary gland after exposure to sham treatment, estrogen, radiation, or estrogen and radiation at 6, 12, 18 weeks (mean ± S.E.M, n=6). *Significantly different from the agematched control. Scoring: 1 – normal; 2 – mild hyperplasia; 3 – moderate hyperplasia; 4 – moderate/severe hyperplasia; 5 – severe hyperplasia.





Levels of global DNA methylation as measured by the DNA cytosine extension assay. Data from two independent technical repeats is presented as means ± S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiationtreatment.




exposed ACI rats.

Levels of DNA methyltransferases were determined by immunohistochemical analysis, evaluating the percentage of positive cells and staining intensity. Representative images of **(A)** DNMT1 and **(B)** DNMT3a in the mammary gland of sham-treated and estrogenplus radiation-exposed ACI rats at 18 weeks are shown on the right panel (Original magnification x100). Data presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment.



Figure 4.4. Levels of DNA repair proteins in the mammary gland of female ACI rats exposed to estrogen, radiation, and estrogen plus radiation.

Representative western immunoblots of (A) Ape1 and DNA Pol. β proteins; and (B) NBS1 and Ku70 proteins from two independent technical repeats. Protein levels were normalized to β -actin. Data presented as mean values \pm S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – control-treatment (CT), grey – estrogen-treatment (E₂), striped – radiation-treatment (IR), and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment (E₂+IR).



Figure 4.5. Effects of estrogen and radiation exposure on key histone markers associated with either silenced or active regions of the genome.

Immunohistochemical analysis of (A) H3K4me3, (B) H4K9me3, (C) H4K20me3 histone marks, (D) AcH4K5, (E) AcH4K8, and (F) AcH4K12. Data presented as means ± S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from age-matched controls. White bars – controls, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment.





estrogen- plus radiation-exposed ACI rats.

Data are presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the agematched control. The right panel shows a representative stain of sham-treated and estrogen- plus irradiated- animals (E₂+IR) at 18 weeks (Original magnification x40). White bars – control-treatment, grey – estrogen-treatment, striped – radiation-treatment, and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment.





Western blot analysis of (A) p-p42-44 and (B) p-p38. Sample loading was normalized to β -actin. Data are presented as means \pm S.E.M. (n=6). *Significantly different from the age-matched control. White bars – control-treatment (CT), grey – estrogen-treatment (E₂), striped – radiation-treatment (IR), and black – estrogen- plus radiation-treatment (E₂+IR).

5. FINAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer in Canadian women, with over 22,700 women predicted to be diagnosed with the disease in 2009 – an average of 437 women diagnosed every week (Statistics Canada, 2009). Of the current cases, an estimated 5,400 women will die (Statistics Canada, 2009). Many of these cancers are estrogen-responsive and are exposed to radiation as both a diagnostic tool and as a treatment modality. Similarly, women with elevated estrogen levels are considered to be at a higher risk for breast cancer and would likely undergo diagnostic radiation exposures on a more frequent basis. Based on literary evidence, there is growing concern regarding the potential synergistic effects.

Furthermore, numerous studies have demonstrated inter-individual variation in breast cancer susceptibility. In the past, emphasis was placed on the value of genetic screening of high risk individuals to promote earlier detection of breast cancer. More recently studies have focused on the diagnostic and prognostic value of screening for epigenetic markers.

The value of early biomarkers is based on the characteristic delay (years or even decades) between the first exposure to a known or suspected carcinogen and the eventual occurrence of cancer after this latency period. During this period, intermediate biomarkers reflective of the biological changes along the causal pathway to malignancy can be used to monitor the risk of tumor formation, as well as the critical window of preventative intervention. These markers would prove even more valuable if they exhibit reversibility following chemopreventative intervention and that this modulation ultimately leads to a decrease in breast cancer.

Potentially reversible molecular markers for the use of breast cancer chemoprevention include epigenetic alterations, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications. Unlike genes inactivated by mutation, genes silenced by epigenetic mechanisms are intact and can be potentially reactivated by "epigenetic drugs". Future studies may look towards restoring epigenetic balance as a means to prevent cancer.

5.1. EPIGENETIC CHANGES IN THE RAT MAMMARY GLAND

The objective of this thesis was to identify early epigenetic markers of carcinogeneic exposure in the rat mammary gland, prior to tumor development. More specifically, the aim of this thesis was to examine the epigenetic response to two different carcinogens, estrogen and ionizing radiation, either alone or in conjunction. The cellular and molecular changes that accompanied the observed disturbances in the epigenome were also noted.

The main findings of this thesis are that:

- The epigenome is altered in response to exposure to elevated levels of estrogen, ionizing radiation, or a combination of the two carcinogens. Importantly, we have identified several important differences in the extent and timing of these changes in response to these two known carcinogens.
- These changes were also reflected in the cellular and molecular biology of the mammary gland. Exposure to constitutively elevated levels of estrogen was sufficient to induce hyperplastic changes, while only fibrotic changes were detected in response to IR alone.
- Exposure to estrogen alone and the combined exposure to estrogen and irradiation led to imbalances in apoptosis and cellular proliferation as early as 6 weeks after treatment.
- 4. Changes in apoptosis and proliferation were accompanied by alterations in the cellular levels of p53, an important regulator of the cell cycle and apoptosis, as well as Mdm2 and c-myc, which antagonize p53's nuclear functions.

- 5. The aforementioned molecular changes were paralleled by estrogen- and radiation-induced epigenetic dysregulation that could be detected prior to tumor development. This was evidenced by disturbances in DNA and histone methylation, hyperacetylation of H4 molecules, and increases in H3 serine 10 phosphorylation.
- 6. Epigenetic changes can be detected early after exposure to elevated levels of estrogen. These changes were evidenced by the profound dysregulation of DNA methyltransferases and histone modifications as early as 1 week after the implantation of the estrogen mini-pellet.
- 7. These epigenetic modifications were, to some extent, reversible upon removal of the exogenous source of estrogen. These changes were also reflected in the morphological state of the mammary glands, in which a regression of the estrogen-induced hyerproliferative changes was observed.
- 8. Interestingly, estrogen-induced hyperacetylation of H4 molecules and the upregulation of the *de novo* methyltransferase, DNMT3a, persisted for up to 8 weeks after the removal of the estrogen mini-pellet. These changes were significantly less severe than in animals exposed to continuously elevated levels of estrogen.

In summary, the results of the present study confirm our hypothesis that estrogen- and radiation-induced changes in the female mammary gland are mediated by perturbations in the epigenome. Exposure to these two carcinogens, either separately, or in conjunction, induces morphological changes that are mediated by global DNA hypomethylation and aberrant expression of methyl-binding proteins that interact with chromatin-modifying enzymes. These changes are associated with altered gene expression and imbalances in proliferation and apoptosis. We propose that these epigenetic alterations may contribute to genomic instability and carcinogenesis. Further research is required to understand the impact of dose and administration on the carcinogenic potential of these agents, as well as to examine their effects when combined with other carcinogens.

5.1.1. Limitations and Future Considerations

The first hurdle to overcome in the course of modeling human breast cancer is to identify an appropriate model. Clearly, breast cancer must be recognized as a heterogenous disease, with different subtypes exhibiting different molecular markers and treatment response. Although rodent models exhibit similar histopathological features and hormone-responsiveness as do human breast cancers (Ruhlen et al., 2009; Li et al., 2002), these models, at best, could only be used to study certain human breast cancer subtypes or even specific pathways. The fact that some species and strains more closely resemble their human counterparts in specific features than others, making them a more suitable model to study a particular stage of carcinogenesis or subtype, should be taken into careful consideration when designing an experiment and interpreting the resulting data.

Our studies focused on the ACI rat as a model of estrogen-induced mammary carcinogenesis, which features biological markers reflecting the general characteristics of ductal carcinoma *in situ* (Weroha et al., 2006; Li et al., 2004; Li et al., 2002). The intent of these experiments was to identify epigenetic biomarkers that could be detected early

after carcinogenic exposure. This information may provide insights as to the diagnostic value and potential reversibility of these changes. In recognizing the limitations of the current knowledge of the genetic contributions of this particular strain, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms, future studies will need to address the interplay between genetic and epigenetic backgrounds and their effect on cancer susceptibility.

As with any modeling system, one must acknowledge difficulties in extrapolating data generated in a model organism to the heterogenous nature of human populations, which portray a diverse array of genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors. In the studies presented herein, we estimated the concentration of circulating estrogen to be similar to the levels shown in previous studies, which indicate serum estrogen levels, from implants ranging from 3 to 27.5 mg, plateau at approximately that observed during pregnancy (Weroha et al., 2005; Harvell et al., 2000; Shull et al., 1997), a period when breast cancer risk is elevated in humans (Shull, 2007). However, perhaps a more relevant point to consider would be the level of estrogen within the breast tissue itself. Studies have shown that high levels of aromatase activity within the breast tissue is the primary source of estrogen, and directly correlates with increased tumor growth, suggesting that local levels of estrogen in breast is a more important indicator of breast cancer risk than circulating estrogen (Santen et al., 2002; Santen et al, 1999).

Furthermore, given the nature of estrogen as a long distance endocrine signaling molecule, which targets a number of tissues throughout the body, one must also consider the impact of elevated estrogen levels in other organs. It is well-known that one of the primary targets for estrogen is the uterus, in which high levels of estrogen have been strongly associated with increased risk of endometrial cancer (Lépine et al., 2010).

Elevated levels of estrogen have also been shown to target the pituitary gland, resulting in endocrine disruption and prolactin-producing pituitary tumors (Spady et al., 1999). The complexities of the organismal response to elevated levels of estrogen have yet to be explored.

Similarly, the effects of radiation on other radiosensitive tissues such as spleen and thymus should be addressed. Previous studies have found that radiation-induced changes in radiation-target tissues can lead to significant and persistent epigenetic changes and genome instability in other tissues (Koturbash et al., 2006).

The observed decrease in body weights observed in our studies, particularly in the rats exposed to both estrogen and radiation, suggest that these carcinogens may be affecting the organism on a larger scale. Changes in the whole-organism environment would likely play an important role in breast cancer risk. Clearly, the extent to which carcinogens exert their effects needs to be considered at both the tissue and organismal level.

5.2. SIGNIFICANCE AND RELEVANCE TO HUMAN HEALTH

Cancer continues to be one of the most common diseases that affect humans worldwide. As the knowledge of the molecular basis of cancer grows, improved diagnostic methods and more effective strategies have been implemented, leading to earlier detection, increases in patient survival, and higher quality of life.

The recent acknowledgement of cancer as both a genetic and an epigenetic disease has resulted in several initiatives implementing epigenetics in cancer prevention and treatment. Unlike genetic alterations, which are difficult to reverse in clinical settings, the very nature of epigenetics makes it easier to reactivate epigenetically-silenced tumor suppressor genes by pharmacological means. Moreover, the identification of promoter hypermethylation and histone modifications associated with inactivation of tumor suppressors serve as early molecular biomarkers for which chemopreventative treatments can be targeted to block or reverse these epigenetics aberrations during the early stages of carcinogenesis. However, the role of epigenetics in the genesis of mammary cancer and the cause of individual susceptibilities are largely unknown.

5.3. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

5.3.1. Modeling Epigenetics

Since carcinogen-induced cancer and the experimental application of novel "epigenetic" drugs are often considered unethical in human studies, rodent models, which share similar metabolic and histological features as humans, are utilized (Li et al., 2004; Russell, 2003; Li et al., 2002; Harvell et al., 2000; Shull et al., 1997; Tomatis, 1979).

There are a number of factors that one must take into consideration when choosing an appropriate model. Past studies have clearly outlined genetic difference, identifying alleles conferring resistant and susceptibility phenotypes (Shull, 2007; Schaffer et al., 2006). Differences in the epigenome are also becoming increasingly recognized for their role in cancer predisposition (Pogribny and Beland, 2009; Pogribny et al., 2009; Bagnyukova et al., 2008). These data suggest that possessing collective epigenetic features that reinforce long-term transcriptional status in an inappropriate manner may predispose individuals to genome instability and, therefore, susceptibility to diseases. Future studies may look to challenge different strains with the same carcinogen and evaluate whether differences in epigenetic backgrounds are responsible. Of course, one must take both the genetic and epigenetic contributions into consideration when evaluating their susceptibilities.

To more clearly define which specific epigenetic modifications contribute to increased susceptibility or resistance, one would need to examine the development of cancer in genetically identical organisms which possess different epigenomes. For example, rats on a methyl-deficient diet exhibited lower levels of DNA methylation and increased susceptibility to carcinogenic exposure than their genetically identical

counterparts fed a folate-sufficient diet (Pogribny et al., 2007). Further studies along a similar line could shed light on the epigenetic patterns that alter susceptibility to breast cancer, providing the underlying framework for identifying epigenetic signatures of women with increased risk for developing mammary carcinogenesis.

These studies need to address such questions as: Which epigenetic marks contribute to the formation of cancer? Which sequence of epigenetic events can be detected first and how do they contribute to the progression of cancer? What is the significance of alterations in the histone code and which specific patterns contribute to cancer predisposition? Can these epigenetic changes be stably reversed to prevent or halt tumor growth? Are there secondary consequences to the use of "epigenetic" drugs?

5.3.2. Identifying High Risk Individuals

Clearly, the importance of identifying breast cancer risk factors is many-fold. Firstly, the assessment of susceptibility genotypes will identify women at higher risk for breast cancer. Secondly, genome-wide profiling of epigenetic modifications have identified early biomarkers of carcinogenesis (Figueroa et al., 2009; Goto et al., 2009; Martin-Subero et al., 2009; Chekhun et al., 2007; Esteller, 2006). Importantly, these epigenetic modifications can predispose cells to genetic changes (Baylin and Ohm, 2006; Gould et al., 1996). Clearly, the ability to maintain an appropriate epigenomic landscape for homeostasis through the maintenance of DNA methylation patterns and histone modifications are crucial for reducing the risk of cancer formation.

The development of "epigenetic" drugs is currently being investigated as an alternative approach to treat individual predispositions for their specific genetic and

epigenetic status, and may increase the effectiveness of radio- and chemotherapeutic treatment modalities (De Schutter and Nuyts, 2009; Beltran et al., 2008; Pray, 2008; Arce, 2006; Karpf, 2006). Epigenetic therapy may prove to be particularly useful in chemopreventative approaches, especially for those individuals who have been diagnosed with aberrant epigenetic alterations but have not yet acquired neoplastic lesions (Fay et al, 2005; Herman, 2005). Epimutations, or aberrant DNA methylation and histone-modification patterns, are observed in individuals with no history of malignancy (Arai et al, 2009; Holst et al., 2003) and can be used as an indicator of the likelihood of developing cancer (Arai et al., 2009; Laird, 2003). If these epimutations are corrected with DNA methylation and HDAC inhibitors, it can delay or completely prevent tumorigenesis in these individuals (De Schutter and Nuyts, 2009; Beltran et al., 2008; Pray, 2008; Arce, 2006; Karpf, 2006; Fay et al, 2005).

Having a detailed map of specific epigenetic patterns in each tissue type in their normal and in cancerous states would make detection of premalignant epimutations feasible, even from as little biological material as a drop of blood (Teschendorff et al., 2009; Esteller, 2006; Laird, 2003). In the future, one could expect to see a more comprehensive screening protocol of individuals classified by the latest literary evidence of being at "high risk" for developing disease. Furthermore, comprehensive knowledge of the epigenome would open up a new avenue for the development of various drugs designed to target a specific region of the genome in which an epimutation has occurred.

Understanding that cancer is a heterogeneous disease, the importance of treating individuals based on their specific genetic or epigenetic predisposition has prompted interest for individual pharmacokinetics. Clinicians are beginning to realize that a "onesize-fits-all" is no longer an appropriate approach for treating cancer. With the advent of technology enabling the mapping of the human epigenome and epigenetic profiling of cancer, the tools to define each person's unique genetic and epigenetic makeup are becoming available. This information will help them design individually tailored medicine based on their specific circumstances.

5.3.3. Epigenetic Profiling of Cancer

Cancer is associated with hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes and abnormal expression of DNMTs. These changes are often reinforced by repressive chromatin marks, which condense the chromatin, thereby blocking access of transcription factors to the DNA. Genome-wide scanning techniques have proven to be valuable in assessing the validity of targeting DNA methylation and histone modifications as a treatment for cancer (Figueroa et al., 2009; Goto et al., 2009; Martin-Subero et al., 2009; Chekhun et al., 2007; Esteller, 2006).

Diagnosis of cancer through the analysis of epigenetic patterns is a promising prospect, although the complex nature of DNA and histone modifications will likely make this approach difficult. Perhaps the biggest difficulty to overcome lies in that the epigenome is responsive to a number of environmental and intrinsic factors, dynamically modifying gene expression during development in both normal and malignant cells. Despite this, a number of epigenetic hallmarks of cancer cells have been identified, including DNA promoter hypermethylation of tumor suppressors and the global loss of DNA methylation (Fraga et al, 2005B; Macaluso et al., 2003). These marks have been utilized in numerous studies which clearly demonstrate the potential for epigenetic profiling to distinguish cancerous tissue from their normal counterparts with high specificity (Kanai, 2009; Esteller, 2006; Laird, 2003). Certainly, although these features are considered hallmarks of genome instability and carcinogenesis, specific epigenetic patterns are not identical among different types of cancer or even at different stages of progression. However, this can be used advantageously, in which epigenetic profiling of cancer has not only been used to successfully detect specific epigenetic patterns associated with different types of cancer, but also can be used to differentiate sub-types (Goto et al., 2009; Martin-Subero et al., 2009; Stumpel et al., 2009; Teschendorff et al., 2009; Mi et al., 2008). Moreover, epigenetic profiling can be used to predict prognosis and response to treatment (Hesson et al., 2007; Seligson, 2005; Esteller et al., 2000). For example, the epigenetic profiling of multi-drug-resistant human breast adenocarcinoma cells revealed hyper- and hypomethylation of genes that may contribute to the acquired drug-resistant phenotype in cancer (Chekhun et al., 2007).

By comparing the epigenetic signatures of different cancers and their stages of progression, the underlying molecular mechanisms driving tissue- and cancer-specific alterations can be targeted for epigenetic reprogramming. It is also important to recognize that different carcinogens sculpt the epigenetic landscape in different ways, and even the epigenetic response to the same type of carcinogen can be quite different, depending on the dose and exposure regime (Koturbash et al., 2005; Pogribny et al., 2005; Woloschak and Chang-Liu, 1990). Moreover, studies indicating gene expression can be used to distinguish between spontaneous and carcinogen-induced mammary carcinogenesis (Imaoka et al., 2008), suggest similar findings may be observed in epigenetic patterns, which regulate gene expression.

5.3.4. Exposure to Multiple Carcinogens

Most studies focus on the effect of one carcinogen at a time. Although this may make it easier to trace the molecular repercussions of the carcinogen, this does not reflect real life scenarios, in which people are exposed to numerous chemical and physical agents throughout their lifetime (Charles. 2001). Furthermore, these studies rarely take into account differences in the genetic and epigenetics make-up of individuals.

A plethora of studies have been initiated to address the combined potential of chemical and physical carcinogens (Kantorowitz et al., 1995; Watanabe et al., 1993; Maisin et al, 1987; Borek et al., 1986). Studies of combined exposure have indicated that the carcinogens were reported to exert an additive, sub-additive, or supra-additive (synergistic) effect. In breast tissue, radiation and estrogen are known carcinogens, in which their combined exposure produces a response larger than the sum of either carcinogen alone (Broerse et al., 1987; Shellabarger et al, 1983; Holtzman et al., 1979).

Other factors were also shown to influence the extent to which carcinogens are able to exert their effects. Age, for example, was shown to be a major determinant of susceptibility, in which the mammary gland of younger populations tend to exhibit increased radiation sensitivity with the administration of estrogen (Bartstra et al, 1998).

These interactions must be taken into consideration in a clinical setting, in which many chemotherapy agents are also carcinogens. Although radiotherapy may be used either alone of in combination with surgery for the treatment of malignant tumors, other adjuvant treatments, such as chemotherapy and hormone therapy are also utilized. Secondary cancers, which are unrelated to the first cancer that was treated, may occur months or even years after initial treatment (Leone et al., 1999; Storm et al., 1992; Boice

et al., 1992). These cancers are more frequent in patients who receive both radiation therapy and chemotherapy compared to either treatment alone (Wong et al, 2003; Araujo et al., 1991). Clearly, further studies need to be conducted to elucidate the interacting mechanisms of combined modality treatments leading to secondary complications and malignancies.

5.3.5. Epigenetic Drugs

A number of biotech companies have focused on technologies identifying DNAmethylation and histone modification biomarkers and diagnostics based on differences in DNA methylation between healthy and diseased tissue (Futscher and Domann, 2006; Taipale et al., 2005; Conacci-Sorrell et al., 2002; Futscher et al., 2002; Geiman and Robertson, 2002; Jawhari et al., 1999). It is anticipated that these markers can then be targeted by "epigenetic" drugs for reprogramming prior to tumor development and during the progression to malignancy.

One specific goal of epigenetic therapy is to restore normal epigenetic patterns and to prevent the cells from acquiring further epigenetic-mediated alterations that could lead to silencing of genes crucial for normal cell function. Epigenetic drugs include demethylating agents and HDAC inhibitors which target aberrantly heterochromatic regions, leading to reactivation of tumour-suppressor genes and/or other genes that are crucial for the normal functioning of cells (Egger et al., 2004; Yoo et al., 2004; Christman et al., 2002). Several drugs targeting DNA methylation and histone deacetylation enzymes have already been approved and others are in clinical trials (Wang and Dymock, 2009).

Inactivation of DNMTs is one of the most effective ways of inhibiting DNA methylation and re-establishing more normal patterns of gene expression. However, targeting the methyltransferase enzyme can lead to inadvertent consequences, including the loss of specificity and overall decrease in methylation levels across the genome (Szyf, 2008; Yoo et al., 2004). Nevertheless, decreased activity of DNMT resulting from the administration of DNMT inhibitor has been shown reactivate genes involved in controlling cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and other key homeostatic mechanisms, and has also been shown to halt neoplastic changes (Figueroa et al., 2009, Laird, 2003; Laird et al., 1995). This positive result indicates that DNMT inhibitors warrant further study, although they should be used with caution (Gius et al., 2004).

HDAC inhibitors (HDAC-i) block the enzymes that remove acetyl groups from histone tails, which leads to the accumulation of acetylated histone residues, followed by changes in cellular processes that have become defective in cancerous cells. Interestingly, the resulting hyperacetylation of histones is thought to contribute to genomic instability, which ultimately triggers the cell-cycle checkpoint (Qui et al., 2000). Alternatively, HDAC inhibitors have been shown to activate genes involved in cell differentiation, apoptosis, and the inhibition of angiogenesis and metastasis (Nebbioso et al., 2005; Peart et al., 2005; Shetty et al., 2005; Michaelis et al., 2004).

The combination of demethylating agents with HDAC-i is of special interest, having been found to act synergistically to reactivate the expression of more than a thousand genes in primary tumors of breast cancer patients (Arce et al., 2006; Li et al., 2005; Cameron et al., 1999). In addition, these drugs were found to down-regulate genes implicated in multidrug resistance, suggesting that they may have the potential to

resensitize cells to chemotherapeutic agents (Arce, 2006; Pérez-Plasencia and Duenas-Gonzalez, 2006).

Indeed, demethylating drugs and HDAC-i have proven to be valuable in combinational with other therapeutic modalities (Arce et al., 2006). Concurrent administration with classical cytotoxic agents, such as doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide, which are commonly prescribed for the primary treatment of breast cancer, was shown to be more effective than their single application (Arce et al., 2006). Nowadays, the majority of patients with cancer are treated with radiotherapy. To optimize the results obtained with this treatment modality, strategies to target tumorspecific cells have shown that treatment with HDAC-i, as well as demethylating agents, can increases the killing effect of radiation on tumor cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Chen et al., 2007; Chinnaiyan et al., 2005; Arundel and Leith, 1987), while acting as a radiation protectant in normal tissue. The exact mechanism through which these drugs mediate anti-tumour activity has not been elucidated, and further studies focusing on the chemoand radiosensitizing potential of these epigenetic drugs in a clinical setting may be promising avenues to explore.

5.4. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the field of epigenetics has evolved dramatically over the last few decades. However, there are still many gaps in our understanding of the epigenome; the list of DNA and histone modifying enzymes is far from complete. Future studies are required to identify and elucidate the exact role of the key players involved in the generation of epigenetic patterns and the complex interplay that exists between them. Only with the complete understanding of these epigenetic modifiers will the development of the most effective therapies be possible.

The potential of epigenetic alterations to act as biomarkers for cancer detection and treatment will be important to for developing preventative strategies that may one day make the currently unavoidable cancer deaths obsolete. Until that time, however, the reversible nature of epigenetic modifications has led to the development of several drugs aiming to restore a normal epigenetic balance. These drugs appear to be promising new therapeutic agents that can by implemented alone or as part of combinational therapies. Follow-up studies are required to monitor the efficacy of these epigenetic drugs and any long-term repercussions they may have should be taken into consideration.

6. REFERENCES

http://generadrisk.iarc.fr/index.php

- Acconcia F, Kumar R. Signaling regulation of genomic and nongenomic functions of estrogen receptors. Cancer Lett 2006; 238:1-14.
- Adamovic T, Roshani L, Chen L, Schaffer BS, Helou K, Levan G, Olsson B, Shull JD. Nonrandom pattern of chromosome aberrations in 17beta-estradiol-induced rat mammary tumors: indications of distinct pathways for tumor development. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2007; 46:459-69.
- Agoston AT, Argani P, Yegnasubramanian S, De Marzo AM, Ansari-Lari MA, Hicks JL, Davidson NE, Nelson WG. Increased protein stability causes DNA methyltransferase 1 dysregulation in breast cancer. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:18302-10.
- Allen ND, Norris ML, Surani MA. Epigenetic control of transgene expression and imprinting by genotype-specific modifiers. Cell 1990; 61:853-61.
- Amir E, Seruga B, Serrano R, Ocana A. Targeting DNA repair in breast cancer: A clinical and translational update. Cancer Treat Rev 2010, (in press).
- Amundson SA, Do KT, Fornace AJ, Jr. Induction of stress genes by low doses of gamma rays. Radiat Res 1999; 152:225-31.
- Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Sundaram C, Harikumar KB, Tharakan ST, Lai OS, Sung B, Aggarwal BB. Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. Pharm Res 2008; 25:2097-116.
- Andrieu N, Easton DF, Chang-Claude J, Rookus MA, Brohet R, Cardis E, Antoniou AC, Wagner T, Simard J, Evans G, Peock S, Fricker JP, Nogues C, Van't Veer L, Van Leeuwen FE, Goldgar DE. Effect of chest X-rays on the risk of breast cancer among BRCA1/2 mutation carriers in the international BRCA1/2 carrier cohort study: a report from the EMBRACE, GENEPSO, GEO-HEBON, and IBCCS Collaborators' Group. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24:3361-6.
- Arai E, Ushijima S, Fujimoto H, Hosoda F, Shibata T, Kondo T, Yokoi S, Imoto I, Inazawa J, Hirohashi S, Kanai Y. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiles in both precancerous conditions and clear cell renal cell carcinomas are correlated with malignant potential and patient outcome. Carcinogenesis 2009; 30:214-21.
- Araujo CM, Souhami L, Gil RA, Carvalho R, Garcia JA, Froimtchuk MJ, Pinto LH, Canary PC. A randomized trial comparing radiation therapy versus concomitant radiation therapy and chemotherapy in carcinoma of the thoracic esophagus. Cancer 1991; 67:2258-61.
- Arce C, Perez-Plasencia C, Gonzalez-Fierro A, de la Cruz-Hernandez E, Revilla-Vazquez A, Chavez-Blanco A, Trejo-Becerril C, Perez-Cardenas E, Taja-Chayeb L, Bargallo E, Villarreal P, Ramirez T, Vela T, Candelaria M, Camargo MF, Robles E, Duenas-Gonzalez A. A proof-of-principle study of epigenetic therapy added to neoadjuvant doxorubicin cyclophosphamide for locally advanced breast cancer. PLoS One 2006; 1:e98.
- Archer SY, Hodin RA. Histone acetylation and cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1999; 9:171-4.

- Arens N, Stiller M, Bierbaum M, Hildenbrand R. [Nuclear localization of heterochromatic regions varies in hyperplastic and preneoplastic lesions of the breast]. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol 2005; 89:191-4.
- Ariazi JL, Haag JD, Lindstrom MJ, Gould MN. Mammary glands of sexually immature rats are more susceptible than those of mature rats to the carcinogenic, lethal, and mutagenic effects of N-nitroso-N-methylurea. Mol Carcinog 2005; 43:155-64.
- Arlett CF, Harcourt SA, Lehmann AR, Stevens S, Ferguson-Smith MA, Morley WN. Studies on a new case of xeroderma pigmentosum (XP3BR) from complementation group G with cellular sensitivity to ionizing radiation. Carcinogenesis 1980; 1:745-51.
- Arnerlov C, Emdin SO, Cajander S, Bengtsson NO, Tavelin B, Roos G. Intratumoral variations in DNA ploidy and s-phase fraction in human breast cancer. Anal Cell Pathol 2001; 23:21-8.
- Arundel CM, Leith JT. Effects of nucleoside analogs and sodium butyrate on recovery from potentially lethal X ray damage in human colon tumor cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1987; 13:593-601.
- Bachman AN, Phillips JM, Goodman JI. Phenobarbital induces progressive patterns of GC-rich and gene-specific altered DNA methylation in the liver of tumor-prone B6C3F1 mice. Toxicol Sci 2006; 91:393-405.
- Bagnyukova TV, Tryndyak VP, Montgomery B, Churchwell MI, Karpf AR, James SR, Muskhelishvili L, Beland FA, Pogribny IP. Genetic and epigenetic changes in rat preneoplastic liver tissue induced by 2-acetylaminofluorene. Carcinogenesis 2008; 29:638-46.
- Ballestar E. Epigenetics Lessons from Twins: Prospects for Autoimmune Disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2009.
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. Histone methylation: recognizing the methyl mark. Methods Enzymol 2004; 376:269-88.
- Barratt MJ, Hazzalin CA, Cano E, Mahadevan LC. Mitogen-stimulated phosphorylation of histone H3 is targeted to a small hyperacetylation-sensitive fraction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91:4781-5.
- Bartstra RW, Bentvelzen PA, Zoetelief J, Mulder AH, Broerse JJ, van Bekkum DW. The influence of estrogen treatment on induction of mammary carcinoma in rats by single-dose gamma irradiation at different ages. Radiat Res 1998; 150:451-8.
- Bartstra RW, Bentvelzen PA, Zoetelief J, Mulder AH, Broerse JJ, van Bekkum DW. The effects of fractionated gamma irradiation on induction of mammary carcinoma in normal and estrogen-treated rats. Radiat Res 2000; 153:557-69.
- Baylin SB. Tying it all together: epigenetics, genetics, cell cycle, and cancer. Science 1997; 277:1948-9.
- Baylin SB, Esteller M, Rountree MR, Bachman KE, Schuebel K, Herman JG. Aberrant patterns of DNA methylation, chromatin formation and gene expression in cancer. Hum Mol Genet 2001; 10:687-92.
- Baylin SB, Ohm JE. Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer a mechanism for early oncogenic pathway addiction? Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6:107-16.
- Beaglehole R, Irwin A, Prentice T. World Health Report. Shaping the Future. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2003.

- Belinsky SA, Nikula KJ, Baylin SB, Issa JP. Increased cytosine DNA-methyltransferase activity is target-cell-specific and an early event in lung cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996; 93:4045-50.
- Beltran AS, Sun X, Lizardi PM, Blancafort P. Reprogramming epigenetic silencing: artificial transcription factors synergize with chromatin remodeling drugs to reactivate the tumor suppressor mammary serine protease inhibitor. Mol Cancer Ther 2008; 7:1080-90.
- Benetti R, Gonzalo S, Jaco I, Schotta G, Klatt P, Jenuwein T, Blasco MA. Suv4-20h deficiency results in telomere elongation and derepression of telomere recombination. J Cell Biol 2007; 178:925-36.
- Bernardino J, Roux C, Almeida A, Vogt N, Gibaud A, Gerbault-Seureau M, Magdelenat H, Bourgeois CA, Malfoy B, Dutrillaux B. DNA hypomethylation in breast cancer: an independent parameter of tumor progression? Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1997; 97:83-9.
- Bernstein BE, Humphrey EL, Erlich RL, Schneider R, Bouman P, Liu JS, Kouzarides T, Schreiber SL. Methylation of histone H3 Lys 4 in coding regions of active genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99:8695-700.
- Bernstein BE, Kamal M, Lindblad-Toh K, Bekiranov S, Bailey DK, Huebert DJ, McMahon S, Karlsson EK, Kulbokas EJ, 3rd, Gingeras TR, Schreiber SL, Lander ES. Genomic maps and comparative analysis of histone modifications in human and mouse. Cell 2005; 120:169-81.
- Bernstein JL, Haile RW, Stovall M, Boice JD, Jr., Shore RE, Langholz B, Thomas DC, Bernstein L, Lynch CF, Olsen JH, Malone KE, Mellemkjaer L, Borresen-Dale AL, Rosenstein BS, Teraoka SN, Diep AT, Smith SA, Capanu M, Reiner AS, Liang X, Gatti RA, Concannon P. Radiation exposure, the ATM Gene, and contralateral breast cancer in the women's environmental cancer and radiation epidemiology study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2010; 102:475-83.
- Bertelsen L, Mellemkjaer L, Christensen J, Rawal R, Olsen JH. Age-specific incidence of breast cancer in breast cancer survivors and their first-degree relatives. Epidemiology 2009; 20:175-80.
- Bhatia S, Robison LL, Oberlin O, Greenberg M, Bunin G, Fossati-Bellani F, Meadows AT. Breast cancer and other second neoplasms after childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 1996; 334:745-51.
- Birch JM, Alston RD, McNally RJ, Evans DG, Kelsey AM, Harris M, Eden OB, Varley JM. Relative frequency and morphology of cancers in carriers of germline TP53 mutations. Oncogene 2001; 20:4621-8.
- Bird AP. Functions for DNA methylation in vertebrates. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1993; 58:281-5.
- Bird AP, Wolffe AP. Methylation-induced repression--belts, braces, and chromatin. Cell 1999; 99:451-4.
- Bird A. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 2002; 16:6-21.
- Blanca A, Vidal-Jimenez A, Campos P. Histone acetylation and chromatin pattern in cancer: a review. Anal Quant Cytol Histol 2008; 30:340-1.
- Blander G, Guarente L. The Sir2 family of protein deacetylases. Annu Rev Biochem 2004; 73:417-35.

- Bittner JJ. Studies on the inherited susceptibility and inherited hormonal influence in the genesis of mammary cancer in mice. Cancer Res 1952; 12:594-601.
- Blankenstein MA, Broerse JJ, de Vries JB, van den Berg KJ, Knaan S, van der Molen HJ. The effect of subcutaneous administration of oestrogens on plasma oestrogen levels and tumour incidence in female rats. Eur J Cancer 1977; 13:1437-43.
- Boice JD, Jr., Preston D, Davis FG, Monson RR. Frequent chest X-ray fluoroscopy and breast cancer incidence among tuberculosis patients in Massachusetts. Radiat Res 1991; 125:214-22.
- Boice JD, Jr., Harvey EB, Blettner M, Stovall M, Flannery JT. Cancer in the contralateral breast after radiotherapy for breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1992; 326:781-5.
- Bond VP, Cronkite EP, Lippincott SW, Shellabarger CJ. Studies on radiation-induced mammary gland neoplasia in the rat. III. Relation of the neoplastic response to dose of total-body radiation. Radiat Res 1960; 12:276-85.
- Bond GL, Levine AJ. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the p53 pathway interacts with gender, environmental stresses and tumor genetics to influence cancer in humans. Oncogene 2007; 26:1317-23.
- Borek C, Ong A, Mason H, Donahue L, Biaglow JE. Selenium and vitamin E inhibit radiogenic and chemically induced transformation in vitro via different mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83:1490-4.
- Borek C. Antioxidants and radiation therapy. J Nutr 2004; 134:3207S-9S.
- Bouska A, Eischen CM. Mdm2 affects genome stability independent of p53. Cancer Res 2009; 69:1697-701.
- Bovie WT. The Localization of the Physiological Effects of Radiation within the Cell. J Med Res 1918; 39:251-65.
- Bradbury AR, Olopade OI. Genetic susceptibility to breast cancer. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2007; 8:255-67.
- Brodie AM, Njar VC. Aromatase inhibitors in advanced breast cancer: mechanism of action and clinical implications. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1998; 66:1-10.
- Brody JG, Moysich KB, Humblet O, Attfield KR, Beehler GP, Rudel RA. Environmental pollutants and breast cancer: epidemiologic studies. Cancer 2007; 109: 2667-2711.
- Broeks A, Russell NS, Floore AN, Urbanus JH, Dahler EC, van TVMB, Hagenbeek A, Noordijk EM, Crommelin MA, van Leeuwen FE, van TVLJ. Increased risk of breast cancer following irradiation for Hodgkin's disease is not a result of ATM germline mutations. Int J Radiat Biol 2000; 76:693-8.
- Broeks A, Braaf LM, Huseinovic A, Nooijen A, Urbanus J, Hogervorst FB, Schmidt MK, Klijn JG, Russell NS, Van Leeuwen FE, Van 't Veer LJ. Identification of women with an increased risk of developing radiation-induced breast cancer: a case only study. Breast Cancer Res 2007; 9:R26.
- Broerse JJ, Hennen LA, Solleveld HA. Actuarial analysis of the hazard for mammary carcinogenesis in different rat strains after X- and neutron irradiation. Leuk Res 1986; 10:749-54.
- Broerse JJ, Hennen LA, Klapwijk WM, Solleveld HA. Mammary carcinogenesis in different rat strains after irradiation and hormone administration. Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med 1987; 51:1091-100.

- Brose MS, Rebbeck TR, Calzone KA, Stopfer JE, Nathanson KL, Weber BL. Cancer risk estimates for BRCA1 mutation carriers identified in a risk evaluation program. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002; 94:1365-72.
- Brown R, Strathdee G. Epigenomics and epigenetic therapy of cancer. Trends Mol Med 2002; 8:S43-8.
- Brown LM, Chen BE, Pfeiffer RM, Schairer C, Hall P, Storm H, Pukkala E, Langmark F, Kaijser M, Andersson M, Joensuu H, Fossa SD, Travis LB. Risk of second nonhematological malignancies among 376,825 breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2007; 106:439-51.
- Brunner N, Bronzert D, Vindelov LL, Rygaard K, Spang-Thomsen M, Lippman ME. Effect on growth and cell cycle kinetics of estradiol and tamoxifen on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in vitro and in nude mice. Cancer Res 1989; 49:1515-20.
- Bucca G, Carruba G, Saetta A, Muti P, Castagnetta L, Smith CP. Gene expression profiling of human cancers. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2004; 1028:28-37.
- Buiting K, Saitoh S, Gross S, Dittrich B, Schwartz S, Nicholls RD, Horsthemke B. Inherited microdeletions in the Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes define an imprinting centre on human chromosome 15. Nat Genet 1995; 9:395-400.
- Buiting K, Gross S, Lich C, Gillessen-Kaesbach G, el-Maarri O, Horsthemke B. Epimutations in Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes: a molecular study of 136 patients with an imprinting defect. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 72:571-7.
- Cabelof DC, Raffoul JJ, Nakamura J, Kapoor D, Abdalla H, Heydari AR. Imbalanced base excision repair in response to folate deficiency is accelerated by polymerase beta haploinsufficiency. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:36504-13.
- Calaf GM, Hei TK. Establishment of a radiation- and estrogen-induced breast cancer model. Carcinogenesis 2000; 21:769-76.
- Calaf G, Hei TK. Oncoprotein expression in human breast epithelial cells transformed by high-LET radiation. Int J Radiat Biol 2001; 77:31-40.
- Calaf GM, Roy D, Hei TK. Immunochemical analysis of protein expression in breast epithelial cells transformed by estrogens and high linear energy transfer (LET) radiation. Histochem Cell Biol 2005; 124:261-74.
- Cameron EE, Bachman KE, Myohanen S, Herman JG, Baylin SB. Synergy of demethylation and histone deacetylase inhibition in the re-expression of genes silenced in cancer. Nat Genet 1999; 21:103-7.
- Cavalieri EL, Stack DE, Devanesan PD, Todorovic R, Dwivedy I, Higginbotham S, Johansson SL, Patil KD, Gross ML, Gooden JK, Ramanathan R, Cerny RL, Rogan EG. Molecular origin of cancer: catechol estrogen-3,4-quinones as endogenous tumor initiators. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:10937-42.
- Cavalieri EL, Rogan EG. A unified mechanism in the initiation of cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2002; 959:341-54.
- Cavalieri E, Chakravarti D, Guttenplan J, Hart E, Ingle J, Jankowiak R, Muti P, Rogan E, Russo J, Santen R, Sutter T. Catechol estrogen quinones as initiators of breast and other human cancers: implications for biomarkers of susceptibility and cancer prevention. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006; 1766:63-78.
- Cedar H, Bergman Y. Linking DNA methylation and histone modification: patterns and paradigms. Nat Rev Genet 2009; 10:295-304.

- Chadee DN, Hendzel MJ, Tylipski CP, Allis CD, Bazett-Jones DP, Wright JA, Davie JR. Increased Ser-10 phosphorylation of histone H3 in mitogen-stimulated and oncogene-transformed mouse fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:24914-20.
- Chan TL, Yuen ST, Kong CK, Chan YW, Chan AS, Ng WF, Tsui WY, Lo MW, Tam WY, Li VS, Leung SY. Heritable germline epimutation of MSH2 in a family with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Nat Genet 2006; 38:1178-83.
- Chang-Claude J, Popanda O, Tan XL, Kropp S, Helmbold I, von Fournier D, Haase W, Sautter-Bihl ML, Wenz F, Schmezer P, Ambrosone CB. Association between polymorphisms in the DNA repair genes, XRCC1, APE1, and XPD and acute side effects of radiotherapy in breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 2005; 11:4802-9.
- Charles M. UNSCEAR report 2000: sources and effects of ionizing radiation. United Nations Scientific Comittee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. J Radiol Prot 2001; 21:83-6.
- Chekhun VF, Lukyanova NY, Kovalchuk O, Tryndyak VP, Pogribny IP. Epigenetic profiling of multidrug-resistant human MCF-7 breast adenocarcinoma cells reveals novel hyper- and hypomethylated targets. Mol Cancer Ther 2007; 6:1089-98.
- Chen Y, Shen L, Zhang F, Lau SS, van Breemen RB, Nikolic D, Bolton JL. The equine estrogen metabolite 4-hydroxyequilenin causes DNA single-strand breaks and oxidation of DNA bases in vitro. Chem Res Toxicol 1998; 11:1105-11.
- Chen T, Li E. Establishment and maintenance of DNA methylation patterns in mammals. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2006; 301:179-201.
- Chen CS, Wang YC, Yang HC, Huang PH, Kulp SK, Yang CC, Lu YS, Matsuyama S, Chen CY. Histone deacetylase inhibitors sensitize prostate cancer cells to agents that produce DNA double-strand breaks by targeting Ku70 acetylation. Cancer Res 2007; 67:5318-27.
- Cheng KK, Lee DT. Effects of pain, fatigue, insomnia, and mood disturbance on functional status and quality of life of elderly patients with cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2010, (in press).
- Chiang PK, Gordon RK, Tal J, Zeng GC, Doctor BP, Pardhasaradhi K, McCann PP. S-Adenosylmethionine and methylation. FASEB J 1996; 10:471-80.
- Chinnaiyan P, Vallabhaneni G, Armstrong E, Huang SM, Harari PM. Modulation of radiation response by histone deacetylase inhibition. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005; 62:223-9.
- Choi HS, Choi BY, Cho YY, Mizuno H, Kang BS, Bode AM, Dong Z. Phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 is indispensable for neoplastic cell transformation. Cancer Res 2005; 65:5818-27.
- Choi YS, Sin JI, Kim JH, Ye GW, Shin IH, Lee TS. Survival benefits of neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by radical surgery versus radiotherapy in locally advanced chemoresistant cervical cancer. J Korean Med Sci 2006; 21:683-9.
- Chou CH, Chen SU, Cheng JC. Radiation-induced interleukin-6 expression through MAPK/p38/NF-kappaB signaling pathway and the resultant antiapoptotic effect on endothelial cells through Mcl-1 expression with sIL6-Ralpha. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009; 75:1553-61.

- Christman JK, Sheikhnejad G, Dizik M, Abileah S, Wainfan E. Reversibility of changes in nucleic acid methylation and gene expression induced in rat liver by severe dietary methyl deficiency. Carcinogenesis 1993; 14:551-7.
 Christman JK. 5-Azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine as inhibitors of DNA methylation: mechanistic studies and their implications for cancer therapy. Oncogene 2002; 21:5483-95.
- Christov K, Shilkaitis A, Green A, Mehta RG, Grubbs C, Kelloff G, Lubet R. Cellular responses of mammary carcinomas to aromatase inhibitors: effects of vorozole. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2000; 60:117-28.
- Chumakov PM. Function of the p53 gene: choice between life and death. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2000; 65:28-40.
- Clarke AR, Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Morris RG, Bird CC, Hooper ML, Wyllie AH. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. Nature 1993; 362:849-52.
- Clarke R, Skaar T, Baumann K, Leonessa F, James M, Lippman J, Thompson EW, Freter C, Brunner N. Hormonal carcinogenesis in breast cancer: cellular and molecular studies of malignant progression. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1994; 31:237-48.
- Clemons M, Goss P. Estrogen and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:276-85.
- Clouaire T, de Las Heras JI, Merusi C, Stancheva I. Recruitment of MBD1 to target genes requires sequence-specific interaction of the MBD domain with methylated DNA. Nucleic Acids Res.
- Coleman WB, Tsongalis GJ. The role of genomic instability in human carcinogenesis. Anticancer Res 1999; 19:4645-64.
- Conklin KA. Dietary antioxidants during cancer chemotherapy: impact on chemotherapeutic effectiveness and development of side effects. Nutr Cancer 2000; 37:1-18.
- Conacci-Sorrell M, Zhurinsky J, Ben-Ze'ev A. The cadherin-catenin adhesion system in signaling and cancer. J Clin Invest 2002; 109:987-91.
- Coutts AS, La Thangue NB. Mdm2 widens its repertoire. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:827-9.
- Crawford YG, Gauthier ML, Joubel A, Mantei K, Kozakiewicz K, Afshari CA, Tlsty TD. Histologically normal human mammary epithelia with silenced p16(INK4a) overexpress COX-2, promoting a premalignant program. Cancer Cell 2004; 5:263-73.
- Crump M, Hodgson D. Secondary breast cancer in Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27:4229-31.
- Cuzick J, Powles T, Veronesi U, Forbes J, Edwards R, Ashley S, Boyle P. Overview of the main outcomes in breast-cancer prevention trials. Lancet 2003; 361:296-300.
- Dalvai M, Bystricky K. The role of histone modifications and variants in regulating gene expression in breast cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2010; 15: 19-33.
- De Lena M, Varini M, Zucali R, Rovini D, Viganotti G, Valagussa P, Veronesi U, Bonadonna G. Multimodal treatment for locally advanced breast cancer. Result of chemotherapy-radiotherapy versus chemotherapy-surgery. Cancer Clin Trials 1981; 4:229-36.
- De Schutter H, Nuyts S. Radiosensitizing potential of epigenetic anticancer drugs. Anticancer Agents Med Chem 2009; 9:99-108.

- DeBaun MR, Tucker MA. Risk of cancer during the first four years of life in children from The Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome Registry. J Pediatr 1998; 132:398-400.
- DeBaun MR, Nisemitz EL, McNeil DE, Brandenburg SA, Lee MP, Feinberg AP. Epigenetic alterations of H19 and LIT1 distinguish patients with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome with cancer and birth defects. Am J Hum Genet 2002; 70:604-11.
- Ding L, Erdmann C, Chinnaiyan AM, Merajver SD, Kleer CG. Identification of EZH2 as a molecular marker for a precancerous state in morphologically normal breast tissues. Cancer Res 2006; 66:4095-9.
- Dodge JE, Okano M, Dick F, Tsujimoto N, Chen T, Wang S, Ueda Y, Dyson N, Li E. Inactivation of Dnmt3b in mouse embryonic fibroblasts results in DNA hypomethylation, chromosomal instability, and spontaneous immortalization. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:17986-91.
- Doi A, Park IH, Wen B, Murakami P, Aryee MJ, Irizarry R, Herb B, Ladd-Acosta C, Rho J, Loewer S, Miller J, Schlaeger T, Daley GQ, Feinberg AP. Differential methylation of tissue- and cancer-specific CpG island shores distinguishes human induced pluripotent stem cells, embryonic stem cells and fibroblasts. Nat Genet 2009; 41:1350-3.
- Doisneau-Sixou SF, Sergio CM, Carroll JS, Hui R, Musgrove EA, Sutherland RL. Estrogen and antiestrogen regulation of cell cycle progression in breast cancer cells. Endocr Relat Cancer 2003; 10:179-86.
- Downing JR. Acute leukemia: subtype discovery and prediction of outcome by gene expression profiling. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol 2003; 87:66-71.
- Domann FE, Futscher BW. Flipping the epigenetic switch. Am J Pathol 2004; 164:1883-6.
- Dudley KJ, Revill K, Whitby P, Clayton RN, Farrell WE. Genome-wide analysis in a murine Dnmt1 knockdown model identifies epigenetically silenced genes in primary human pituitary tumors. Mol Cancer Res 2008; 6:1567-74.
- Dumitrescu RG, Cotarla I. Understanding breast cancer risk -- where do we stand in 2005? J Cell Mol Med 2005; 9:208-21.
- Dunning WF, Curtis MR, Segaloff A. Strain differences in response to diethylstilbestrol and the induction of mammary gland, adrenal and bladder cancer in the rat. J Mich State Med Soc 1948; 47:305.
- Dyson MH, Thomson S, Inagaki M, Goto H, Arthur SJ, Nightingale K, Iborra FJ, Mahadevan LC. MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation of distinct pools of histone H3 at S10 or S28 via mitogen- and stress-activated kinase 1/2. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:2247-59.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005; 365:1687-717.
- Easton DF, Ford D, Bishop DT. Breast and ovarian cancer incidence in BRCA1-mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Am J Hum Genet 1995; 56:265-71.
- Easton DF, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, Pharoah PD, Thompson D, Ballinger DG, Struewing JP, Morrison J, Field H, Luben R, Wareham N, Ahmed S, Healey CS, Bowman R, Meyer KB, Haiman CA, Kolonel LK, Henderson BE, Le Marchand

L, Brennan P, Sangrajrang S, Gaborieau V, Odefrey F, Shen CY, Wu PE, Wang HC, Eccles D, Evans DG, Peto J, Fletcher O, Johnson N, Seal S, Stratton MR, Rahman N, Chenevix-Trench G, Bojesen SE, Nordestgaard BG, Axelsson CK, Garcia-Closas M, Brinton L, Chanock S, Lissowska J, Peplonska B, Nevanlinna H, Fagerholm R, Eerola H, Kang D, Yoo KY, Noh DY, Ahn SH, Hunter DJ, Hankinson SE, Cox DG, Hall P, Wedren S, Liu J, Low YL, Bogdanova N, Schurmann P, Dork T, Tollenaar RA, Jacobi CE, Devilee P, Klijn JG, Sigurdson AJ, Doody MM, Alexander BH, Zhang J, Cox A, Brock IW, MacPherson G, Reed MW, Couch FJ, Goode EL, Olson JE, Meijers-Heijboer H, van den Ouweland A, Uitterlinden A, Rivadeneira F, Milne RL, Ribas G, Gonzalez-Neira A, Benitez J, Hopper JL, McCredie M, Southey M, Giles GG, Schroen C, Justenhoven C, Brauch H, Hamann U, Ko YD, Spurdle AB, Beesley J, Chen X, Mannermaa A, Kosma VM, Kataja V, Hartikainen J, Day NE, Cox DR, Ponder BA. Genomewide association study identifies novel breast cancer susceptibility loci. Nature 2007; 447:1087-93.

- Edwards DP. Regulation of signal transduction pathways by estrogen and progesterone. Annu Rev Physiol 2005; 67:335-76.
- Efeyan A, Serrano M. p53: guardian of the genome and policeman of the oncogenes. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:1006-10.
- Egger G, Liang G, Aparicio A, Jones PA. Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. Nature 2004; 429:457-63
- Ehrlich M. DNA methylation in cancer: too much, but also too little. Oncogene 2002; 21:5400-13.
- Elgazzar AH, Kazem N. Biological effects of ionizing radiation. In: Elgazzar AH, ed. The Pathophysiologic Basis of Nuclear Medicine. Berlin: Springer 2006.
- Ellsworth DL, Ellsworth RE, Liebman MN, Hooke JA, Shriver CD. Genomic instability in histologically normal breast tissues: implications for carcinogenesis. Lancet Oncol 2004; 5:753-8.
- Epifanova OI. Mitotic cycles in estrogen-treated mice: a radioautographic study. Exp Cell Res 1966; 42:562-77.
- Esteller M. Epigenetic lesions causing genetic lesions in human cancer: promoter hypermethylation of DNA repair genes. Eur J Cancer 2000; 36:2294-300.
- Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, Goodman SN, Hidalgo OF, Vanaclocha V, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Inactivation of the DNA-repair gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:1350-4.
- Esteller M, Corn PG, Baylin SB, Herman JG. A gene hypermethylation profile of human cancer. Cancer Res 2001; 61:3225-9.
- Esteller M, Herman JG. Cancer as an epigenetic disease: DNA methylation and chromatin alterations in human tumours. J Pathol 2002; 196:1-7.
- Esteller M. CpG island methylation and histone modifications: biology and clinical significance. Ernst Schering Res Found Workshop 2006:115-26.
- Esteller M. CpG island methylation and histone modifications: biology and clinical significance. Ernst Schering Res Found Workshop 2006:115-26.
- Esteller M. Cancer epigenomics: DNA methylomes and histone-modification maps. Nat Rev Genet 2007; 8:286-98.
- Esteller M. Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:1148-59.

- Fan F, Liu C, Tavare S, Arnheim N. Polymorphisms in the human DNA repair gene XPF. Mutat Res 1999; 406:115-20.
- Fay JR, Crowell JA, Kopelovich L. Targeting epigenetic regulatory mechanisms in cancer chemoprevention. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2005; 9:315-28.

Feher T, Bodrogi L, Vallent K, Ribai Z. Role of human adipose tissue in the production and metabolism of steroid hormones. Endokrinologie 1982; 80:173-80.

- 37. Ferguson AT, Nass SJ. DNA methylation and breast cancer. Current Genomics 2000; 1:41-58.
- Feil R, Walter J, Allen ND, Reik W. Developmental control of allelic methylation in the imprinted mouse Igf2 and H19 genes. Development 1994; 120:2933-43.
- Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature 1983A; 301:89-92.
- Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation of ras oncogenes in primary human cancers. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1983B; 111:47-54.
- Feinberg AP. The epigenetics of cancer etiology. Semin Cancer Biol 2004; 14:427-32.
- Feinberg AP, Tycko B. The history of cancer epigenetics. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4:143-53.
- Feinberg AP, Ohlsson R, Henikoff S. The epigenetic progenitor origin of human cancer. Nat Rev Genet 2006; 7:21-33.
- Feinendegen LE. Evidence for beneficial low level radiation effects and radiation hormesis. Br J Radiol 2005; 78:3-7.
- Ferguson AT, Nass SJ. DNA methylation and breast cancer. Current Genomics 2000; 1:41-58.
- Fernandez SV, Russo IH, Lareef M, Balsara B, Russo J. Comparative genomic hybridization of human breast epithelial cells transformed by estrogen and its metabolites. Int J Oncol 2005; 26:691-5.
- Fernandez SV, Russo IH, Russo J. Estradiol and its metabolites 4-hydroxyestradiol and 2-hydroxyestradiol induce mutations in human breast epithelial cells. Int J Cancer 2006; 118:1862-8.
- Figueroa ME, Melnick A, Greally JM. Genome-wide determination of DNA methylation by Hpa II tiny fragment enrichment by ligation-mediated PCR (HELP) for the study of acute leukemias. Methods Mol Biol 2009; 538:395-407.
- Figueroa ME, Lugthart S, Li Y, Erpelinck-Verschueren C, Deng X, Christos PJ, Schifano E, Booth J, van Putten W, Skrabanek L, Campagne F, Mazumdar M, Greally JM, Valk PJ, Lowenberg B, Delwel R, Melnick A. DNA methylation signatures identify biologically distinct subtypes in acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Cell 2010; 17:13-27.
- Fischle W. Talk is cheap--cross-talk in establishment, maintenance, and readout of chromatin modifications. Genes Dev 2008; 22:3375-82.
- Fishman J, Martucci C. Biological properties of 16 alpha-hydroxyestrone: implications in estrogen physiology and pathophysiology. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1980; 51:611-5.
- Fletcher TM, Hansen JC. Core histone tail domains mediate oligonucleosome folding and nucleosomal DNA organization through distinct molecular mechanisms. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:25359-62.

- Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, Ropero S, Setien F, Ballestar ML, Heine-Suner D, Cigudosa JC, Urioste M, Benitez J, Boix-Chornet M, Sanchez-Aguilera A, Ling C, Carlsson E, Poulsen P, Vaag A, Stephan Z, Spector TD, Wu YZ, Plass C, Esteller M. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005A; 102:10604-9.
- Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Villar-Garea A, Boix-Chornet M, Espada J, Schotta G, Bonaldi T, Haydon C, Ropero S, Petrie K, Iyer NG, Perez-Rosado A, Calvo E, Lopez JA, Cano A, Calasanz MJ, Colomer D, Piris MA, Ahn N, Imhof A, Caldas C, Jenuwein T, Esteller M. Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. Nat Genet 2005B; 37:391-400.
- Frank TS, Deffenbaugh AM, Reid JE, Hulick M, Ward BE, Lingenfelter B, Gumpper KL, Scholl T, Tavtigian SV, Pruss DR, Critchfield GC. Clinical characteristics of individuals with germline mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2: analysis of 10,000 individuals. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20:1480-90.
- Freitag M, Selker EU. Controlling DNA methylation: many roads to one modification. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2005; 15:191-9.
- Fritz G, Grosch S, Tomicic M, Kaina B. APE/Ref-1 and the mammalian response to genotoxic stress. Toxicology 2003; 193:67-78.
- Fujii S, Ito K, Ito Y, Ochiai A. Enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (EZH2) down-regulates RUNX3 by increasing histone H3 methylation. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:17324-32.
- Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird AP, Kouzarides T. The methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:4035-40.
- Futreal PA, Liu Q, Shattuck-Eidens D, Cochran C, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, Bennett LM, Haugen-Strano A, Swensen J, Miki Y, et al. BRCA1 mutations in primary breast and ovarian carcinomas. Science 1994; 266:120-2.
- Futscher BW, Oshiro MM, Wozniak RJ, Holtan N, Hanigan CL, Duan H, Domann FE. Role for DNA methylation in the control of cell type specific maspin expression. Nat Genet 2002; 31:175-9.
- Futscher BW, Domann FE, eds. Cell adhesion and cytoskeletal molecules in metastasis: Springer Netherlands, 2006.
- Gaikwad NW, Yang L, Muti P, Meza JL, Pruthi S, Ingle JN, Rogan EG, Cavalieri EL. The molecular etiology of breast cancer: evidence from biomarkers of risk. Int J Cancer 2008; 122:1949-57.
- Gama-Sosa MA, Midgett RM, Slagel VA, Githens S, Kuo KC, Gehrke CW, Ehrlich M. Tissue-specific differences in DNA methylation in various mammals. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 740:212-9.
- Gardiner-Garden M, Frommer M. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. J Mol Biol 1987; 196:261-82.
- Gatti R. Ataxia-Telangiectasia. In: Pagon RA, Bird TC, Dolan CR, Stephens K, eds. University of Washington, Seattle: GeneReviews, 1993.
- Gaudet F, Hodgson JG, Eden A, Jackson-Grusby L, Dausman J, Gray JW, Leonhardt H, Jaenisch R. Induction of tumors in mice by genomic hypomethylation. Science 2003; 300:489-92.

- Geiman TM, Robertson KD. Chromatin remodeling, histone modifications, and DNA methylation-how does it all fit together? J Cell Biochem 2002; 87:117-25.
- Gius D, Cui H, Bradbury CM, Cook J, Smart DK, Zhao S, Young L, Brandenburg SA, Hu Y, Bisht KS, Ho AS, Mattson D, Sun L, Munson PJ, Chuang EY, Mitchell JB, Feinberg AP. Distinct effects on gene expression of chemical and genetic manipulation of the cancer epigenome revealed by a multimodality approach. Cancer Cell 2004; 6:361-71.
- Goll MG, Bestor TH. Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 2005; 74:481-514.
- Goodhead DT. Initial events in the cellular effects of ionizing radiations: clustered damage in DNA. Int J Radiat Biol 1994; 65:7-17.
- Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Piccart MJ, Castiglione M, Tu D, Shepherd LE, Pritchard KI, Livingston RB, Davidson NE, Norton L, Perez EA, Abrams JS, Cameron DA, Palmer MJ, Pater JL. Randomized trial of letrozole following tamoxifen as extended adjuvant therapy in receptor-positive breast cancer: updated findings from NCIC CTG MA.17. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97:1262-71.
- Goto Y, Shinjo K, Kondo Y, Shen L, Toyota M, Suzuki H, Gao W, An B, Fujii M, Murakami H, Osada H, Taniguchi T, Usami N, Kondo M, Hasegawa Y, Shimokata K, Matsuo K, Hida T, Fujimoto N, Kishimoto T, Issa JP, Sekido Y. Epigenetic profiles distinguish malignant pleural mesothelioma from lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 2009; 69:9073-82.
- Gould MN, Lubet RA, Kelloff GJ, Haag JD. Inherited susceptibility and acquired allelic imbalance in rat mammary carcinogenesis. J Cell Biochem Suppl 1996; 25:37-40.
- Gould KA, Tochacek M, Schaffer BS, Reindl TM, Murrin CR, Lachel CM, VanderWoude EA, Pennington KL, Flood LA, Bynote KK, Meza JL, Newton MA, Shull JD. Genetic determination of susceptibility to estrogen-induced mammary cancer in the ACI rat: mapping of Emca1 and Emca2 to chromosomes 5 and 18. Genetics 2004; 168:2113-25.
- Grady WM, Willis J, Guilford PJ, Dunbier AK, Toro TT, Lynch H, Wiesner G, Ferguson K, Eng C, Park JG, Kim SJ, Markowitz S. Methylation of the CDH1 promoter as the second genetic hit in hereditary diffuse gastric cancer. Nat Genet 2000; 26:16-7.
- Grant PA. A tale of histone modifications. Genome Biol 2001; 2:REVIEWS0003.
- Greenblatt MS, Bennett WP, Hollstein M, Harris CC. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. Cancer Res 1994; 54:4855-78.
- Greger V, Passarge E, Hopping W, Messmer E, Horsthemke B. Epigenetic changes may contribute to the formation and spontaneous regression of retinoblastoma. Hum Genet 1989; 83:155-8.
- Groth A. Replicating chromatin: a tale of histones. Biochem Cell Biol 2009; 87:51-63.
- Gu Y, Jin S, Gao Y, Weaver DT, Alt FW. Ku70-deficient embryonic stem cells have increased ionizing radiosensitivity, defective DNA end-binding activity, and inability to support V(D)J recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:8076-81.

- Gunin AG, Kapitova IN, Suslonova NV. Effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors on estradiol-induced proliferation and hyperplasia formation in the mouse uterus. J Endocrinol 2005; 185:539-49.
- Gutierrez-Enriquez S, Fernet M, Dork T, Bremer M, Lauge A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Moullan N, Angele S, Hall J. Functional consequences of ATM sequence variants for chromosomal radiosensitivity. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2004; 40:109-19.
- Haffty BG, Harrold E, Khan AJ, Pathare P, Smith TE, Turner BC, Glazer PM, Ward B, Carter D, Matloff E, Bale AE, Alvarez-Franco M. Outcome of conservatively managed early-onset breast cancer by BRCA1/2 status. Lancet 2002; 359:1471-7.
- Haines DS. The mdm2 proto-oncogene. Leuk Lymphoma 1997; 26:227-38.
- Hallstrom TC, Nevins JR. Balancing the decision of cell proliferation and cell fate. Cell Cycle 2009; 8:532-5.
- Hamilton AS, Mack TM. Puberty and genetic susceptibility to breast cancer in a casecontrol study in twins. N Engl J Med 2003; 348:2313-22.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100:57-70.
- Haque FN, Gottesman, II, Wong AH. Not really identical: epigenetic differences in monozygotic twins and implications for twin studies in psychiatry. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 2009; 151C:136-41.
- Harris CC. p53 tumor suppressor gene: at the crossroads of molecular carcinogenesis, molecular epidemiology, and cancer risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 1996; 104 Suppl 3:435-9.
- Hartwell L, Weinert T, Kadyk L, Garvik B. Cell cycle checkpoints, genomic integrity, and cancer. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1994; 59:259-63.
- Harvell DM, Strecker TE, Tochacek M, Xie B, Pennington KL, McComb RD, Roy SK, Shull JD. Rat strain-specific actions of 17beta-estradiol in the mammary gland: correlation between estrogen-induced lobuloalveolar hyperplasia and susceptibility to estrogen-induced mammary cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97:2779-84.
- Hasegawa K, Wakino S, Yoshioka K, Tatematsu S, Hara Y, Minakuchi H, Washida N, Tokuyama H, Hayashi K, Itoh H. Sirt1 protects against oxidative stress-induced renal tubular cell apoptosis by the bidirectional regulation of catalase expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008; 372:51-6.
- Hasty P. The impact of DNA damage, genetic mutation and cellular responses on cancer prevention, longevity and aging: observations in humans and mice. Mech Ageing Dev 2005; 126:71-7.
- Hawes SM, Gie Chung Y, Latham KE. Genetic and epigenetic factors affecting blastomere fragmentation in two-cell stage mouse embryos. Biol Reprod 2001; 65:1050-6.
- He Z, Ma WY, Liu G, Zhang Y, Bode AM, Dong Z. Arsenite-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 is mediated by Akt1, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2, and p90 ribosomal S6 kinase 2 but not mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:10588-93.
- He Z, Cho YY, Ma WY, Choi HS, Bode AM, Dong Z. Regulation of ultraviolet Binduced phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 by Fyn kinase. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:2446-54.
- Henderson BE, Ross RK, Pike MC, Casagrande JT. Endogenous hormones as a major factor in human cancer. Cancer Res 1982; 42:3232-9.
- Hendzel MJ, Wei Y, Mancini MA, Van Hooser A, Ranalli T, Brinkley BR, Bazett-Jones DP, Allis CD. Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of histone H3 initiates primarily within pericentromeric heterochromatin during G2 and spreads in an ordered fashion coincident with mitotic chromosome condensation. Chromosoma 1997; 106:348-60.
- Herman JG. Epigenetic changes in cancer and preneoplasia. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 2005; 70:329-33.
- Hesson LB, Cooper WN, Latif F. The role of RASSF1A methylation in cancer. Dis Markers 2007; 23:73-87.
- Hikita H, Vaughan J, Babcock K, Pitot HC. Short-term fasting and the reversal of the stage of promotion in rat hepatocarcinogenesis: role of cell replication, apoptosis, and gene expression. Toxicol Sci 1999; 52:17-23.
- Hilakivi-Clarke L. Nutritional modulation of terminal end buds: its relevance to breast cancer prevention. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2007; 7:465-74.
- Hinshelwood RA, Clark SJ. Breast cancer epigenetics: normal human mammary epithelial cells as a model system. J Mol Med 2008; 86:1315-28.
- Hoggard N, Brintnell B, Howell A, Weissenbach J, Varley J. Allelic imbalance on chromosome 1 in human breast cancer. II. Microsatellite repeat analysis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1995; 12:24-31.
- Holliday R, Pugh JE. DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. Science 1975; 187:226-32.
- Holst CR, Nuovo GJ, Esteller M, Chew K, Baylin SB, Herman JG, Tlsty TD. Methylation of p16(INK4a) promoters occurs in vivo in histologically normal human mammary epithelia. Cancer Res 2003; 63:1596-601.
- Holtzman S, Stone JP, Shellabarger CJ. Synergism of diethylstilbestrol and radiation in mammary carcinogenesis in female F344 rats. J Natl Cancer Inst 1979; 63:1071-4.
- Holtzman S, Stone JP, Shellabarger CJ. Synergism of estrogens and X-rays in mammary carcinogenesis in female ACI rats. J Natl Cancer Inst 1981; 67:455-9.
- Howe GR, McLaughlin J. Breast cancer mortality between 1950 and 1987 after exposure to fractionated moderate-dose-rate ionizing radiation in the Canadian fluoroscopy cohort study and a comparison with breast cancer mortality in the atomic bomb survivors study. Radiat Res 1996; 145:694-707.
- Howell A, Cuzick J, Baum M, Buzdar A, Dowsett M, Forbes JF, Hoctin-Boes G, Houghton J, Locker GY, Tobias JS. Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. Lancet 2005; 365:60-2.
- Hsu LC, Kennan WS, Shepel LA, Jacob HJ, Szpirer C, Szpirer J, Lander ES, Gould MN. Genetic identification of Mcs-1, a rat mammary carcinoma suppressor gene. Cancer Res 1994; 54:2765-70.
- Hudson CE, Kelly MM, Schwartz DA, Schofield DA, DeHaven JE, Schulte BA, Norris JS. Glutathione S-transferase in hormonal carcinogenesis. Chem Biol Interact 1998; 111-112:343-50.

- Iau PT, Macmillan RD, Blamey RW. Germ line mutations associated with breast cancer susceptibility. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37:300-21.
- Ibarluzea Jm J, Fernandez MF, Santa-Marina L, Olea-Serrano MF, Rivas AM, Aurrekoetxea JJ, Exposito J, Lorenzo M, Torne P, Villalobos M, Pedraza V, Sasco AJ, Olea N. Breast cancer risk and the combined effect of environmental estrogens. Cancer Causes Control 2004; 15:591-600.
- Imaoka T, Nishimura M, Nishimura Y, Kakinuma S, Shimada Y. Persistent cell proliferation of terminal end buds precedes radiation-induced rat mammary carcinogenesis. In Vivo 2006; 20:353-8.
- Imaoka T, Yamashita S, Nishimura M, Kakinuma S, Ushijima T, Shimada Y. Gene expression profiling distinguishes between spontaneous and radiation-induced rat mammary carcinomas. J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 2008; 49:349-60.
- Imaoka T, Nishimura M, Iizuka D, Daino K, Takabatake T, Okamoto M, Kakinuma S, Shimada Y. Radiation-induced mammary carcinogenesis in rodent models: what's different from chemical carcinogenesis? J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 2009; 50:281-93.
- Inano H, Suzuki K, Ishii-Ohba H, Yamanouchi H, Takahashi M, Wakabayashi K. Promotive effects of diethylstilbestrol, its metabolite (Z,Z-dienestrol) and a stereoisomer of the metabolite (E,E-dienestrol) in tumorigenesis of rat mammary glands pregnancy-dependently initiated with radiation. Carcinogenesis 1993; 14:2157-63.
- Ishibe N, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Spiegelman D, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Kelsey KT, Hunter DJ. Cigarette smoking, cytochrome P450 1A1 polymorphisms, and breast cancer risk in the Nurses' Health Study. Cancer Res 1998; 58:667-71.
- Illingworth R, Kerr A, Desousa D, Jorgensen H, Ellis P, Stalker J, Jackson D, Clee C, Plumb R, Rogers J, Humphray S, Cox T, Langford C, Bird A. A novel CpG island set identifies tissue-specific methylation at developmental gene loci. PLoS Biol 2008; 6:e22.
- Inskip PD, Stovall M, Flannery JT. Lung cancer risk and radiation dose among women treated for breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1994; 86:983-8.
- Isaacs JT. Genetic control of resistance to chemically induced mammary adenocarcinogenesis in the rat. Cancer Res 1986; 46:3958-63.
- Jackson SP. Sensing and repairing DNA double-strand breaks. Carcinogenesis 2002; 23:687-96.
- Jaenisch R, Bird A. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. Nat Genet 2003; 33 Suppl:245-54.
- Jagani Z, Khosravi-Far R. Cancer stem cells and impaired apoptosis. Adv Exp Med Biol 2008; 615:331-44.
- Jager R. Targeting the death machinery in mammary epithelial cells: Implications for breast cancer from transgenic and tissue culture experiments. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2007; 63:231-40.
- Jawhari AU, Farthing MJ, Pignatelli M. The E-cadherin/epidermal growth factor receptor interaction: a hypothesis of reciprocal and reversible control of intercellular adhesion and cell proliferation. J Pathol 1999; 187:155-7.
- Jefcoate CR, Liehr JG, Santen RJ, Sutter TR, Yager JD, Yue W, Santner SJ, Tekmal R, Demers L, Pauley R, Naftolin F, Mor G, Berstein L. Tissue-specific synthesis and oxidative metabolism of estrogens. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2000:95-112.

- Jenner TJ, Fulford J, O'Neill P. Contribution of base lesions to radiation-induced clustered DNA damage: implication for models of radiation response. Radiat Res 2001; 156:590-3.
- Jensen EV, Jacobson HI, Walf AA, Frye CA. Estrogen action: a historic perspective on the implications of considering alternative approaches. Physiol Behav; 99:151-62.
- Jenuwein T. The epigenetic magic of histone lysine methylation. FEBS J 2006; 273:3121-35.
- Jermal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics. Cancer J Clin 2009; 59:225-49.
- Johansen KM, Johansen J. Regulation of chromatin structure by histone H3S10 phosphorylation. Chromosome Res 2006; 14:393-404.
- Jones PL, Veenstra GJ, Wade PA, Vermaak D, Kass SU, Landsberger N, Strouboulis J, Wolffe AP. Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat Genet 1998; 19:187-91.
- Jones PA, Laird PW. Cancer epigenetics comes of age. Nat Genet 1999; 21:163-7.
- Jones PA, Baylin SB. The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 2002; 3:415-28.
- Kanai Y. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiles in precancerous conditions and cancers. Cancer Sci 2009; 101:36-45.
- Kang DH. Oxidative stress, DNA damage, and breast cancer. AACN Clin Issues 2002; 13:540-9.
- Kantorowitz DA, Thompson HJ, Furmanski P. Effect of conjoint administration of tamoxifen and high-dose radiation on the development of mammary carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1993; 26:89-94.
- Kantorowitz DA, Thompson HJ, Furmanski P. Effect of high-dose, fractionated local irradiation on MNU-induced carcinogenesis in the rat mammary gland. Carcinogenesis 1995; 16:649-53.
- Karpf AR. A potential role for epigenetic modulatory drugs in the enhancement of cancer/germ-line antigen vaccine efficacy. Epigenetics 2006; 1:116-20.
- Kawai H, Li H, Avraham S, Jiang S, Avraham HK. Overexpression of histone deacetylase HDAC1 modulates breast cancer progression by negative regulation of estrogen receptor alpha. Int J Cancer 2003; 107:353-8.
- Kennedy AR, Weichselbaum RR. Effects of 17 beta-estradiol on radiation transformation in vitro; inhibition of effects by protease inhibitors. Carcinogenesis 1981; 2:67-9.
- Kennedy M, Bruninga K, Mutlu EA, Losurdo J, Choudhary S, Keshavarzian A. Successful and sustained treatment of chronic radiation proctitis with antioxidant vitamins E and C. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96:1080-4.
- Kim MS, Lee EJ, Kim HR, Moon A. p38 kinase is a key signaling molecule for H-Rasinduced cell motility and invasive phenotype in human breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res 2003; 63:5454-61.
- Kimura H, Shiota K. Methyl-CpG-binding protein, MeCP2, is a target molecule for maintenance DNA methyltransferase, Dnmt1. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:4806-12.
- King MC, Wieand S, Hale K, Lee M, Walsh T, Owens K, Tait J, Ford L, Dunn BK, Costantino J, Wickerham L, Wolmark N, Fisher B. Tamoxifen and breast cancer incidence among women with inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2:

National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP-P1) Breast Cancer Prevention Trial. JAMA 2001; 286:2251-6.

- King MC, Marks JH, Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. Science 2003; 302:643-6.
- Kininis M, Chen BS, Diehl AG, Isaacs GD, Zhang T, Siepel AC, Clark AG, Kraus WL. Genomic analyses of transcription factor binding, histone acetylation, and gene expression reveal mechanistically distinct classes of estrogen-regulated promoters. Mol Cell Biol 2007; 27:5090-104.
- Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Life (and death) in a malignant tumour. Nature 1996; 379:19-20.
- Klein C, Schlossmacher MG. The genetics of Parkinson disease: Implications for neurological care. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2006; 2:136-46.
- Kleivi K, Lothe RA, Heim S, Tsarouha H, Kraggerud SM, Pandis N, Papadopoulou A, Andersen J, Jakobsen KS, Teixeira MR. Genome profiling of breast cancer cells selected against in vitro shows copy number changes. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2002; 33:304-9.
- Knudson AG, Jr. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1971; 68:820-3.
- Knudson AG. Hereditary cancer: two hits revisited. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1996; 122:135-40.
- Kondo Y, Shen L, Yan PS, Huang TH, Issa JP. Chromatin immunoprecipitation microarrays for identification of genes silenced by histone H3 lysine 9 methylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101:7398-403.
- Korkola JE, Archer MC. Resistance to mammary tumorigenesis in Copenhagen rats is associated with the loss of preneoplastic lesions. Carcinogenesis 1999; 20:221-7.
- Koturbash I, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. Stable loss of global DNA methylation in the radiation-target tissue--a possible mechanism contributing to radiation carcinogenesis? Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 337:526-33.
- Koturbash I, Rugo RE, Hendricks CA, Loree J, Thibault B, Kutanzi K, Pogribny I, Yanch JC, Engelward BP, Kovalchuk O. Irradiation induces DNA damage and modulates epigenetic effectors in distant bystander tissue *in vivo*. Oncogene. 25:4267-75.
- Koturbash I, Loree J, Kutanzi K, Koganow C, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. In vivo bystander effect: cranial X-irradiation leads to elevated DNA damage, altered cellular proliferation and apoptosis, and increased p53 levels in shielded spleen. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008, 70: 554-562.
- Kovalchuk I, Pelczar P, Kovalchuk O. High frequency of nucleotide misincorporations upon the processing of double-strand breaks. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004; 3:217-23.
- Kovalchuk O, Tryndyak VP, Montgomery B, Boyko A, Kutanzi K, Zemp F, Warbritton AR, Latendresse JR, Kovalchuk I, Beland FA, Pogribny IP. Estrogen-induced rat breast carcinogenesis is characterized by alterations in DNA methylation, histone modifications and aberrant microRNA expression. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:2010-8.
- Kristensen LS, Hansen LL. PCR-based methods for detecting single-locus DNA methylation biomarkers in cancer diagnostics, prognostics, and response to treatment. Clin Chem 2009; 55:1471-83

- Kuiper GG, Carlsson B, Grandien K, Enmark E, Haggblad J, Nilsson S, Gustafsson JA. Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta. Endocrinology 1997; 138:863-70.
- Kumaravel TS, Bharathy K, Kudoh S, Tanaka K, Kamada N. Expression, localization and functional interactions of Ku70 subunit of DNA-PK in peripheral lymphocytes and Nalm-19 cells after irradiation. Int J Radiat Biol 1998; 74:481-9.
- Laes JF, Quan X, Ravoet M, Stieber D, Van Vooren P, Van Reeth T, Szpirer J, Szpirer C. Analysis of candidate genes included in the mammary cancer susceptibility 1 (Mcs1) region. Mamm Genome 2001; 12:199-206.
- Laird PW. The power and the promise of DNA methylation markers. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3:253-66.
- Land CE, Tokunaga M, Koyama K, Soda M, Preston DL, Nishimori I, et al. Incidence of female breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors, Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 1950-1990. Radiat Res 2003; 160: 707-717.
- Latham KE. Strain-specific differences in mouse oocytes and their contributions to epigenetic inheritance. Development 1994; 120:3419-26.
- Latham KE. Epigenetic modification and imprinting of the mammalian genome during development. Curr Top Dev Biol 1999; 43:1-49.
- Leal CB, Schmitt FC, Bento MJ, Maia NC, Lopes CS. Ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. Histologic categorization and its relationship to ploidy and immunohistochemical expression of hormone receptors, p53, and c-erbB-2 protein. Cancer 1995; 75:2123-31.
- Lee SB, Kim SH, Bell DW, Wahrer DC, Schiripo TA, Jorczak MM, Sgroi DC, Garber JE, Li FP, Nichols KE, Varley JM, Godwin AK, Shannon KM, Harlow E, Haber DA. Destabilization of CHK2 by a missense mutation associated with Li-Fraumeni Syndrome. Cancer Res 2001; 61:8062-7.
- Lehnertz B, Ueda Y, Derijck AA, Braunschweig U, Perez-Burgos L, Kubicek S, Chen T, Li E, Jenuwein T, Peters AH. Suv39h-mediated histone H3 lysine 9 methylation directs DNA methylation to major satellite repeats at pericentric heterochromatin. Curr Biol 2003; 13:1192-200.
- Lella V, Stieber D, Riviere M, Szpirer J, Szpirer C. Mammary cancer resistance and precocious mammary differentiation in the WKY rat: identification of 2 quantitative trait loci. Int J Cancer 2007; 121:1738-43.
- Leone G, Mele L, Pulsoni A, Equitani F, Pagano L. The incidence of secondary leukemias. Haematologica 1999; 84:937-45.
- Li E, Beard C, Jaenisch R. Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. Nature 1993; 366:362-5.
- Li JJ, Papa D, Davis MF, Weroha SJ, Aldaz CM, El-Bayoumy K, Ballenger J, Tawfik O, Li SA. Ploidy differences between hormone- and chemical carcinogen-induced rat mammary neoplasms: comparison to invasive human ductal breast cancer. Mol Carcinog 2002; 33:56-65.
- Li JJ, Li SA. Causation and prevention of solely estrogen-induced oncogenesis: similarities to human ductal breast cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2003, 532: 195-207.

- Li JJ, Weroha SJ, Lingle WL, Papa D, Salisbury JL, Li SA. Estrogen mediates Aurora-A overexpression, centrosome amplification, chromosomal instability, and breast cancer in female ACI rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004A; 101:18123-8.
- Li KM, Todorovic R, Devanesan P, Higginbotham S, Kofeler H, Ramanathan R, Gross ML, Rogan EG, Cavalieri EL. Metabolism and DNA binding studies of 4hydroxyestradiol and estradiol-3,4-quinone in vitro and in female ACI rat mammary gland in vivo. Carcinogenesis 2004B; 25:289-97.
- Li L, Shi H, Yiannoutsos C, Huang TH, Nephew KP. Epigenetic hypothesis tests for methylation and acetylation in a triple microarray system. J Comput Biol 2005; 12:370-90.
- Li X, Gonzalez ME, Toy K, Filzen T, Merajver SD, Kleer CG. Targeted overexpression of EZH2 in the mammary gland disrupts ductal morphogenesis and causes epithelial hyperplasia. Am J Pathol 2009; 175:1246-54.
- Liao DJ, Dickson RB. c-Myc in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2000; 7:143-64.
- Liao Y, Hung MC. Regulation of the activity of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase by Akt in cancer and adenoviral protein E1A-mediated sensitization to apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23:6836-48.
- Lichtenstein P, Holm NV, Verkasalo PK, Iliadou A, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Pukkala E, Skytthe A, Hemminki K. Environmental and heritable factors in the causation of cancer--analyses of cohorts of twins from Sweden, Denmark, and Finland. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:78-85.
- Liehr JG, Ricci MJ. 4-Hydroxylation of estrogens as marker of human mammary tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996; 93:3294-6.
- Liehr JG. 4-hydroxylation of oestrogens as a marker for mammary tumours. Biochem Soc Trans 1999; 27:318-23.
- Liehr JG. Is estradiol a genotoxic mutagenic carcinogen? Endocr Rev 2000; 21:40-54.
- Lin CH, Hsieh SY, Sheen IS, Lee WC, Chen TC, Shyu WC, Liaw YF. Genome-wide hypomethylation in hepatocellular carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 2001; 61:4238-43.
- Little JB, Vetrovs H. Studies of ionizing radiation as a promoter of neoplastic transformation in vitro. Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med 1988; 53:661-6.
- Little JB. Radiation carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 2000; 21:397-404.
- Lo PK, Sukumar S. Epigenomics and breast cancer. Pharmacogenomics 2008; 9:1879-902.
- Loewe S. The problem of synergism and antagonism of combined drugs. Arzneimittelforschung 1953; 3:285-90.
- Loidl P. Towards an understanding of the biological function of histone acetylation. FEBS Lett 1988; 227:91-5.
- Loree J, Koturbash I, Kutanzi K, Baker M, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. Radiation-induced molecular changes in rat mammary tissue: possible implications for radiation-induced carcinogenesis. Int J Radiat Biol 2006; 82:805-15.
- Lowe SW, Schmitt EM, Smith SW, Osborne BA, Jacks T. p53 is required for radiationinduced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. Nature 1993; 362:847-9.
- Luo M, Delaplane S, Jiang A, Reed A, He Y, Fishel M, Nyland RL, 2nd, Borch RF, Qiao X, Georgiadis MM, Kelley MR. Role of the multifunctional DNA repair and redox signaling protein Ape1/Ref-1 in cancer and endothelial cells: small-

molecule inhibition of the redox function of Ape1. Antioxid Redox Signal 2008; 10:1853-67.

- Lynch HT, Albano WA, Layton MA, Kimberling WJ, Lynch JF. Breast cancer, genetics, and age at first pregnancy. J Med Genet 1984; 21:96-8.
- Maass N, Biallek M, Rosel F, Schem C, Ohike N, Zhang M, Jonat W, Nagasaki K. Hypermethylation and histone deacetylation lead to silencing of the maspin gene in human breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 297:125-8.
- Macaluso M, Cinti C, Russo G, Russo A, Giordano A. pRb2/p130-E2F4/5-HDAC1-SUV39H1-p300 and pRb2/p130-E2F4/5-HDAC1-SUV39H1-DNMT1 multimolecular complexes mediate the transcription of estrogen receptor-alpha in breast cancer. Oncogene 2003; 22:3511-7.
- MacMahon B. Epidemiology and causes of breast cancer. Int J of Cancer 2006, 118: 2373-78.
- Madia F, Gattazzo C, Fabrizio P, Longo VD. A simple model system for age-dependent DNA damage and cancer. Mech Ageing Dev 2007; 128:45-9.
- Maisin JR, De Saint-Georges L, Janowski M, Lambiet-Collier M, Mattelin G. Effect of X-rays alone or combined with diethylnitrosamine on cancer induction in mouse liver. Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med 1987; 51:1049-57.
- Malkin D, Friend SH. Correction: a Li-Fraumeni syndrome p53 mutation. Science 1993; 259:878.
- Mantena SK, Meeran SM, Elmets CA, Katiyar SK. Orally administered green tea polyphenols prevent ultraviolet radiation-induced skin cancer in mice through activation of cytotoxic T cells and inhibition of angiogenesis in tumors. J Nutr 2005; 135:2871-7.
- Martin-Subero JI, Ammerpohl O, Bibikova M, Wickham-Garcia E, Agirre X, Alvarez S, Bruggemann M, Bug S, Calasanz MJ, Deckert M, Dreyling M, Du MQ, Durig J, Dyer MJ, Fan JB, Gesk S, Hansmann ML, Harder L, Hartmann S, Klapper W, Kuppers R, Montesinos-Rongen M, Nagel I, Pott C, Richter J, Roman-Gomez J, Seifert M, Stein H, Suela J, Trumper L, Vater I, Prosper F, Haferlach C, Cruz Cigudosa J, Siebert R. A comprehensive microarray-based DNA methylation study of 367 hematological neoplasms. PLoS One 2009; 4:e6986.
- Marumoto T, Zhang D, Saya H. Aurora-A a guardian of poles. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5:42-50.
- Mattsson A, Ruden BI, Hall P, Wilking N, Rutqvist LE. Radiation-induced breast cancer: long-term follow-up of radiation therapy for benign breast disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993; 85:1679-85.
- Mauderly JL. Toxicological approaches to complex mixtures. Environ Health Perspect 1993; 101 Suppl 4:155-65.
- McGregor H, Land CE, Choi K, Tokuoka S, Liu PI, Wakabayashi T, Beebe GW. Breast cancer incidence among atomic bomb survivors, Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 1950-69. J Natl Cancer Inst 1977; 59:799-811.
- Medina D, Kittrell FS, Shepard A, Contreras A, Rosen JM, Lydon J. Hormone dependence in premalignant mammary progression. Cancer Res 2003; 63:1067-72.

- Mense SM, Remotti F, Bhan A, Singh B, El-Tamer M, Hei TK, et al. Estrogen-induced breast cancer: Alterations in breast morphology and oxidative stress as a function of estrogen exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2008, 232: 78-85.
- Meulmeester E, Jochemsen AG. p53: a guide to apoptosis. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2008; 8:87-97.
- Mi S, Lu J, Sun M, Li Z, Zhang H, Neilly MB, Wang Y, Qian Z, Jin J, Zhang Y, Bohlander SK, Le Beau MM, Larson RA, Golub TR, Rowley JD, Chen J. MicroRNA expression signatures accurately disciminate acute lymphoblastic leukemia from acute myeloid leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104:19971-6.
- Michaelis M, Michaelis UR, Fleming I, Suhan T, Cinatl J, Blaheta RA, Hoffmann K, Kotchetkov R, Busse R, Nau H, Cinatl J, Jr. Valproic acid inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Mol Pharmacol 2004; 65:520-7.
- Mielnicki LM, Ying AM, Head KL, Asch HL, Asch BB. Epigenetic regulation of gelsolin expression in human breast cancer cells. Exp Cell Res 1999; 249:161-76.
- Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, Liu Q, Cochran C, Bennett LM, Ding W, et al. A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science 1994; 266:66-71.
- Miller WR, O'Neill J. The importance of local synthesis of estrogen within the breast. Steroids 1987; 50:537-48.
- Miller BJ, Wang D, Krahe R, Wright FA. Pooled analysis of loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer: a genome scan provides comparative evidence for multiple tumor suppressors and identifies novel candidate regions. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 73:748-67.
- Milsted A, Marcelo MC, Turner ME, Ely DL. Female Wistar-Kyoto and SHR/y rats have the same genotype but different patterns of expression of renin and angiotensinogen genes. J Hypertens 1998; 16:823-8.
- Ming-Shiean H, Yu JC, Wang HW, Chen ST, Hsiung CN, Ding SL, Wu PE, Shen CY, Cheng CW. Synergistic effects of polymorphisms in DNA repair genes and endogenous estrogen exposure on female breast cancer risk. Ann Surg Oncol 2010; 17:760-71.
- Miyamoto T, Shiozawa T, Kashima H, Feng YZ, Suzuki A, Kurai M, Nikaido T, Konishi I. Estrogen up-regulates mismatch repair activity in normal and malignant endometrial glandular cells. Endocrinology 2006; 147:4863-70.
- Mobley JA, Bhat AS, Brueggemeier RW. Measurement of oxidative DNA damage by catechol estrogens and analogues in vitro. Chem Res Toxicol 1999; 12:270-7.
- Mobley JA, Brueggemeier RW. Estrogen receptor-mediated regulation of oxidative stress and DNA damage in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis 2004; 25:3-9.
- Moss TJ, Wallrath LL. Connections between epigenetic gene silencing and human disease. Mutat Res 2007; 618:163-74.
- Munot K, Bell SM, Lane S, Horgan K, Hanby AM, Speirs V. Pattern of expression of genes linked to epigenetic silencing in human breast cancer. Hum Pathol 2006; 37:989-99.
- Munzel P, Marx D, Kochel H, Schauer A, Bock KW. Genomic alterations of the c-myc protooncogene in relation to the overexpression of c-erbB2 and Ki-67 in human breast and cervix carcinomas. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1991; 117:603-7.

- Murray SA, Yang S, Demicco E, Ying H, Sherr DH, Hafer LJ, Rogers AE, Sonenshein GE, Xiao ZX. Increased expression of MDM2, cyclin D1, and p27Kip1 in carcinogen-induced rat mammary tumors. J Cell Biochem 2005; 95:875-84.
- Musarrat J, Arezina-Wilson J, Wani AA. Prognostic and aetiological relevance of 8hydroxyguanosine in human breast carcinogenesis. Eur J Cancer 1996; 32A:1209-14.
- Nakayama T, Takami Y. Participation of histones and histone-modifying enzymes in cell functions through alterations in chromatin structure. J Biochem 2001; 129:491-9.
- Nan X, Ng HH, Johnson CA, Laherty CD, Turner BM, Eisenman RN, Bird A. Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. Nature 1998; 393:386-9.
- Nardone G, Compare D. Epigenetic alterations due to diet and Helicobacter pylori infection in gastric carcinogenesis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 2:243-8.
- Narod SA, Brunet JS, Ghadirian P, Robson M, Heimdal K, Neuhausen SL, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Lerman C, Pasini B, de los Rios P, Weber B, Lynch H. Tamoxifen and risk of contralateral breast cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: a case-control study. Hereditary Breast Cancer Clinical Study Group. Lancet 2000; 356:1876-81.
- Nebbioso A, Clarke N, Voltz E, Germain E, Ambrosino C, Bontempo P, Alvarez R, Schiavone EM, Ferrara F, Bresciani F, Weisz A, de Lera AR, Gronemeyer H, Altucci L. Tumor-selective action of HDAC inhibitors involves TRAIL induction in acute myeloid leukemia cells. Nat Med 2005; 11:77-84.
- Nichols KE, Malkin D, Garber JE, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Li FP. Germ-line p53 mutations predispose to a wide spectrum of early-onset cancers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001; 10:83-7.
- Nigro JM, Misra A, Zhang L, Smirnov I, Colman H, Griffin C, Ozburn N, Chen M, Pan E, Koul D, Yung WK, Feuerstein BG, Aldape KD. Integrated array-comparative genomic hybridization and expression array profiles identify clinically relevant molecular subtypes of glioblastoma. Cancer Res 2005; 65:1678-86.
- Noble RL, Cutts JH. Mammary tumors of the rat: a review. Cancer Res 1959; 19:1125-39.
- Normanno N, De Luca A, Maiello MR, Campiglio M, Napolitano M, Mancino M, Carotenuto A, Viglietto G, Menard S. The MEK/MAPK pathway is involved in the resistance of breast cancer cells to the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor gefitinib. J Cell Physiol 2006; 207:420-7.
- Nowsheen S, Wukovich RL, Aziz K, Kalogerinis PT, Richardson CC, Panayiotidis MI, Bonner WM, Sedelnikova OA, Georgakilas AG. Accumulation of oxidatively induced clustered DNA lesions in human tumor tissues. Mutat Res 2009; 674:131-6.
- Nuytten M, Beke L, Van Eynde A, Ceulemans H, Beullens M, Van Hummelen P, Fuks F, Bollen M. The transcriptional repressor NIPP1 is an essential player in EZH2mediated gene silencing. Oncogene 2008; 27:1449-60.
- Oakley GG, Devanaboyina U, Robertson LW, Gupta RC. Oxidative DNA damage induced by activation of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): implications for PCB-induced oxidative stress in breast cancer. Chem Res Toxicol 1996; 9:1285-92.

- Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 1999; 99:247-57.
- Okitsu CY, Hsieh CL. DNA methylation dictates histone H3K4 methylation. Mol Cell Biol 2007; 27:2746-57.
- Okobia MN, Bunker CH. Estrogen metabolism and breast cancer risk--a review. Afr J Reprod Health 2006; 10:13-25.
- Ooi SK, Qiu C, Bernstein E, Li K, Jia D, Yang Z, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Lin SP, Allis CD, Cheng X, Bestor TH. DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to de novo methylation of DNA. Nature 2007; 448:714-7.
- Olive PL. The role of DNA single- and double-strand breaks in cell killing by ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 1998; 150:S42-51.
- Oren M. Decision making by p53: life, death and cancer. Cell Death Differ 2003; 10:431-42.
- Ota T, Suto S, Katayama H, Han ZB, Suzuki F, Maeda M, Tanino M, Terada Y, Tatsuka M. Increased mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 attributable to AIM-1/Aurora-B overexpression contributes to chromosome number instability. Cancer Res 2002; 62:5168-77.
- Paglia LL, Lauge A, Weber J, Champ J, Cavaciuti E, Russo A, Viovy JL, Stoppa-Lyonnet D. ATM germline mutations in women with familial breast cancer and a relative with haematological malignancy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010; 119:443-52.
- Panayiotidis MI, Rancourt RC, Allen CB, Riddle SR, Schneider BK, Ahmad S, White CW. Hyperoxia-induced DNA damage causes decreased DNA methylation in human lung epithelial-like A549 cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 2004; 6:129-36.
- Park SK, Yoo KY, Lee SJ, Kim SU, Ahn SH, Noh DY, Choe KJ, Strickland PT, Hirvonen A, Kang D. Alcohol consumption, glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 genetic polymorphisms and breast cancer risk. Pharmacogenetics 2000; 10:301-9.
- Park SA, Na HK, Kim EH, Cha YN, Surh YJ. 4-hydroxyestradiol induces anchorageindependent growth of human mammary epithelial cells via activation of IkappaB kinase: potential role of reactive oxygen species. Cancer Res 2009; 69:2416-24.
- Peart MJ, Smyth GK, van Laar RK, Bowtell DD, Richon VM, Marks PA, Holloway AJ, Johnstone RW. Identification and functional significance of genes regulated by structurally different histone deacetylase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102:3697-702.
- Pedram A, Razandi M, Evinger AJ, Lee E, Levin ER. Estrogen inhibits ATR signaling to cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair. Mol Biol Cell 2009; 20:3374-89.
- Pedraza-Farina LG. Mechanisms of oncogenic cooperation in cancer initiation and metastasis. Yale J Biol Med 2006; 79:95-103.
- Perez N, Borja J. Aromatase inhibitors: clinical pharmacology and therapeutic implications in breast cancer. J Int Med Res 1992; 20:303-12.
- Perez-Plasencia C, Duenas-Gonzalez A. Can the state of cancer chemotherapy resistance be reverted by epigenetic therapy? Mol Cancer 2006; 5:27.
- Peto J, Houlston RS. Genetics and the common cancers. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37 Suppl 8:S88-96.

- Pitot HC, Dragan YP. Facts and theories concerning the mechanisms of carcinogenesis. FASEB J 1991; 5:2280-6.
- Plachot C, Lelievre SA. DNA methylation control of tissue polarity and cellular differentiation in the mammary epithelium. Exp Cell Res 2004; 298:122-32.
- Pogribny I, Yi P, James SJ. A sensitive new method for rapid detection of abnormal methylation patterns in global DNA and within CpG islands. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 262:624-8.
- Pogribny IP, James SJ, Jernigan S, Pogribna M. Genomic hypomethylation is specific for preneoplastic liver in folate/methyl deficient rats and does not occur in non-target tissues. Mutat Res 2004; 548:53-9.
- Pogribny I, Koturbash I, Tryndyak V, Hudson D, Stevenson SM, Sedelnikova O, Bonner W, Kovalchuk O. Fractionated low-dose radiation exposure leads to accumulation of DNA damage and profound alterations in DNA and histone methylation in the murine thymus. Mol Cancer Res 2005; 3:553-61.
- Pogribny IP, Ross SA, Tryndyak VP, Pogribna M, Poirier LA, Karpinets TV. Histone H3 lysine 9 and H4 lysine 20 trimethylation and the expression of Suv4-20h2 and Suv-39h1 histone methyltransferases in hepatocarcinogenesis induced by methyl deficiency in rats. Carcinogenesis 2006; 27:1180-6.
- Pogribny IP, Tryndyak VP, Muskhelishvili L, Rusyn I, Ross SA. Methyl deficiency, alterations in global histone modifications, and carcinogenesis. J Nutr 2007; 137:216S-22S.
- Pogribny IP, Rusyn I, Beland FA. Epigenetic aspects of genotoxic and non-genotoxic hepatocarcinogenesis: studies in rodents. Environ Mol Mutagen 2008; 49:9-15.
- Pogribny IP, Beland FA. DNA hypomethylation in the origin and pathogenesis of human diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 2009; 66:2249-61.
- Pogribny IP, Tryndyak VP, Bagnyukova TV, Melnyk S, Montgomery B, Ross SA, Latendresse JR, Rusyn I, Beland FA. Hepatic epigenetic phenotype predetermines individual susceptibility to hepatic steatosis in mice fed a lipogenic methyldeficient diet. J Hepatol 2009; 51:176-86.
- Posnick LM, Samson LD. Imbalanced base excision repair increases spontaneous mutation and alkylation sensitivity in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 1999; 181:6763-71.
- Pouget JP, Ravanat JL, Douki T, Richard MJ, Cadet J. Measurement of DNA base damage in cells exposed to low doses of gamma-radiation: comparison between the HPLC-EC and comet assays. Int J Radiat Biol 1999; 75:51-8.
- Poulsen P, Esteller M, Vaag A, Fraga MF. The epigenetic basis of twin discordance in age-related diseases. Pediatr Res 2007; 61:38R-42R.
- Powell CL, Swenberg JA, Rusyn I. Expression of base excision DNA repair genes as a biomarker of oxidative DNA damage. Cancer Lett 2005; 229:1-11.
- Prall OW, Rogan EM, Sutherland RL. Estrogen regulation of cell cycle progression in breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1998; 65:169-74.
- Prasad KN, Cole WC, Kumar B, Che Prasad K. Pros and cons of antioxidant use during radiation therapy. Cancer Treat Rev 2002; 28:79-91.
- Pray L. At the flick of a switch: epigenetic drugs. Chem Biol 2008; 15:640-1.

- Preston DL, Ron E, Tokuoka S, Funamoto S, Nishi N, Soda M, Mabuchi K, Kodama K. Solid cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors: 1958-1998. Radiat Res 2007; 168:1-64.
- Prise KM, Pinto M, Newman HC, Michael BD. A review of studies of ionizing radiationinduced double-strand break clustering. Radiat Res 2001; 156:572-6.
- Prochownik EV. c-Myc: linking transformation and genomic instability. Curr Mol Med 2008; 8:446-58.
- Prysyazhnyuk A, Gristchenko V, Fedorenko Z, Gulak L, Fuzik M, Slipenyuk K, Tirmarche M. Twenty years after the Chernobyl accident: solid cancer incidence in various groups of the Ukrainian population. Radiat Environ Biophys 2007; 46:43-51.
- Qiu L, Burgess A, Fairlie DP, Leonard H, Parsons PG, Gabrielli BG. Histone deacetylase inhibitors trigger a G2 checkpoint in normal cells that is defective in tumor cells. Mol Biol Cell 2000; 11:2069-83.
- Quina AS, Buschbeck M, Di Croce L. Chromatin structure and epigenetics. Biochem Pharmacol 2006; 72:1563-9.
- Raftogianis R, Creveling C, Weinshilboum R, Weisz J. Estrogen metabolism by conjugation. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2000:113-24.
- Raiche J, Rodriguez-Juarez R, Pogribny I, Kovalchuk O. Sex- and tissue-specific expression of maintenance and de novo DNA methyltransferases upon low dose X-irradiation in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 325:39-47.
- Rajapakse N, Butterworth M, Kortenkamp A. Detection of DNA strand breaks and oxidized DNA bases at the single-cell level resulting from exposure to estradiol and hydroxylated metabolites. Environ Mol Mutagen 2005; 45:397-404.
- Rajkumar L, Guzman RC, Yang J, Thordarson G, Talamantes F, Nandi S. Short-term exposure to pregnancy levels of estrogen prevents mammary carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:11755-9.
- Reik W. Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. Nature 2007; 447:425-32.
- Reilly KM, Tuskan RG, Christy E, Loisel DA, Ledger J, Bronson RT, Smith CD, Tsang S, Munroe DJ, Jacks T. Susceptibility to astrocytoma in mice mutant for Nf1 and Trp53 is linked to chromosome 11 and subject to epigenetic effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101:13008-13.
- Rice JC, Allis CD. Histone methylation versus histone acetylation: new insights into epigenetic regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2001; 13:263-73.
- Richardson C, Stark JM, Ommundsen M, Jasin M. Rad51 overexpression promotes alternative double-strand break repair pathways and genome instability. Oncogene 2004; 23:546-53.
- Roberts SA, Spreadborough AR, Bulman B, Barber JB, Evans DG, Scott D. Heritability of cellular radiosensitivity: a marker of low-penetrance predisposition genes in breast cancer? Am J Hum Genet 1999; 65:784-94.
- Robertson KD, Uzvolgyi E, Liang G, Talmadge C, Sumegi J, Gonzales FA, Jones PA. The human DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) 1, 3a and 3b: coordinate mRNA expression in normal tissues and overexpression in tumors. Nucleic Acids Res 1999; 27:2291-8.

- Robertson KD, Ait-Si-Ali S, Yokochi T, Wade PA, Jones PL, Wolffe AP. DNMT1 forms a complex with Rb, E2F1 and HDAC1 and represses transcription from E2Fresponsive promoters. Nat Genet 2000; 25:338-42.
- Robertson KD, Wolffe AP. DNA methylation in health and disease. Nat Rev Genet 2000; 1:11-9.
- Robertson KD. DNA methylation and chromatin unraveling the tangled web. Oncogene 2002; 21:5361-79.
- Rogan EG, Badawi AF, Devanesan PD, Meza JL, Edney JA, West WW, Higginbotham SM, Cavalieri EL. Relative imbalances in estrogen metabolism and conjugation in breast tissue of women with carcinoma: potential biomarkers of susceptibility to cancer. Carcinogenesis 2003; 24:697-702.
- Rogan E. Xenoestrogens, biotransformation, and differential risks for breast cancer. Altern Ther Health Med 2007; 13:S112-21.
- Roll JD, Rivenbark AG, Jones WD, Coleman WB. DNMT3b overexpression contributes to a hypermethylator phenotype in human breast cancer cell lines. Mol Cancer 2008; 7:15.
- Rollins RA, Haghighi F, Edwards JR, Das R, Zhang MQ, Ju J, Bestor TH. Large-scale structure of genomic methylation patterns. Genome Res 2006; 16:157-63.
- Ronckers CM, Erdmann CA, Land CE. Radiation and breast cancer: a review of current evidence. Breast Cancer Res 2005; 7:21-32.
- Rontgen WC. On a New Kind of Rays. Science 1896; 3:227-31.
- Rose-Hellekant TA, Wentworth WM, Nikolai S, Kundel DW, Sandgren EP. Mammary carcinogenesis is precede by altered epithelial cell turnover in transforming growth factor-alpha and c-myc transgenic mice. Am J Pathol 2006; 169:1821-32.
- Rountree MR, Bachman KE, Baylin SB. DNMT1 binds HDAC2 and a new co-repressor, DMAP1, to form a complex at replication foci. Nat Genet 2000; 25:269-77.
- Ruhlen RL, Willbrand DM, Besch-Williford CL, Ma L, Shull JD, Sauter ER. Tamoxifen induces regression of estradiol-induced mammary cancer in the ACI.COP-Ept2 rat model. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2009; 117:517-24.
- Russ S. The Susceptibility of Nocturnal Animals to Ultra-violet Radiation. Proc R Soc Med 1925; 18:37-42.
- Russell NS, Arlett CF, Bartelink H, Begg AC. Use of fluorescence in situ hybridization to determine the relationship between chromosome aberrations and cell survival in eight human fibroblast strains. Int J Radiat Biol 1995; 68:185-96.
- Russell JC. Of mice and men, rats and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res 2003; 59:810-1.
- Russo J, Tay LK, Russo IH. Differentiation of the mammary gland and susceptibility to carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1982; 2:5-73.
- Russo. Tumor of the mammary gland. In: Turusov V, Mohr U, eds. Tumors of the rat. Lyon: IARC Scientific publication, 1990:47-78.
- Russo J, Gusterson BA, Rogers AE, Russo IH, Wellings SR, van Zwieten MJ. Comparative study of human and rat mammary tumorigenesis. Lab Invest 1990; 62:244-78.
- Russo J, Russo IH. Experimentally induced mammary tumors in rats. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1996A; 39:7-20.
- Russo IH, Russo J. Mammary gland neoplasia in long-term rodent studies. Environ Health Perspect 1996B; 104:938-67.

- Russo IH, Russo J. Role of hormones in mammary cancer initiation and progression. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 1998; 3:49-61.
- Russo A, Zanna I, Tubiolo C, Migliavacca M, Bazan V, Latteri MA, Tomasino RM, Gebbia N. Hereditary common cancers: molecular and clinical genetics. Anticancer Res 2000; 20:4841-51.
- Russo J, Hu YF, Silva ID, Russo IH. Cancer risk related to mammary gland structure and development. Microsc Res Tech 2001; 52:204-23.
- Russo J, Hasan Lareef M, Balogh G, Guo S, Russo IH. Estrogen and its metabolites are carcinogenic agents in human breast epithelial cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2003; 87:1-25.
- Russo J, Russo IH. Development of the human breast. Maturitas 2004; 49:2-15.
- Russo J, Moral R, Balogh GA, Mailo D, Russo IH. The protective role of pregnancy in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2005; 7:131-42.
- Russo J, Russo IH. The role of estrogen in the initiation of breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2006; 102:89-96.
- Russo J, Fernandez SV, Russo PA, Fernbaugh R, Sheriff FS, Lareef HM, Garber J, Russo IH. 17-Beta-estradiol induces transformation and tumorigenesis in human breast epithelial cells. FASEB J 2006; 20:1622-34.
- Rusyn I, Asakura S, Pachkowski B, Bradford BU, Denissenko MF, Peters JM, Holland SM, Reddy JK, Cunningham ML, Swenberg JA. Expression of base excision DNA repair genes is a sensitive biomarker for *in vivo* detection of chemicalinduced chronic oxidative stress: identification of the molecular source of radicals responsible for DNA damage by peroxisome proliferators. Cancer Res 2004; 64:1050-7.
- Saji S, Nakashima S, Hayashi S, Toi M, Nozawa Y. Overexpression of MDM2 in MCF-7 promotes both growth advantage and p53 accumulation in response to estradiol. Jpn J Cancer Res 1999; 90:210-8.
- Saji S, Okumura N, Eguchi H, Nakashima S, Suzuki A, Toi M, Nozawa Y, Hayashi S. MDM2 enhances the function of estrogen receptor alpha in human breast cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001; 281:259-65.
- Salisbury JL. The contribution of epigenetic changes to abnormal centrosomes and genomic instability in breast cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2001; 6:203-12.
- Samuelson DJ, Aperavich BA, Haag JD, Gould MN. Fine mapping reveals multiple loci and a possible epistatic interaction within the mammary carcinoma susceptibility quantitative trait locus, Mcs5. Cancer Res 2005; 65:9637-42.
- Sanchez RI, Mesia-Vela S, Kauffman FC. Induction of NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase and glutathione S-transferase activities in livers of female August-Copenhagen Irish rats treated chronically with estradiol: comparison with the Sprague-Dawley rat. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2003; 87:199-206.
- Sanders SL, Portoso M, Mata J, Bahler J, Allshire RC, Kouzarides T. Methylation of histone H4 lysine 20 controls recruitment of Crb2 to sites of DNA damage. Cell 2004; 119:603-14.
- Santen R, Cavalieri E, Rogan E, Russo J, Guttenplan J, Ingle J, Yue W. Estrogen mediation of breast tumor formation involves estrogen receptor-dependent, as well as independent, genotoxic effects. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009; 1155:132-40.

- Sarg B, Koutzamani E, Helliger W, Rundquist I, Lindner HH. Postsynthetic trimethylation of histone H4 at lysine 20 in mammalian tissues is associated with aging. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:39195-201.
- Sargent RG, Brenneman MA, Wilson JH. Repair of site-specific double-strand breaks in a mammalian chromosome by homologous and illegitimate recombination. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:267-77.
- Sawan C, Vaissière T, Murr R, Herceg Z. Epigenetic drivers and genetic passengers on the road to cancer. Mutat Res 2008; 642: 1-13.
- Schaffer BS, Lachel CM, Pennington KL, Murrin CR, Strecker TE, Tochacek M, Gould KA, Meza JL, McComb RD, Shull JD. Genetic bases of estrogen-induced tumorigenesis in the rat: mapping of loci controlling susceptibility to mammary cancer in a Brown Norway x ACI intercross. Cancer Res 2006; 66:7793-800.
- Schairer C, Mink PJ, Carroll L, Devesa SS. Probabilities of death from breast cancer and other causes among female breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96:1311-21.
- Schedin P, Mitrenga T, Kaeck M. Estrous cycle regulation of mammary epithelial cell proliferation, differentiation, and death in the Sprague-Dawley rat: a model for investigating the role of estrous cycling in mammary carcinogenesis. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2000; 5:211-25.
- Schmutte C, Yang AS, Beart RW, Jones PA. Base excision repair of U:G mismatches at a mutational hotspot in the p53 gene is more efficient than base excision repair of T:G mismatches in extracts of human colon tumors. Cancer Res 1995; 55:3742-6.
- Schotta G, Lachner M, Sarma K, Ebert A, Sengupta R, Reuter G, Reinberg D, Jenuwein T. A silencing pathway to induce H3-K9 and H4-K20 trimethylation at constitutive heterochromatin. Genes Dev 2004; 18:1251-62.
- Schotta G, Sengupta R, Kubicek S, Malin S, Kauer M, Callen E, Celeste A, Pagani M, Opravil S, De La Rosa-Velazquez IA, Espejo A, Bedford MT, Nussenzweig A, Busslinger M, Jenuwein T. A chromatin-wide transition to H4K20 monomethylation impairs genome integrity and programmed DNA rearrangements in the mouse. Genes Dev 2008; 22:2048-61.
- Schubeler D, Lorincz MC, Cimbora DM, Telling A, Feng YQ, Bouhassira EE, Groudine M. Genomic targeting of methylated DNA: influence of methylation on transcription, replication, chromatin structure, and histone acetylation. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20:9103-12.
- Schubeler D, MacAlpine DM, Scalzo D, Wirbelauer C, Kooperberg C, van Leeuwen F, Gottschling DE, O'Neill LP, Turner BM, Delrow J, Bell SP, Groudine M. The histone modification pattern of active genes revealed through genome-wide chromatin analysis of a higher eukaryote. Genes Dev 2004; 18:1263-71.
- Schubeler D. Epigenomics: Methylation matters. Nature 2009; 462:296-7.
- Schultz E. [Ionizing radiation: radiation sources, radiation dosage, radiation effects. I. Radiation dosage from natural sources and the civilization-related increase in radiation load from natural sources]. Rontgenpraxis 1985; 38:235-41.
- Schumacher G, Neuhaus P. The physiological estrogen metabolite 2-methoxyestradiol reduces tumor growth and induces apoptosis in human solid tumors. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2001; 127:405-10.

- Schilsky ML, Fink S. Inherited metabolic liver disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2006; 22:215-22.
- Seacat AM, Kuppusamy P, Zweier JL, Yager JD. ESR identification of free radicals formed from the oxidation of catechol estrogens by Cu2+. Arch Biochem Biophys 1997; 347:45-52.
- Sedelnikova OA, Pilch DR, Redon C, Bonner WM. Histone H2AX in DNA damage and repair. Cancer Biol Ther 2003; 2:233-5.
- Seligson DB, Horvath S, Shi T, Yu H, Tze S, Grunstein M, Kurdistani SK. Global histone modification patterns predict risk of prostate cancer recurrence. Nature 2005; 435:1262-6.
- Selvanayagam CS, Davis CM, Cornforth MN, Ullrich RL. Latent expression of p53 mutations and radiation-induced mammary cancer. Cancer Res 1995; 55:3310-7.
- Shan L, Yu M, Snyderwine EG. Global gene expression profiling of chemically induced rat mammary gland carcinomas and adenomas. Toxicol Pathol 2005; 33:768-75.
- Shang Y. Hormones and cancer. Cell Res 2007; 17:277-9.
- Shapiro R, 1981. Damage to DNA caused by hydrolysis. In Chromosome damage and repair. Seeberg E. and K. Kleppe Eds. Plenum, New York.
- Shellabarger CJ, Bond VP, Cronkite EP. Studies on radiation-induced mammary gland neoplasia in the rat. 4. The response of females to a single dose of sublethal totalbody gamma radiation as studied until the first appearance of breast neoplasia or death of the animals. Radiat Res 1960; 13:242-9.
- Shellabarger CJ, Schmidt RW. Mammary neoplasia after in vitro x-irradiation of mammary tissue. Nature 1968; 218:192-3.
- Shellabarger CJ. Induction of mammary neoplasia after in vitro exposure to x-rays. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1971; 136:1103-6.
- Shellabarger CJ. Mammary neoplastic response of Lewis and Sprague-Dawley female rats to 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene or x-ray. Cancer Res 1972; 32:883-5.
- Shellabarger CJ, Stone JP, Holtzman S. Synergism between neutron radiation and diethylstilbestrol in the production of mammary adenocarcinomas in the rat. Cancer Res 1976; 36:1019-22.
- Shellabarger CJ, Stone JP, Holtzman S. Rat differences in mammary tumor induction with estrogen and neutron radiation. J Natl Cancer Inst 1978; 61:1505-8.
- Shellabarger CJ, Stone JP, Holtzman S. Effect of interval between neutron radiation and diethylstilbestrol on mammary carcinogenesis in female ACI rats. Environ Health Perspect 1983; 50:227-32.
- Shen MR, Jones IM, Mohrenweiser H. Nonconservative amino acid substitution variants exist at polymorphic frequency in DNA repair genes in healthy humans. Cancer Res 1998; 58:604-8.
- Shen L, Toyota M, Kondo Y, Lin E, Zhang L, Guo Y, Hernandez NS, Chen X, Ahmed S, Konishi K, Hamilton SR, Issa JP. Integrated genetic and epigenetic analysis identifies three different subclasses of colon cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104:18654-9.
- Shepel LA, Gould MN. The genetic components of susceptibility to breast cancer in the rat. Prog Exp Tumor Res 1999; 35:158-69.

- Shetty S, Graham BA, Brown JG, Hu X, Vegh-Yarema N, Harding G, Paul JT, Gibson SB. Transcription factor NF-kappaB differentially regulates death receptor 5 expression involving histone deacetylase 1. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:5404-16.
- Shilkaitis A, Green A, Steele V, Lubet R, Kelloff G, Christov K. Neoplastic transformation of mammary epithelial cells in rats is associated with decreased apoptotic cell death. Carcinogenesis 2000; 21:227-33.
- Shin I, Kim S, Song H, Kim HR, Moon A. H-Ras-specific activation of Rac-MKK3/6p38 pathway: its critical role in invasion and migration of breast epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:14675-83.
- Shull JD, Spady TJ, Snyder MC, Johansson SL, Pennington KL. Ovary-intact, but not ovariectomised female ACI rats treated with 17beta-estradiol rapidly develop mammary carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 1997, 18: 1595-1601.
- Shull JD, Pennington KL, Reindl TM, Snyder MC, Strecker TE, Spady TJ, Tochacek M, McComb RD. Susceptibility to estrogen-induced mammary cancer segregates as an incompletely dominant phenotype in reciprocal crosses between the ACI and Copenhagen rat strains. Endocrinology 2001; 142:5124-30.
- Shull JD. The rat oncogenome: comparative genetics and genomics of rat models of mammary carcinogenesis. Breast Dis 2007; 28:69-86.
- Simpson ER. Biology of aromatase in the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2000; 5:251-8.
- Simpson ER. Sources of estrogen and their importance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2003; 86:225-30.
- Simpson PT, Reis-Filho JS, Gale T, Lakhani SR. Molecular evolution of breast cancer. J Pathol 2005; 205:248-54.
- Singer-Sam J, Riggs AD. X chromosome inactivation and DNA methylation. EXS 1993; 64:358-84.
- Singh B, Arrand JE, Joiner MC. Hypersensitive response of normal human lung epithelial cells at low radiation doses. Int J Radiat Biol 1994; 65:457-64.
- Singh S, Zahid M, Saeed M, Gaikwad NW, Meza JL, Cavalieri EL, Rogan EG, Chakravarti D. NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 Arg139Trp and Pro187Ser polymorphisms imbalance estrogen metabolism towards DNA adduct formation in human mammary epithelial cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2009; 117:56-66.
- Sivaraman VS, Wang H, Nuovo GJ, Malbon CC. Hyperexpression of mitogen-activated protein kinase in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:1478-83.
- Smith SS. Stalling of DNA methyltransferase in chromosome stability and chromosome remodelling. Int J Mol Med 1998; 1:147-56.
- Smith TR, Levine EA, Freimanis RI, Akman SA, Allen GO, Hoang KN, Liu-Mares W, Hu JJ. Polygenic model of DNA repair genetic polymorphisms in human breast cancer risk. Carcinogenesis 2008; 29:2132-8.
- Sobel RE, Cook RG, Perry CA, Annunziato AT, Allis CD. Conservation of depositionrelated acetylation sites in newly synthesized histones H3 and H4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92:1237-41.
- Song RX, McPherson RA, Adam L, Bao Y, Shupnik M, Kumar R, Santen RJ. Linkage of rapid estrogen action to MAPK activation by ERalpha-Shc association and Shc pathway activation. Mol Endocrinol 2002; 16:116-27.

- Sparago A, Russo S, Cerrato F, Ferraiuolo S, Castorina P, Selicorni A, Schwienbacher C, Negrini M, Ferrero GB, Silengo MC, Anichini C, Larizza L, Riccio A. Mechanisms causing imprinting defects in familial Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome with Wilms' tumour. Hum Mol Genet 2007; 16:254-64.
- Starlard-Davenport A, Tryndyak VP, James SR, Karpf AR, Latendresse JR, Beland FA, et al. Mechanisms of epigenetic silencing of the Rassf1a gene during estrogeninduced breast carcinogenesis in ACI rats. Carcinogenesis 2010, (in press).
- Statistics Canada. Canadian cancer statistics. Toronto: Canadian Cancer Society, 2009.
- Steel GG, Peckham MJ. Exploitable mechanisms in combined radiotherapychemotherapy: the concept of additivity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1979; 5:85-

91.

- Stewart MD, Li J, Wong J. Relationship between histone H3 lysine 9 methylation, transcription repression, and heterochromatin protein 1 recruitment. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:2525-38.
- Storer JB, Mitchell TJ, Fry RJ. Extrapolation of the relative risk of radiogenic neoplasms across mouse strains and to man. Radiat Res 1988; 114:331-53.
- Storm HH, Andersson M, Boice JD, Jr., Blettner M, Stovall M, Mouridsen HT, Dombernowsky P, Rose C, Jacobsen A, Pedersen M. Adjuvant radiotherapy and risk of contralateral breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992; 84:1245-50.
- Strahl BD, Allis CD. The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 2000; 403:41-5.
- Stearns V, Zhou Q, Davidson NE. Epigenetic regulation as a new target for breast cancer therapy. Cancer Invest 2007; 25:659-65.
- Streffer C, Muller WU. Dose-effect relationships and general mechanisms of combined exposures. Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med 1987; 51:961-9.
- Stumpel DJ, Schneider P, van Roon EH, Boer JM, de Lorenzo P, Valsecchi MG, de Menezes RX, Pieters R, Stam RW. Specific promoter methylation identifies different subgroups of MLL-rearranged infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia, influences clinical outcome, and provides therapeutic options. Blood 2009; 114:5490-8.
- Subramanian A, Salhab M, Mokbel K. Oestrogen producing enzymes and mammary carcinogenesis: a review. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2008; 111:191-202.
- Surani MA, Sasaki H, Ferguson-Smith AC, Allen ND, Barton SC, Jones PA, Reik W. The inheritance of germline-specific epigenetic modifications during development. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1993; 339:165-72.
- Szpirer C, Szpirer J. Mammary cancer susceptibility: human genes and rodent models. Mamm Genome 2007; 18:817-31.
- Szyf M. The DNA methylation machinery as a therapeutic target. Curr Drug Targets 2000; 1:101-18.
- Szyf M. Targeting DNA methylation in cancer. Ageing Res Rev 2003; 2:299-328.
- Szyf M, Pakneshan P, Rabbani SA. DNA methylation and breast cancer. Biochem Pharmacol 2004; 68:1187-97.
- Tagesson C, Kallberg M, Klintenberg C, Starkhammar H. Determination of urinary 8hydroxydeoxyguanosine by automated coupled-column high performance liquid chromatography: a powerful technique for assaying in vivo oxidative DNA damage in cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 1995; 31A:934-40.

- Taipale M, Rea S, Richter K, Vilar A, Lichter P, Imhof A, Akhtar A. hMOF histone acetyltransferase is required for histone H4 lysine 16 acetylation in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:6798-810.
- Takai D, Jones PA. Comprehensive analysis of CpG islands in human chromosomes 21 and 22. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99:3740-5.
- Tamm I, Schriever F, Dorken B. Apoptosis: implications of basic research for clinical oncology. Lancet Oncol 2001; 2:33-42.
- Tatematsu M, Nagamine Y, Farber E. Redifferentiation as a basis for remodeling of carcinogen-induced hepatocyte nodules to normal appearing liver. Cancer Res 1983; 43:5049-58.
- Tavtigian SV, Simard J, Rommens J, Couch F, Shattuck-Eidens D, Neuhausen S, Merajver S, Thorlacius S, Offit K, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Belanger C, Bell R, Berry S, Bogden R, Chen Q, Davis T, Dumont M, Frye C, Hattier T, Jammulapati S, Janecki T, Jiang P, Kehrer R, Leblanc JF, Mitchell JT, McArthur-Morrison J, Nguyen K, Peng Y, Samson C, Schroeder M, Snyder SC, Steele L, Stringfellow M, Stroup C, Swedlund B, Swense J, Teng D, Thomas A, Tran T, Tranchant M, Weaver-Feldhaus J, Wong AK, Shizuya H, Eyfjord JE, Cannon-Albright L, Labrie F, Skolnick MH, Weber B, Kamb A, Goldgar DE. The complete BRCA2 gene and mutations in chromosome 13q-linked kindreds. Nat Genet 1996; 12:333-7.
- Tchatchou S, Wirtenberger M, Hemminki K, Sutter C, Meindl A, Wappenschmidt B, Kiechle M, Bugert P, Schmutzler RK, Bartram CR, Burwinkel B. Aurora kinases A and B and familial breast cancer risk. Cancer Lett 2007; 247:266-72.
- Telang NT, Suto A, Wong GY, Osborne MP, Bradlow HL. Induction by estrogen metabolite 16 alpha-hydroxyestrone of genotoxic damage and aberrant proliferation in mouse mammary epithelial cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992; 84:634-8.
- Terada Y. Aurora-B/AIM-1 regulates the dynamic behavior of HP1alpha at the G2-M transition. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:3232-41.
- Terasaka S, Aita Y, Inoue A, Hayashi S, Nishigaki M, Aoyagi K, Sasaki H, Wada-Kiyama Y, Sakuma Y, Akaba S, Tanaka J, Sone H, Yonemoto J, Tanji M, Kiyama R. Using a customized DNA microarray for expression profiling of the estrogen-responsive genes to evaluate estrogen activity among natural estrogens and industrial chemicals. Environ Health Perspect 2004; 112:773-81.
- Teschendorff AE, Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, Ramus SJ, Gayther SA, Apostolidou S, Jones A, Lechner M, Beck S, Jacobs IJ, Widschwendter M. An epigenetic signature in peripheral blood predicts active ovarian cancer. PLoS One 2009; 4:e8274.
- Thompson DE, Mabuchi K, Ron E, Soda M, Tokunaga M, Ochikubo S, Sugimoto S, Ikeda T, Terasaki M, Izumi S, et al. Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part II: Solid tumors, 1958-1987. Radiat Res 1994; 137:S17-67.
- Thomson S, Mahadevan LC, Clayton AL. MAP kinase-mediated signalling to nucleosomes and immediate-early gene induction. Semin Cell Dev Biol 1999; 10:205-14.
- Thompson HJ, Singh M. Rat models of premalignant breast disease. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2000; 5:409-20.

- Todorovic R, Devanesan P, Higginbotham S, Zhao J, Gross ML, Rogan EG, Cavalieri EL. Analysis of potential biomarkers of estrogen-initiated cancer in the urine of Syrian golden hamsters treated with 4-hydroxyestradiol. Carcinogenesis 2001; 22:905-11.
- Toledo F, Wahl GM. Regulating the p53 pathway: in vitro hypotheses, in vivo veritas. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6:909-23.
- Tomatis L. The predictive value of rodent carcinogenicity tests in the evaluation of human risks. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1979; 19:511-30.
- Tonini T, Bagella L, D'Andrilli G, Claudio PP, Giordano A. Ezh2 reduces the ability of HDAC1-dependent pRb2/p130 transcriptional repression of cyclin A. Oncogene 2004; 23:4930-7.
- Torii S, Yamamoto T, Tsuchiya Y, Nishida E. ERK MAP kinase in G cell cycle progression and cancer. Cancer Sci 2006; 97:697-702.
- Tryndyak VP, Kovalchuk O, Pogribny IP. Loss of DNA methylation and histone H4 lysine 20 trimethylation in human breast cancer cells is associated with aberrant expression of DNA methyltransferase 1, Suv4-20h2 histone methyltransferase and methyl-binding proteins. Cancer Biol Ther 2006; 5:65-70.
- Turan VK, Sanchez RI, Li JJ, Li SA, Reuhl KR, Thomas PE, Conney AH, Gallo MA, Kauffman FC, Mesia-Vela S. The effects of steroidal estrogens in ACI rat mammary carcinogenesis: 17beta-estradiol, 2-hydroxyestradiol, 4hydroxyestradiol, 16alpha-hydroxyestradiol, and 4-hydroxyestrone. J Endocrinol 2004; 183:91-9.
- Turk PW, Laayoun A, Smith SS, Weitzman SA. DNA adduct 8-hydroxyl-2'deoxyguanosine (8-hydroxyguanine) affects function of human DNA methyltransferase. Carcinogenesis 1995; 16:1253-5.
- Turker MS, Bestor TH. Formation of methylation patterns in the mammalian genome. Mutat Res 1997; 386:119-30.
- Ullrich RL, Bowles ND, Satterfield LC, Davis CM. Strain-dependent susceptibility to radiation-induced mammary cancer is a result of differences in epithelial cell sensitivity to transformation. Radiat Res 1996; 146:353-5.
- Ullrich RL, Ponnaiya B. Radiation-induced instability and its relation to radiation carcinogenesis. Int J Radiat Biol 1998; 74:747-54.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Tenth Report on Carcinogens. Carcinogens listed in the tenth report: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002:1-955.
- Valinluck V, Sowers LC. Endogenous cytosine damage products alter the site selectivity of human DNA maintenance methyltransferase DNMT1. Cancer Res 2007; 67:946-50.
- van Delft FW, Bellotti T, Luo Z, Jones LK, Patel N, Yiannikouris O, Hill AS, Hubank M, Kempski H, Fletcher D, Chaplin T, Foot N, Young BD, Hann IM, Gammerman A, Saha V. Prospective gene expression analysis accurately subtypes acute leukaemia in children and establishes a commonality between hyperdiploidy and t(12;21) in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2005; 130:26-35.
- Van Den Broeck A, Brambilla E, Moro-Sibilot D, Lantuejoul S, Brambilla C, Eymin B, Khochbin S, Gazzeri S. Loss of histone H4K20 trimethylation occurs in

preneoplasia and influences prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2008; 14:7237-45.

- van der Vlag J, Otte AP. Transcriptional repression mediated by the human polycombgroup protein EED involves histone deacetylation. Nat Genet 1999; 23:474-8.
- van Landeghem AA, Poortman J, Nabuurs M, Thijssen JH. Endogenous concentration and subcellular distribution of estrogens in normal and malignant human breast tissue. Cancer Res 1985; 45:2900-6.
- Van Lanschot JJ, Ceha HM, Bakker PJ. Surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy for esophageal cancer. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 1999; 15:370-6.
- Veeck, J., Esteller, M. Breast cancer epigenetics: from DNA methylation to microRNAs. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2010, 15: 5-17.
- Verhoeff FH, Bell L. The Alleged Dangers to the Eye from Ultra-Violet Radiation. Science 1914; 40:452-5.
- Vire E, Brenner C, Deplus R, Blanchon L, Fraga M, Didelot C, Morey L, Van Eynde A, Bernard D, Vanderwinden JM, Bollen M, Esteller M, Di Croce L, de Launoit Y, Fuks F. The Polycomb group protein EZH2 directly controls DNA methylation. Nature 2006; 439:871-4.
- Walsh T, King MC. Ten genes for inherited breast cancer. Cancer Cell 2007; 11:103-5.
- Wan XS, Ware JH, Zhou Z, Donahue JJ, Guan J, Kennedy AR. Protection against radiation-induced oxidative stress in cultured human epithelial cells by treatment with antioxidant agents. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006; 64:1475-81.
- Wang C, Fu M, Mani S, Wadler S, Senderowicz AM, Pestell RG. Histone acetylation and the cell-cycle in cancer. Front Biosci 2001; 6:D610-29.
- Wang CL, Landry J, Sternglanz R. A yeast sir2 mutant temperature sensitive for silencing. Genetics 2008; 180:1955-62.
- Wang H, Dymock BW. New patented histone deacetylase inhibitors. Expert Opin Ther Pat 2009; 19:1727-57.
- Ward JF. DNA damage produced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells: identities, mechanisms of formation, and reparability. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 1988; 35:95-125.
- Warren SL, Whipple GH. Roentgen Ray Intoxication : Iv. Intestinal Lesions and Acute Intoxication Produced by Radiation in a Variety of Animals. J Exp Med 1923; 38:741-52.
- Warren S, Brown CE. Mammary and other tumors as a response to radiation and multiple stresses. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1978; 102:224-6.
- Warri AM, Saarinen NM, Makela SI. Can modulation of mammary gland development by dietary factors support breast cancer prevention? Horm Res 2007; 68:248-60.
- Watanabe H, Okamoto T, Matsuda M, Takahashi T, Ogundigie PO, Ito A. Effects of sex hormones on induction of intestinal metaplasia by X-irradiation in rats. Acta Pathol Jpn 1993; 43:456-63.
- Weber M, Hellmann I, Stadler MB, Ramos L, Paabo S, Rebhan M, Schubeler D. Distribution, silencing potential and evolutionary impact of promoter DNA methylation in the human genome. Nat Genet 2007; 39:457-66.
- Weber M, Schubeler D. Genomic patterns of DNA methylation: targets and function of an epigenetic mark. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2007; 19:273-80.

- Wei Y, Xia W, Zhang Z, Liu J, Wang H, Adsay NV, Albarracin C, Yu D, Abbruzzese JL, Mills GB, Bast RC, Jr., Hortobagyi GN, Hung MC. Loss of trimethylation at lysine 27 of histone H3 is a predictor of poor outcome in breast, ovarian, and pancreatic cancers. Mol Carcinog 2008; 47:701-6.
- Weidman JR, Dolinoy DC, Murphy SK, Jirtle RL. Cancer susceptibility: epigenetic manifestation of environmental exposures. Cancer J 2007; 13:9-16.
- Weitzman SA, Turk PW, Milkowski DH, Kozlowski K. Free radical adducts induce alterations in DNA cytosine methylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91:1261-4.
- Welch DR. Do we need to redefine a cancer metastasis and staging definitions? Breast Dis 2006; 26:3-12.
- Welsch CW, Goodrich-Smith M, Brown CK, Miglorie N, Clifton KH. Effect of an estrogen antagonist (tamoxifen) on the initiation and progression of gammairradiation-induced mammary tumors in female Sprague-Dawley rats. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 1981; 17:1255-8.
- Weroha SJ, Li SA, Tawfik O, Li JJ. Overexpression of cyclins D1 and D3 during estrogen-induced breast oncogenesis in female ACI rats. Carcinogenesis 2006; 27:491-8.
- Weyandt J, Ellsworth RE, Hooke JA, Shriver CD, Ellsworth DL. Environmental chemicals and breast cancer risk a structural chemistry perspective. Curr Med Chem 2008; 15:2680-2701.
- Widschwendter M, Jones PA. DNA methylation and breast carcinogenesis. Oncogene 2002; 21:5462-82.
- Wilkins JF. Genomic imprinting and methylation: epigenetic canalization and conflict. Trends Genet 2005; 21:356-65.
- Willett WC, Rockhill B, Hankinson SE, eds. Epidemiology and nongenetic causes of breast cancer Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2000.
- Wilson AG. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression in the inflammatory response and relevance to common diseases. J Periodontol 2008; 79:1514-9.
- Woloschak GE, Chang-Liu CM. Differential modulation of specific gene expression following high- and low-LET radiations. Radiat Res 1990; 124:183-7.
- Wong RK, Malthaner RA, Zuraw L, Rumble RB. Combined modality radiotherapy and chemotherapy in nonsurgical management of localized carcinoma of the esophagus: a practice guideline. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003; 55:930-42.
- Wooster R, Bignell G, Lancaster J, Swift S, Seal S, Mangion J, Collins N, Gregory S, Gumbs C, Micklem G. Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2. Nature 1995; 378:789-92.
- World Health Organization. World health report. 2003.
- Wouters BG, Skarsgard LD. The response of a human tumor cell line to low radiation doses: evidence of enhanced sensitivity. Radiat Res 1994; 138:S76-80.
- Wu J, Issa JP, Herman J, Bassett DE, Jr., Nelkin BD, Baylin SB. Expression of an exogenous eukaryotic DNA methyltransferase gene induces transformation of NIH 3T3 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90:8891-5.
- Yager JD. Endogenous estrogens as carcinogens through metabolic activation. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2000:67-73.

- Yager JD, Davidson NE. Estrogen carcinogenesis in breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2006; 354:270-82.
- Yang X, Ferguson AT, Nass SJ, Phillips DL, Butash KA, Wang SM, Herman JG, Davidson NE. Transcriptional activation of estrogen receptor alpha in human breast cancer cells by histone deacetylase inhibition. Cancer Res 2000; 60:6890-4.
- Yang X, Phillips DL, Ferguson AT, Nelson WG, Herman JG, Davidson NE. Synergistic activation of functional estrogen receptor (ER)-alpha by DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibition in human ER-alpha-negative breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 2001; 61:7025-9.
- Yates DR, Rehman I, Abbod MF, Meuth M, Cross SS, Linkens DA, Hamdy FC, Catto JW. Promoter hypermethylation identifies progression risk in bladder cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13:2046-53.
- Ye Y, Qiu TH, Kavanaugh C, Green JE. Molecular mechanisms of breast cancer progression: lessons from mouse mammary cancer models and gene expression profiling. Breast Dis 2004; 19:69-82.
- Yeoh EJ, Ross ME, Shurtleff SA, Williams WK, Patel D, Mahfouz R, Behm FG, Raimondi SC, Relling MV, Patel A, Cheng C, Campana D, Wilkins D, Zhou X, Li J, Liu H, Pui CH, Evans WE, Naeve C, Wong L, Downing JR. Classification, subtype discovery, and prediction of outcome in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia by gene expression profiling. Cancer Cell 2002; 1:133-43.
- Yoder JA, Walsh CP, Bestor TH. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet 1997; 13:335-40.
- Yoo CB, Cheng JC, Jones PA. Zebularine: a new drug for epigenetic therapy. Biochem Soc Trans 2004; 32:910-2.
- Yoshidome K, Shibata MA, Couldrey C, Korach KS, Green JE. Estrogen promotes mammary tumor development in C3(1)/SV40 large T-antigen transgenic mice: paradoxical loss of estrogen receptoralpha expression during tumor progression. Cancer Res 2000; 60:6901-10.
- Yu D, Hung MC. Overexpression of ErbB2 in cancer and ErbB2-targeting strategies. Oncogene 2000; 19:6115-21.
- Yue W, Santen RJ, Wang JP, Li Y, Verderame MF, Bocchinfuso WP, Korach KS, Devanesan P, Todorovic R, Rogan EG, Cavalieri EL. Genotoxic metabolites of estradiol in breast: potential mechanism of estradiol induced carcinogenesis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2003; 86:477-86.
- Zeng W, de Greef JC, Chen YY, Chien R, Kong X, Gregson HC, Winokur ST, Pyle A, Robertson KD, Schmiesing JA, Kimonis VE, Balog J, Frants RR, Ball AR, Jr., Lock LF, Donovan PJ, van der Maarel SM, Yokomori K. Specific loss of histone H3 lysine 9 trimethylation and HP1gamma/cohesin binding at D4Z4 repeats is associated with facioscapulohumeral dystrophy (FSHD). PLoS Genet 2009; 5:e1000559.
- Zhang Y, Shields T, Crenshaw T, Hao Y, Moulton T, Tycko B. Imprinting of human H19: allele-specific CpG methylation, loss of the active allele in Wilms tumor, and potential for somatic allele switching. Am J Hum Genet 1993; 53:113-24.
- Zhang F, Swanson SM, van Breemen RB, Liu X, Yang Y, Gu C, Bolton JL. Equine estrogen metabolite 4-hydroxyequilenin induces DNA damage in the rat

mammary tissues: formation of single-strand breaks, apurinic sites, stable adducts, and oxidized bases. Chem Res Toxicol 2001; 14:1654-9.

- Zhang Y, Gaikwad NW, Olson K, Zahid M, Cavalieri EL, Rogan EG. Cytochrome P450 isoforms catalyze formation of catechol estrogen quinones that react with DNA. Metabolism 2007; 56:887-94.
- Zhong SP, Ma WY, Dong Z. ERKs and p38 kinases mediate ultraviolet B-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:20980-4.
- Zhu BT, Conney AH. Is 2-methoxyestradiol an endogenous estrogen metabolite that inhibits mammary carcinogenesis? Cancer Res 1998; 58:2269-77.
- Zhu BT, Han GZ, Shim JY, Wen Y, Jiang XR. Quantitative structure-activity relationship of various endogenous estrogen metabolites for human estrogen receptor alpha and beta subtypes: Insights into the structural determinants favoring a differential subtype binding. Endocrinology 2006; 147:4132-50.
- Zhu J, Yao X. Use of DNA methylation for cancer detection: promises and challenges. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2009; 41:147-54.